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Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statements
This Annual Report has been prepared for the members of the Company and no one else. The Company, it’s Directors or agents
do not accept or assume responsibility to any other person in connection with this document and any such responsibility or liability
is expressly disclaimed.

This Annual Report contains certain forward-looking statements with respect to the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Company. By their nature, these statements and forecasts involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to events and depend
on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. There are a number of factors that could cause actual results or
developments to differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements and forecasts. The
forward-looking statements reflect the knowledge and information available at the date of preparation of this Annual Report and
will not be updated during the year. Nothing in this Annual Report should be construed as a profit forecast. 
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The objective of TR Property Investment Trust plc (“the Company”)
is to maximise shareholders’ total returns by investment in the
property sector.
The trust offers investors two share classes:

Ordinary shares – a portfolio invested in the shares of property companies of all
sizes on an international basis and also in investment property located in the UK.

Sigma shares – a portfolio invested in the shares of smaller property companies on
an international basis. The Sigma share class does not hold property directly.

Introduction The Investment Trust has been in existence since 1905 and a dedicated property

investor through the Ordinary share class, since 1982.

In July 2007 a second share class, the Sigma share class, was introduced. This was

created mainly through the conversion of some of the existing Ordinary shares into

Sigma shares. Each share class has a dedicated portfolio and is able to pursue

independent investment and gearing strategies. However, they are share classes of one

corporate entity with a single Independent Board of Directors.

The Report & Accounts contain the group financial statements and as supplementary

information separate income statements and balance sheets for each share class. There

is a separate Manager’s Report for each share class. The pages in the accounts have

been marked at the side of the page to highlight whether they refer specifically to one or

other of the share classes or to the group as a whole.

The following four pages set out the objective and investment policies for each share

class and key financial and performance data. The Manager’s Report for each share class

comments on how the actual investment activity through the period has followed the

proposed policies and the resulting performance.

Benchmark The Benchmark for both share classes is the FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Europe Index in

Sterling. This index, calculated by FTSE, is free-float based and currently has 95

constituent companies. The Benchmark website www.epra.com contains further details

about the index and performance.

Independent The directors are all independent of the management company and meet regularly to

Board consider investment strategy, to monitor adherence to the stated objective and

investment policies (set out on the following pages) and to review performance. Details

of how the board operates and fulfills its responsibilities are set out in the Directors

Report on pages 44 to 56.

Further General shareholder information and details of how to invest in TR Property Investment 

Information Trust plc, including investment through an ISA or shareplan, can be found on page 95

and the inside back cover. This information can also be found on the Company’s website

www.trproperty.co.uk. 

Overview
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Objective The objective of the Ordinary share class is to maximise shareholders’ total returns by

investing in property shares and property on an international basis.

Investment Although the Investment Objective allows for investment on an international basis, the

Policies benchmark is a Pan-European Index and the majority of the investments will be located

in that geographical area. Direct property investments will be located in the UK only. The

Fund Manager currently applies the following guidelines for asset allocation:

UK listed equities 35 – 55%

European listed equities 35 – 55%

Other listed equities 0 – 5%

Direct property – UK 10 – 30%

The investment selection process seeks to identify well managed companies of all sizes,

especially those with a focus on a particular type of real estate business. The Manager

generally regards future growth and capital appreciation potential more highly than

immediate initial yield or discount to asset value.

As a dedicated investor in the property sector the fund cannot offer diversification

outside that sector, however within the portfolio there are limitations on the size of

individual investments held to ensure diversification within the portfolio. 

To deliver a spread of investment risk, the maximum holding in the stock of any one issuer

or of a single asset is limited to 15% of the portfolio. In addition, any holdings in excess of

5% of the portfolio must not in aggregate exceed 40% of the portfolio. These limits are set

at the point of acquisition, however if they were materially exceeded for a significant length

of time through market movements, the Manager would seek to remedy the position.

Gearing The fund may utilise gearing with the purpose of enhancing shareholder returns. The

maximum gearing level permitted is 40%, however, the current guideline is 10% net cash

to 25% gearing.

The Trust invests in the shares of property companies which themselves employ leverage.

The total level of gearing the Trust is exposed to through the balance sheets of investee

companies together with the borrowings of the Trust itself is referred to as the “see-

through” gearing. The Manager comments on the level of see-through gearing in the

Manager’s Report.

Capital Over ten years up to the end of March 2008, the share price has risen by

Growth 290% from 48.25p to 188.25p and the net asset value has risen by 303% from 54.44p

to 219.61p. Over the same period the benchmark price only index has risen by 102%.

Statement of Investment Objective and Policy
Ordinary Shares
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Income Over the past ten years the annual net dividend per share has grown by

Growth five times, equivalent to 17.5% pa compound.

Dividend An interim dividend of 2.30p (2007: 1.70p) per Ordinary share was paid on 9 January

2008 to shareholders on the register on 7 December 2007.

Subject to shareholder approval at the Annual General Meeting on 29 July 2008, a

final dividend of 3.30p per Ordinary share (2007: 2.40p) has been declared

payable on 5 August 2008 to shareholders on the register on 4 July 2008.  The

shares will be quoted ex-dividend on 2 July 2008.

Sigma Shares

Objective The objective of the Sigma share class is to maximise shareholders’ total returns by

investing predominantly in the shares of property companies with a market capitalisation

of less than £1 billion on an international basis.

Investment Although the Investment Objective allows for investment on an international basis, the

Policies benchmark is a Pan-European Index and the majority of the investments will be located

in that geographical area. The Fund Manager currently applies the following guidelines

for asset allocation:

UK listed equities 35 – 60%

European listed equities 35 – 60%

Other listed equities 0 – 10%

Unquoted investments 0 – 5%

The investment selection process seeks to identify well managed smaller property

companies, especially those with a focus on a particular type of real estate business. The

Manager generally regards future growth and capital appreciation potential more highly

than immediate initial yield or discount to asset value.
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Sigma Shares continued

As a dedicated investor in the property sector the fund cannot offer diversification

outside that sector, however within the portfolio there are limitations on the size of

individual investments held to ensure diversification within the portfolio. 

To deliver a spread of investment risk, the maximum holding in the stock of any one

issuer or of a single asset is limited to 15% of the portfolio. In addition, any holdings in

excess of 5% of the portfolio must not in aggregate exceed 40% of the portfolio. These

limits are set at the point of acquisition, however if they were materially exceeded for a

significant length of time through market movements, the Manager would seek to remedy

the position.

Gearing The fund may utilise gearing with the purpose of enhancing shareholder returns. The

maximum gearing level permitted is 40%, however, the current guideline is 10% net cash

to 25% gearing.

The Trust invests in the shares of property companies which themselves are subject to

gearing. The total level of gearing the Trust is exposed to through the balance sheets of

investee companies together with the borrowings of the Trust itself is referred to as the

“see-through” gearing. The Manager comments on the level of see-through gearing in the

Manager’s Report.

Capital Since launch in July 2007, the share price has fallen by 13.4% from 106.25p to 92.00p 

Growth and the net asset value has fallen by 11.6% from 122.85p to 108.64p. Over the same

period the benchmark price only index has fallen by 11.51%.

Dividend Due to its focus on smaller market capitalisation companies, some of which are

development companies, the dividend yield of Sigma shares is likely to be lower than that

of the Ordinary shares. In addition, the dividend is also likely to be more volatile. 

A special dividend of 1.10p per Sigma share was paid on 12 October 2007 to

shareholders on the register at 5 October 2007. The special dividend arose as a result of

accrued earnings included in the Calculation Date NAV for the Conversion of Ordinary

shares into Sigma shares on creation of the Sigma share class. The special dividend was

a non-recurring payment.

An interim dividend of 0.20p per Sigma share was paid on 9 January 2008 to

shareholders on the register on 7 December 2007. 

Subject to shareholder approval at the AGM on 29 July 2008, a final dividend of

0.65p per Sigma share has been declared payable on 5 August 2008 to

shareholders on the register on 4 July 2008. The shares will be quoted ex-

dividend on 2 July 2008.
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Financial Highlights and Performance

Ordinary Shares
Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March %
Revenue 2008 2007 Change

Revenue earnings per Ordinary share 5.79p 4.09p +41.6

Net dividend per Ordinary share 5.60p 4.10p +36.6

At At
31 March 31 March %

Balance Sheet 2008 2007 Change

Net asset value per share 219.61p 290.78p -24.5

Share price 188.25p 256.50p -26.6

Gearing 0% 9%

Shareholders’ funds (£’000) 567,899 972,944 -41.6

Shares in issue at end of period (m) 258.6 334.6 -22.7

Note: At 24 July 2007 19.0% of the Ordinary share capital (and corresponding assets and liabilities) converted to
Sigma shares.

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

Performance 2008 2007

Benchmark performance (total return) -23.0% +27.5% +26.3%

NAV total return -22.9% +31.8% -2.7%

Share price total return -24.8% +24.4% -2.7%

Sigma Shares
Period ended

31 March
Revenue 2008

Revenue earnings per Sigma share 0.85p
Net dividend per Sigma share 0.85p
Net special dividend per Sigma share 1.10p

At inception
At 24 July

31 March 2007 %
Balance Sheet 2008 (Unaudited) Change

Net asset value per share 108.64p 122.85p -11.6

Share price 92.00p 106.25p -13.4

Gearing 0% 3%

Shareholders’ funds (£’000) 138,710 161,914 -14.3

Shares in issue at end of period (m) 127.7 131.8 -3.1

Note: 24 July share price at close.

Period ended
31 March

Performance 2008

Benchmark performance (total return) -10.1%
NAV total return -10.5%
Share price total return -12.2%
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Historical Performance for years ended 31 March

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005† 2006† 2007† 2008†

(Restated)

Gross revenue~

(£’000) 12,868 15,182 12,693 13,307 13,751 16,676 16,247 – – – –

Total income#

(£’000) – – – – – – – 19,741 23,143 26,226 32,160

Total assets less

current liabilities 

(£’m) 308.9 292.5 305.8 382.7 382.7 344.3 440.9 544.7 813.6 1,017.0 725.3

Shareholders’ funds (£’m)

Total 262 249 266 343 342 304 401 505 771 973 707

Ordinary shares 262 249 266 343 342 304 401 505 771 973 568

Sigma shares – – – – – – – – – – 139

Net revenue

(per share)

Earnings – Ords 1.34 1.97 1.41 1.58 1.86 2.30 2.51 2.85 3.44 4.09 5.79

Earnings – Sigma – – – – – – – – – – 0.85

Dividends – Ords 1.12 1.27 1.32 1.40 1.65 2.05 2.50 2.85 3.40 4.10 5.60

Dividends – Sigma – – – – – – – – – – 1.95***

NAV per share

Ords 54.4* 52.0* 56.5* 73.2* 78.1* 73.0 113.1 145.7 224.1 290.8 219.6

Sigma – – – – – – – – – – 108.6

Indices of growth

Per Ordinary share

Share price 100 90 94 121 134 122 197 266 434 532 390

Net Asset Value 100 96 104 134 143 134 208 268 412 535 404

Dividend Net 100 113 118 125 147 183 223 254 304 365 500

RPI 100 102 105 107 109 112 115 118 121 127 132

Benchmark** 100 79 75 94 95 86 122 152 218 271 202

~Gross revenue – is as set out in the Statement of Total Return prepared under UK GAAP.
#Total income – is as set out in the Group Income Statement prepared in accordance with IFRS.
*fully diluted for warrant conversion.

**a composite index comprising the FTSE Real Estate Index up to the end of September 2001, the S&P/Citigroup European Property Index thereafter up

to March 2007 and FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Europe Index thereafter. Source: Thames River Capital.
†Figures for 2006 onwards have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. Figures for 2005 have been restated in accordance with IFRS. All previous

figures were prepared under UK GAAP.

***Includes a special dividend of 1.10p.
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Chairman’s Statement

Peter Salsbury BSc Chairman
5 June 2008

T
H

E
 G

R
O

U
P

/
C

O
M

P
A

N
Y

Introduction 
It was a brute of a year for property shares. The gory details
are amplified in the managers’ statements, and the absolute
and relative performances are noted below. Since January
share values have been more stable and both share classes
saw modest increases in asset value in the final quarter of
our financial year. Our managers are maintaining a cautious
attitude and, for the first time in twenty years, the Trust is
holding modest levels of net cash. In contrast to the capital
value declines, revenue has been at record levels allowing
the Board to recommend a substantial increase in the full
year dividend for the Trust as a whole. 

Before diving into the detail, I think it is worth recording that
the recent fall in the share prices and asset values of the two
share classes come after a long period of exceptional growth.
In the seven years to March 2007 the simple appreciation in
the Ordinary share price was 5.7 times and even after the
decline of the last twelve months the Ordinary shares have
still risen 4.1 times since March 2000. 

Markets aside, the major event for the Trust was the creation
of the Sigma share class last July. When we set out the
proposals last April we little envisaged the trauma that would
occur last autumn due to the credit crisis. Sigma was
effectively born in a storm. Marcus Phayre-Mudge, the Sigma
manager had originally expected to switch the inherited
portfolio entirely into small cap shares in four months. Market
conditions and particularly the pricing differentials between
large and small stocks has resulted in the rotation of assets
being slower than anticipated. 

Shareholders will note that the length and layout of the
report and accounts has changed. This is due both to the
introduction of the Sigma share class and to
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Chairman’s Statement continued
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Ten Year Performance – (Price Only)

showed a price return of minus 27.4% and a total return of
minus 25.2%. So in relative performance terms, the
managers would have preferred to have stuck to their old last.

Sigma Shares
Over the eight month period from their introduction in July
2007 to the end of March 2008, the NAV declined by 11.6%
from 122.85p to 108.64p while the share price fell by 13.4%
from 106.25p to 92.00p. Over the same period the
benchmark index (which is the same as that for the Ordinary
shares) declined by 11.5%. Total returns were minus 10.5%
for the NAV, minus 12.2% for the share price and minus
10.1% for the benchmark. 

Revenue Results
The year saw an excellent increase in the Trust’s revenue. The
two share classes’ combined total income topped £32m, a
22.6% increase over the previous year. We benefited from
some exceptional dividend increases from our largest UK
share investments as these companies joined the UK REIT
regime and our net rental income rose by over 35% as we let
vacant space. Meanwhile repayment of all our bank debt
during the year resulted in borrowing costs dropping 34%;
and in addition the two share classes together had interest
receivable of over £1m. The £34m spent on share
repurchases meant that the larger pool of net revenue was
divided by fewer shares in both classes. 

recommendations made to the industry by the FSA. The first
four pages now carry details of the objectives and investment
policies of the two share classes. The Managers’ statement is
now divided into three sections. A general section covering
the market background and outlook starts on page 11. A
section specific to the Ordinary share class starts on page 15
and is followed by full details of the Ordinary share class
portfolio, revenue and balance sheet. The Manager’s
statement for the Sigma share class starts on page 29. The
report and accounts for the Group start on page 40. Pages
have been marked down the side to highlight whether they
refer to one specific share class or to the group as a whole. I
hope shareholders will find this convenient. 

NAV and Share Price Performance

Ordinary Shares 
Over the year to 31 March 2008, NAV declined by 24.5%
from 290.78p to 219.61p while the share price declined by
26.6% from 256.50p to 188.25p: over the same period the
benchmark, the FTSE EPRA/NAREIT European Property
Share Index, declined by 25.4%. Total returns were minus
22.9% for the NAV, minus 24.8% for the share price and
minus 23.0% for the benchmark. This is the tenth successive
year that the annual NAV total return has exceeded the
benchmark total return – albeit, this year, by a hair’s breadth.
As a postscript I should add that the benchmark used until
March 2007, the S&P Citigroup European Property Index
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Chairman’s Statement continued

the end of September the short-term bank debt had been
fully repaid in both share classes and there were cash
holdings of £11m in the Ordinary share class and £20m in
the Sigma share class. 

In the second half of the financial year cash has increased
in the Ordinary share class to £37m, some £5m greater
than the £32m of Debentures attributable to the share
class so net gearing level was minus 1%. In the Sigma
share class cash holdings declined to £14.6m in the
second half, leaving the net gearing level at minus 5%. The
larger Debenture of £25m at 8.125% is due for repayment
this coming November. The other £15m is not repayable
until 2016.

As in previous years the portfolios’ exposure to foreign
currencies was not hedged either at the asset or income
level. Over the financial year, and particularly since last
December, Sterling has weakened by around 13% against
the Euro and other European currencies giving rise to a
welcome increase in the value of our overseas assets and
dividend income. Since December a portion of the cash
balances of both share classes has been held in Euros. 

Discount and Share Repurchases
The Ordinary share discount to net asset value rose over the
year from 11.8% at March 2007 to 14.3% at March 2008.
In considerable part this rise reflected the general widening
of all UK property share and property investment company
discounts during the period. Over the year 14.1m Ordinary
shares were repurchased and cancelled for £30.58m – an
average total cost of 216.9p per share. Assets were sold to
cover these repurchases which were made at an average
discount of just under13%. The surplus generated to the
shareholders’ funds was £4.55m, equivalent to 1.75p per
share on the outstanding Ordinary share capital at the year
end. 

From the date of their introduction to the end of the financial
year Sigma shares traded at an average discount of 15.7%.
During the eight month period 4.1m Sigma shares (3.1% of
the outstanding capital) were repurchased from cash
resources for £3.51m – an average price including costs of
85.6p. The surplus generated to the shareholders’ funds was
£0.73m, equivalent to 0.57p per share. 

VAT on Management Fees
As a result of the decisions on two court cases over the last
year, management services supplied to investment trusts are
now exempt from UK VAT and the Company is able to seek
reimbursement of some of the VAT paid since 1990.

Ordinary Shares
The net revenue per ordinary share was 5.79p, an increase of
41.6% over the 4.09p reported in the previous year. This was
after some £2.2m of post tax revenue was passed to the
Sigma share class on its creation last July. 

Sigma Shares
The net revenue per ordinary share was 0.85p for the period
from 24 July 2007 to 31 March 2008. This is a good deal
higher than our managers’ forecast at the interim stage
because the switching of the portfolio from large companies
was delayed by market events resulting in greater dividend
income. 

Revenue Outlook
Our managers are advising the Board that, subject to
unforeseen circumstances, they expect that revenue per
share for the Ordinary share class will increase by 5% to
10% in the current financial year. The Sigma share class has
a portfolio reorganisation in progress and the manager’s more
tentative view is for revenue earnings of 1.2p in the current
year. These views assume an average Euro/Sterling rate of
75p to the Euro and no unexpected and widespread dividend
reductions or omissions amongst our investee companies. 

Dividends

Ordinary Shares
The Board is recommending to Ordinary shareholders a final
dividend of 3.3p for the year ending 31 March 2008, an
increase of 37.5% over the final dividend of 2.4p paid last
year. This, together with the interim dividend of 2.3p already
paid, will take the total payment for the year to 5.6p, a 36.6%
increase over the total of 4.1p paid last year. 

Sigma Shares
The Board is recommending to Sigma shareholders a final
dividend of 0.65p for the eight month period ending
31 March 2008. Sigma paid a special dividend of 1.1p last
October from the revenue it inherited at the time of its
creation, and then a modest interim dividend of 0.2p at the
turn of the year covering income in the two month period to
the end of September. 

Net Debt, Gearing and Currencies
Net borrowing was eliminated during the year in both share
classes. At 31 March 2007 the Trust had net debt of £91m –
£40m in Debentures repayable in 2008 and 2016 and
£51m of short term bank borrowings. Net gearing was 9%. In
July 2007, when the two share classes were formed, Sigma
inherited £8m of the Debentures and £3m of bank debt. By
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Chairman’s Statement continued

The Company has claimed for the reimbursement of VAT paid
from its current manager, Thames River Capital LLP and from
its former manager, Henderson Global Investors. The
managers have filed their respective claims with HMRC .

The amount to be recovered has not been definitively agreed
with the managers and HMRC has not issued specific
guidance as to how the claims will be effected so there is no
certainty as to the amount or timing of any recovery.
Accordingly, no asset has been recognised in these accounts,
but we anticipate a possible recovery in excess of £6 million
(see note 13 on page 77).

Alastair Ross Goobey
As many of you may be aware, Alastair Ross Goobey died
earlier this year after a long illness. He was a non executive
director of the Trust for ten years from 1994 and Chairman
of the Board between 2002 and 2004. On behalf of the
Board, the management team and the shareholders I should
like to pay tribute to him and all that he did for the Trust. He
combined a first class brain with enormously wide experience
of all financial affairs, an impish sense of humour and
complete transparency. He was a great friend of the Trust, an
excellent Chairman and colleague, and a very thoughtful
advisor to the management team. 

Awards and Personnel
During the year the Trust received the award for Best
Specialist Property Investment Company of 2007 from
Investment Week and won the accolade for the Best Report
and Accounts in the Specialist Investment Trust category at
the recent Association of Investment Companies accounts
awards. The team at Thames River Capital who manage the
Trust has expanded again this year with the arrival of
Christian Roos and Angelique Ello. Christian has joined to
manage the Thames River Longstone Fund (a property
hedge fund) and has wide experience of European and
Scandinavian property shares. Angelique is assisting Nicola
Williamson with investor relations and general administration. 

Outlook
The worst of the turmoil in credit markets may well have now
passed, but the lasting implications of recent events have yet
to be fully revealed. Recuperation in banking confidence
could be lengthy and the implications for property and other
asset pricing, which have already been considerable, are now
being seen in the wider economy, especially in the UK and
European housing markets. As an investment company
dedicated to property and property shares we have to guard

our capital and revenue as sensibly as possible, weighing the
potential of future uncertainty against the prospect of future
opportunities. For the present the balance sheets and
portfolio selections of both share classes reflect a preference
for solid cash flow and stocks with modest leverage. This
conservative approach aims to reduce downside risk, but
carries the risk of being slower to invest in upside
opportunities. Much has changed in the commercial property
market since the last bear market in the early 1990s and the
lessons of the past may not be wholly applicable to the
current scenario. 

On behalf of the Board, I thank the Fund Management team
for their hard work during a very volatile period. They have
applied their combined experience, skill and judgement to
good effect and we have every confidence that the Trust’s
assets are being managed by a first class team.

Peter Salsbury
Chairman
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Managers’ Report
Ordinary Share Class & Sigma Share Class

Market Background and Outlook

not reopened), and lenders started to widen margins and
reduce loan to value ratios. To add to the sense of unease, a
number of open-ended property funds had to close for
immediate redemptions and became, for a short period,
perceived as forced sellers of assets. 

The New Year brought a modest turnaround in sentiment.
Concerted action by Central Banks was welcomed, UK
house prices were stable, UK unemployment numbers were
still falling, retail sales had not crumbled, modest rental
growth was still foreseen and base rates were expected to
fall sharply during 2008. At lower price levels the property
investment market saw a rise in turnover with both domestic
and overseas buyers hunting bargains. Property fund
managers saw, and continue to see, inflows into vulture and
opportunist funds and the forced sellers found ready buyers
for some of their stock. 

We think Phase 3 started this March as it became clear that
the banking crisis has not been stamped out fast enough to
prevent a heightened level of caution in the banking industry
and a decline in economic activity. Unemployment claims are
rising, retail sales are slowing, financial services are expected
to see significant job cuts so rental values are going to be
under pressure. Though debt is still available, lenders have
tightened their terms again. Fortunately most of the existing
commercial property debt is lent against income producing
assets and, where loan to value ratios are breached, banks
show little or no sign of pressurising borrowers, at least for
the time being.

The UK IPD Annual Index derivative pricing has, for the last
four months, been pointing to an average decline in UK
commercial property values of about 14% in 2008 of which
5.5% has actually been reported in the period to the end of
April. If we use the derivative pricing as a guide then UK
commercial property values are likely to fall another 9% or so
by the end of 2008. Current pricing also indicates further,
more modest, weakness in 2009 with values recovering only
slowly in 2010 and 2011. So far the movement in values has

March 2007 seems a world away. Writing in November, at the
interim stage, it was not clear that the crisis in banking credit
would deepen to the extent that it did and would impact on
global economic growth in 2008. We said then that we felt as
though we were threatened by a hurricane and that we had
battened down the hatches, but we added that storms might
veer off and that damage to well protected assets was often
less than predicted. Well this hurricane did not veer off and
the damage to asset pricing and economic activity is very
considerable. Meanwhile, out at sea, yet another storm is
brewing – inflation. 

Property Investment Markets
Across Europe property investment values are now generally
declining due to rising yields. In the UK this trend started in
mid summer 2007; on the Continent the values probably
peaked last Christmas. The total capital value fall in the last
nine months in the UK has been 14% taking average initial
yields from 4.5% to 5.1%. By equity standards this is not
technically even a bear market, but in the slower moving (and
leveraged) world of real estate, this price movement is both
rapid and considerable. 

UK
In the direct investment market in the UK there have been
three phases of sentiment. In Phase 1, in early and mid 2007,
investor demand cooled in response to rising long and short
term interest rates, which in turn were responding to rising
inflation expectations. At that stage there was talk of a soft
landing and the expectation that the autumn would see a
stable market with modest rental growth offset by slightly
higher yields. 

Phase 2 started in the summer holidays when it suddenly
became clear that the little local US difficulty with sub-prime
mortgage debt was neither little nor local. There was an
immediate feeling of heightened nervousness in the property
investment market. The majority of cash buyers withdrew to
the sidelines, agreed deals fell through, and price chipping
became commonplace. The CMBS market closed (and has
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Market Background and Outlook continued

been across the board in terms of quality, with prime assets
appearing to decline as fast as secondary property, partly
because the turnover evidence is biased towards prime and
partly because concerns over reversions tend to impact on
the valuation of higher growth property. We look for the
values of secondary and empty property to weaken more
than prime values in any further downturn.

Western Europe
European property investment markets generally enjoyed a
strong year in 2007 and saw little or none of the weakness
that we noted in the UK. Starting with slightly higher income
yields than the UK and with lower interest rates, these
markets saw significant turnover with leveraged buyers to the
fore. Tenant demand was generally good with falling
unemployment and buoyant retail sales. The credit crisis of
the early autumn had less impact than in the UK and banks
continued to lend freely throughout most of the year. There
were hints in Q4 2007 that yields might be rising and a
number of major deals were withdrawn or concluded at lower
than expected pricing, but in general the feeling was that with
index linked rents to aid cash flow, European yields were set
for stability in 2008.

This spring the European investment property market is
seeing some, if not all, of the UK market’s current problems.
House price growth is under pressure and there are reports
of a general tightening in bank finance availability. European
investors traditionally work with greater leverage than their
UK counterparts and constrictions in the lending market
could therefore have a marked impact on pricing. Economic
weakness is expected to be most pronounced in Southern
Europe, while the German economy is expected to show
stronger than average resilience. The pricing in the nascent
European property derivative markets is pointing to a 5.5%
decline in German capital values in the next 18 months and a
20% decline in French office values over the same period. 

Eastern Europe
Very strong demand for property investments in Eastern
Europe was evident in the first half of 2007, and prime yields
in the major cities have approached the level of those in
Western Europe. From available information it seems that
investor demand has tailed off since last summer and that
overall values are currently stable with investors more
cautious particularly in those locations where speculative
development is at its highest. Some Eastern European
economies are beginning to show signs of strain. 

Offices
Pan European prime office rental values are reported to have
risen by an average around 9% in the last twelve months, but
this average number masks a very wide variation city by city.
The three top performers, all with over 30% rental growth,
were Moscow, Warsaw and Oslo. Central London, Budapest
and Copenhagen saw 10% to 20% prime rental growth,
while Paris, Milan, Madrid and Stockholm were all in the 9%
to 15% range. Under performers were the UK regional
centres, the Dutch and German cities, Rome, Barcelona and
Prague. In Brussels there are reports of a slight decline in
prime office rents during the autumn. 

These numbers are encouraging but the pace of rental
growth has been slackening since the autumn with the
weakening economic outlook. Though vacancy rates have
fallen they are still over 10% in many German and Dutch
cities due to overbuilding at the turn of the century, and
probably 8% average across the Continent. Meanwhile the
cost of building offices rose by around 6% last year hurting
development margins. Despite this there is some 75 million
square feet of space under construction (of which Moscow
accounts for a third). Much of this space is speculative and
vacancy rates are now rising in centres such as Barcelona,
Dublin, Helsinki and Leeds. 

The City of London is a particular case in point; good rental
growth in the 100 million square foot City market over the
past two years has encouraged a rash of speculative
development starts. Agents’ vacancy figures tend to omit
space from availability until six months before completion, so
on that basis the City vacancy rate is still a modest 6% down
from 7% a year ago. However there are nearly 7 million feet
to be delivered by the end of 2009 of which only 1 million is
pre-let. The City is now losing jobs and tenant demand is
declining. It is not difficult to forecast that the City vacancy
rate will rise to over 10% by end 2009 and that prime rental
values, currently in the low £60s per foot will drop back to
£50 per foot. Indeed City rents may drop sufficiently to attract
occupiers from other London markets who wish to cut their
rental costs. Floor space per worker in the City is very low by
international standards, and all the new space would be
quickly absorbed if City workers were to get 10% more
working space each. 

London’s 120 million square foot West End market is better
placed than the City in terms of existing vacancy rates (under
4%) and potential speculative development completions to
end 2009 (3.5 million feet, mostly on the fringes). It also
benefits from a steady, but unquantified, removal of older
stock for conversion (back) into residential use. Top rents in
the Mayfair core are £125 per foot or double the level in the
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which saw some of the strongest rental growth in 2007,
though increases were still only in the 5% to 10% range. In
the London area and around Paris average rental values did
not change. The current year is likely to see lower levels of
development as banks offer less financing, but equally
business growth is expected to moderate. All in all the
prospects for warehouse property are relatively stable and
unexciting. 

Residential Markets

UK
In the UK the shortened supply of credit is now markedly
impacting residential pricing. We have commented in past
statements that residential prices have been rising far faster
than commercial property values in the UK, due to high
demand, a chronic shortage of supply and the easy
availability of cheap credit. The long term demand for housing
and the shortage of supply have not gone away, but for the
next year or two we see UK average house price trends
being set chiefly by the availability and cost of mortgage
finance. The omens do not look propitious. Credit terms may
have been tightened rapidly but they are unlikely to be
slackened again with any speed.

Rest of Europe
Rather as in the commercial market, European residential
markets seem to be following the UK market with a six to
nine month time lag. Across the Continent confidence in
continued house and apartment price growth appears to be
ebbing away. Current price trends are varied and generally
reflect the growth or lack of growth in pricing over the last
decade. In Ireland prices have been falling since last spring.
In Spain official statistics show stability but the market is
fragile. Dutch and Italian house prices now appear to be
declining. In France the rate of growth has slowed rapidly.
German house prices appear to be stable, though, having
been asleep for a decade, they are unlikely to wake now. In
Central and Eastern Europe pricing appears stable after a
year of significant price rises.

Property Share Background
It was a poor year for property share prices virtually
everywhere and globally the Sector fell 21% in Sterling
terms. UK stocks suffered an average 35% decline in the
twelve months to end March 2008, while European stocks
fell 30% in Euros, but only by 18% in Sterling terms thanks
to the strength of the Euro. Elsewhere, in local currency
terms, US REITs saw price declines of 22%, Australian
property trusts fell 28% and Japanese real estate shares fell
43%. Hong Kong was alone amongst the leading markets to
gain – rising 12%. 

City, but average rents are far below this figure and the West
End demand is far more broadly based than City demand. We
think this market is better placed to avoid any sharp
wholesale rental decline. 

Retail
Pan-European retail rental values saw another year of modest
but steady rental growth which averaged about 5%, though
there were significant regional variations. Some areas of
Eastern Europe were particularly strong, notably Poland and
Slovakia where growth of up to 20% was reported. Western
Europe generally slightly lagged the average, with the UK
showing only about 2% rental growth in shopping centres in
the year to end March 2008.

Everywhere there is uncertainty about the impact of the
slower economies and residential price trends on consumer
expenditure and therefore on the demand for retail property.
Measuring the potential impact is not easy. In the UK
mortgage debt is around £1.3 trillion while the housing
stock is estimated to be worth £4 trillion, so national
leverage is modest by corporate standards. Many
consumers here and on the Continent have little or no
mortgage debt, but the propensity to spend is linked to the
presence or absence of a feeling of economic well-being
and to concerns over jobs. Landlords’ void rates in larger
UK and European shopping centres are currently extremely
low (no more than about 2.5% in the top Malls) but the
number of units available for assignment may be double
this level, lease incentives are now widening in the UK, and
it seems illogical to expect rental values not to be affected
by the squeeze on consumer credit. 

In the Eurozone underlying retail rental growth has been in
the 2% to 5% range, so that the indexation of rents has
broadly captured reversionary growth. In France rents have
been linked to the cost of construction index rather than RPI
leading to 5% to 7% rental income growth last year.
Eurozone sales volume statistics have been volatile over the
last six months but the most recent numbers have pointed to
a marked weakness in consumer confidence and to a slight
decline in sales. 

Warehousing
Across Europe the last twelve months have seen high levels
of development activity and letting, but thanks to an equally
high amount of speculative development, average rents rose
only slightly and the vacancy rates have marginally increased
to record levels. Occupier demand for new space has been
driven by outsourcing and the expanding retail market,
particularly in Eastern Europe. In a reversal of office market
rental movements, it was the Dutch and Belgian markets
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Market Background and Outlook continued

The US and UK property share markets led the decline
through the autumn as their economies appeared most
exposed to the credit problems. Asia, Australia and Europe
saw their major declines late in the autumn and early in
2008. The March and April period of 2008 has seen a sharp
recovery by US REITs pricing, caused by their increased
income attractions following the huge base rate cuts and by
better than anticipated earnings results. 

UK
UK property shares fell 35% in the year to March 2007, and
have now fallen 40% since the end of December 2006. At
that date they stood on an average premium to NAV of about
6% based on asset values that continued to rise through the
first half of 2007. Seventeen months later the average
discount is now 28% to the estimated current NAVs, which
have fallen by 18% on the back of a 12% decline in property
values since last June – amplified at the NAV level by
gearing. On their current rating property shares are assuming
a further 16% to 20% fall in property values to the bottom of
the market (maybe H2 2009) which, amplified by gearing, will
take NAVs down to current share price levels. This 16% to
20% decline just about ties in with the value nadir in UK IPD
derivative pricing noted earlier. This may be coincidence but
probably indicates that investors are using derivative and
property share pricing as reference points for cross checking
in each market. 

Where and when the nadir in valuations comes is one
question. Another is the relative rating that property shares
will have to those base asset values. In past markets (1975
and 1992) before the world of mobile phones, Blackberries
and instant everything, property share discounts to NAV
tended to widen as values declined. We will be very surprised
if this occurs in this cycle. The recovery in property shares is
likely to precede the recovery in property markets by one or
two quarters.

Continental Europe
European property shares fell by 30% in Euro terms in the
year. At March 2007 their average premium to NAV was
about 30%. NAVs grew by an average of 6% over the year
and at the end of March 2008 the average premium was
about 6%. French property performed very strongly, boosted
by indexation to the fast rising cost of construction index. In
Euros the Swiss market performed best, falling only 5%,
thanks to the unchanging nature of Swiss yields and rents
and to the attractions of the Swiss currency in disturbed
markets. The Dutch stocks outperformed falling only 20% in
Euros, buoyed by high dividend yields and the take-over of
Rodamco during the year. French property shares fell by 26%
and Swedish stocks by 27%. At the other end of the table,

Spanish property shares had an awful year, Italian stocks fell
by 55%, Austrian stocks by 44% and German stocks by
45%.

Analysts’ forecasts currently expect muted NAV growth in
Europe in 2008, with stable or very slightly rising yields more
than offset by increased rents through indexation. European
company quarterly valuations are usually internal and
therefore show little change, but two larger companies have
already indicated a softening in the market in 2008, sufficient
to reduce their NAVs modestly. Much will depend on the
outlook for tenant demand over the summer. 

Outlook
If all the foregoing sounds rather foreboding, we have to
remember that economies go through cycles and will recover,
and that your funds are principally invested in companies
owning prime, high quality, bricks and mortar without which
governments and businesses cannot operate. So far the
decline in values has unexpectedly punished prime property
just about as hard as secondary. As we have noted, this trend
is unlikely to last. 

We think the point of maximum pessimism is still ahead of us,
but is getting closer. The spotlight of concern is shifting from
the state of financial markets to the weakening economic
environment across Europe. 

We also have to watch for the timing, type and speed of the
eventual recovery. What falls fastest doesn’t always recover
fastest, but it is essential to consider how UK and European
property shares might perform, and clearly UK stocks should
have far more potential for recovery. Hunting for the triggers
for a reversal of sentiment is not easy, (if it were, then the
event would already have occurred). There has been talk of
large scale overseas buying interest from sovereign funds
and a considerable number of opportunity funds have been
created with the objective of buying real estate from
distressed sellers. The problem at present is that there are
few of these potential sellers around and the property they
own is mostly second or third rate. Straight takeover bids of
quoted companies look less likely while private equity debt is
so hard to obtain. 

Meanwhile rising inflation doesn’t help the economy, but
doesn’t altogether hinder the attractions of the property share
sector. Inflation protection is one of the long term
fundamental positives of real estate as an asset class. So for
now we are trying to be patient and disciplined so as to
preserve your capital, and also to be alert and watch for
signals that will, one day, lead us out of net cash and back
into gearing. 
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Financial Highlights

Ordinary Shares

Performance

Share price

Assets and Benchmark
Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March
2008 2007

Benchmark performance (price only) -25.4% +24.5%

NAV change -24.5% +29.7%

Benchmark performance (total return) -23.0% +27.5%

NAV total return -22.9% +31.8%

IPD Monthly Index total return* -10.7% +15.6%

Total return from direct property -1.2% +23.3%

At 31 March At 31 March %
2008 2007 Change

Share price 188.25p 256.50p -26.6

Share price total return -24.8% +24.4% –

Market capitalisation £487m £858m -43.2

Sources: Thames River Capital/*IPD monthly, one year cumulative

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March %

Revenue 2008 2007 Change

Total revenue income (£’000) 29,795 26,226 +13.6

Income from operations before tax (£’000) 21,553 16,067 +34.1

Revenue earnings per share 5.79p 4.09p +41.6

Net dividend per share 5.60p 4.10p +36.6

At At
31 March 31 March %

Balance Sheet 2008 2007 Change

Investments held at fair value (£’000) 564,798 1,082,398 -47.8

Shareholders’ funds (£’000) 567,899 972,944 -41.6

Shares in issue at end of period (m) 258.6 334.6 -22.7

Gearing 0% 9%

Net asset value per share 219.61p 290.78p -24.5

Note: At 24 July 2007 19.0% of the Ordinary share capital (and corresponding assets and liabilities) converted to Sigma shares.
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Manager’s Report
Ordinary Share Class

Chris Turner MRICS Fund Manager
5 June 2008

I was caught off guard by the severity of the downturn in

the property share market in the summer and autumn of

2007. When I wrote my manager’s report in last year’s

annual report the market was already cooling and I was

expecting a relatively soft landing. This proved to be false

optimism to which the banking crisis put paid. In my

interim report my musings were far more pessimistic than

those of the early summer, and, as it has turned out, a bit

nearer the subsequent outcome. I reported then that I had

virtually eliminated gearing in the Ordinary share portfolio

and sold down many of our higher leveraged stocks.

Since November I have made more net sales to take the

balance sheet into modest net cash at the year end. 

Performance

In total return terms the Ordinary share NAV beat the

FTSE EPRA/NAREIT European Property Index by a

whisker, falling 22.9% versus the benchmark return of

minus 23.0%. This very modest outperformance would

not have occurred at all without the positive input of some

£4.5m from share repurchases. My two biggest mistakes

were of timing and portfolio distribution. I failed to spot

the severity of the downturn early enough and was

geared into the first series of share price falls. I stayed

with the UK overweight on value grounds when I should

have switched more capital onto the Continent,

particularly into France, Netherlands and Switzerland, and

so benefited from the perceived prospect of a milder

economic downturn and from Sterling’s recent weakness.

Worse, the UK overweight is in effect a London
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Manager’s Report continued

overweight, and here the credit problems have had an

especially depressing impact on the Central London

property specialist companies.

To my aid came our excellent direct property portfolio

performance, our underweight positions in Austria,

Germany, Italy and Spain all of which performed worse

than the UK, and our underweight positions in virtually

every one of the 21 benchmark components companies

whose shares fell by over 40% in the year, chiefly as a

result of having high leverage. 

Distribution of Assets

The table on page 22 shows the overall changes during

the financial year. UK equities fell from 55% of gross

assets to 46%, European securities rose from 38% to

41% and direct property jumped from 7% to 13%, due to

relative outperformance, modest net investment and partly

because the Sigma share class took only equities from the

former combined portfolio, leaving all the direct property

with the Ordinary share class. For reference, the UK

component of the benchmark was 39% at the end of

March 2008. 

The table on this page shows the detailed distribution of

the portfolio on a see-through basis by region and asset

type, together with our estimate of the similar figures for

the benchmark. London and the inner home counties

account for almost 30% of the Ordinary share class

assets and Paris and the Ile de France for another 15%.

The benchmark’s equivalent weightings are 19% and

13%. Looking beyond the immediate short term, I am

pleased to hold these weightings in Europe’s two most

important international cities.

Investment Activity

The table on page 20 shows the changes in our

investments over the year. The table is more complicated

than usual as it incorporates the transfer of £165m of

equity investments out of the Ordinary share class and

into Sigma during July 2007. Aside from this transfer,

purchases of new investments were modest and totalled

only £64m over the year, of which £20m was on direct

property and £26m on Continental stocks. A further

£30.6m was spent on repurchasing shares for
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EPRA Index Ordinary Share
31 March 2008 Class Portfolio

UK

City Offices 4.9% 5.9%

West End Offices 6.2% 9.2%

West End Retail 1.7% 3.1%

Docklands 0.1% 1.1%

GLC/SE Offices 1.0% 4.1%

Provincial Offices 0.9% 0.5%

In town Retail 7.9% 8.2%

Supermarkets 1.3% 1.5%

Retail Warehouses 4.5% 5.1%

Out of Town Retail 2.5% 2.2%

SE Industrials 3.4% 2.9%

Other Industrials 1.3% 2.2%

Self Storage 0.3% 3.9%

Leisure 0.7% 0.7%

Residential 2.8% 1.6%

Other 0.3% 0.5%

Total UK 39.8% 52.5%

Austria 3.0% 0.3%

Belgium Offices & Industrial 2.6% 1.1%

Belgium Retail 0.5% 0.4%

Central Europe Offices 0.8% 0.7%

Central Europe Retail 1.4% 1.1%

Central Europe Logistics 0.5% 0.5%

Central Europe Residential 0.4% 0.7%

Central Europe Other 0.1% 0.4%

Denmark 0.1% 0.1%

Finland 1.8% 0.7%

French Retail 7.7% 7.1%

French Offices 6.9% 8.1%

French Logistics 1.0% 1.2%

French Residential 0.9% 1.2%

French Other 0.9% 1.4%

German Offices 3.0% 2.1%

German Retail 1.2% 0.5%

German Logisitics 0.7% 0.7%

German Residential 3.0% 0.5%

German Other 0.5% 0.4%

Greece 0.4% 0.5%

Italian Offices & Industrial 2.1% 2.5%

Italian Retail 1.7% 1.2%

Italian Residential 0.5% 0.3%

Netherlands Offices & Industrial 1.3% 0.7%

Netherlands Retail 3.2% 2.3%

Norway 1.3% 0.0%

Russian Offices & Industrial 0.1% 0.3%

Russian Retail 0.1% 0.2%

Russian Residential 0.0% 0.2%

Russian Other 0.0% 0.0%

Spain 2.0% 1.5%

Sweden Offices 3.3% 3.1%

Sweden Retail 1.6% 1.7%

Sweden Industrial 1.1% 1.8%

Sweden Residential 0.0% 0.3%

Sweden Other 0.7% 0.7%

Switzerland 2.7% 0.6%

Other Overseas 0.7% 0.4%

Total 100.0% 100.0%

See-Through Portfolio by Market (%)* end March 2008

*Combines the underlying property from the Ordinary Portfolio shareholdings and
direct property holdings.
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cancellation. I raised £192m from sales spread generally

across the portfolio so that, including share buybacks, the

investment turnover (sales and purchases divided by two),

was just under £150m or roughly 22% of the average

adjusted gross assets over the year.

My sales had a number of objectives beyond removing the

Ordinary share class balance sheet borrowings. The first

was to reduce our see-through gearing through sales of

shares in more highly leveraged companies. The second

was to eradicate as far as possible our see-through

exposure to the UK residential market. The third was to

lower our exposure to UK retail property, and the fourth

was to sell, where possible and sensible, those shares with

very limited marketability. All these objectives were at least

partially achieved. 

As I have said, with hindsight I should probably have sold

down more of our UK shareholdings earlier in the year and

reinvested on the Continent. What made this hard to do at

any time in the year were the substantial differences in the

discount ratings. At March 2007, UK property shares were

on a weighted average premium to NAV of around 4% and

Continental property stocks on a 30% premium. By June

2007 these figures were minus 10% and plus 17%, by the

end of September they were minus 22% and plus 6%, by

December they were minus 31% and minus 9% and at the

end of March 2008, minus 28% and minus 6%. So

throughout the year switching from the UK onto the

Continent lost the mover over 20% in terms of the

discount to NAV or required the mover to believe that over

the course of the current market cycle the more lowly

geared UK companies would lose 20% more of their NAV

than their more highly geared Continental counterparts. 

Judging the future performance movements between the

UK and Continental Europe remains my constant dilemma.

The UK economy is now undoubtedly into a downturn with

a difficult period ahead in terms of tenant and investor

demand. Opinion is very divided as to how long this period

will last with the bulls looking to recovery in 2009 and the

bears in 2011. Equally opinion is divided about the outlook

for the Euro economy, but the symptoms of tighter credit

and softening retail sales growth are already apparent and

house prices are declining in Southern Europe.

I commented earlier that European investment property

values are now slipping. In the UK we have several

monthly indices with which to monitor and berate the

market. On the Continent short term movements in

property capital and rental values are not monitored so

publicly. Leases are shorter there, but are usually indexed

to CPI, average leverage is higher and borrowed for

shorter terms but interest rates are also lower. The past

pattern of property value movements suggests that the

UK and Europe follow similar paths with the UK always

leading in and out of bull and bear markets. If this pattern

is repeated the UK overweight should produce a

performance kicker at some stage. 

Largest Equity Investments

The composition of our top ten investments changed only

modestly, though the order has shifted. Together they

made up 48.8% of gross assets compared with 48.1% for

the top ten at March 2007. Their average dividend yield is

4.1% and their average gearing is 62.4%.

Unibail and Rodamco (the 5th and 7th largest investments

in March 2007) merged in May 2007. I subsequently

expanded the holding by 8% and with outperformance

and Sterling currency weakness the holding displaced

Land Securities as our biggest investment. Unibail is a

lowly leveraged owner and developer of major shopping

centres across Europe, but holds no assets in the UK or

Germany. I reduced the shareholdings in Hammerson and

Liberty by between 33% and 40% partly due to the share

price ratings at the time of sale and partly to reduce

exposure to UK shopping mall investments. Shareholdings

in Castellum, British Land, Segro and Foncière des

Régions were reduced by between 10% and 25% and

St Modwen, a long-time favourite, was reduced on the

worsening outlook for UK residential land values. Holdings

in Land Securities, Big Yellow and Great Portland were

little changed, adjusting for the departure of part of the

shareholdings into the Sigma portfolio last July. 

The overall performance from the largest equity holdings

was mixed. They all fell in price with the lowest declines

being shown by Liberty, Castellum, Unibail and Land
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Securities. The worst performers were British Land,

Hammerson and Big Yellow each down by 33% to 37%. 

Revenue

Revenue per Ordinary share showed more rapid growth

than predicted. I warned at the interim stage that the

exceptional 39% increase in revenue per share in the first

half might not be maintained through the second half. In

the event it was exceeded with the result that the full year

growth was at the rate of 41.6%. Just for once everything

that could improve did so. Timing differences worked for

us, dividend growth was better than forecast, especially on

the Continent, our buildings were full, while at the same

time, management fees and finance charges both fell, and

buybacks also boosted the per share result. The strength

of the Euro in the last quarter of the financial year made

only a modest impact as the portfolio’s non-UK income

mainly arises in the April to July period. 

From March 2008 I expect the rate of Ordinary share

annual revenue growth to revert to single figure levels for

the immediate future. The exceptional jump in the UK

REIT dividends is behind us and the strains in the credit

markets and concerns over the economy, both here and

on the Continent, suggest that companies will rein in
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The Trust bought Thames Central, vacant, in May

2005 for £11.2 million, refurbished the property at

a cost of £1 million and let the building to a

variety of tenants. The building was sold in

November 2007, fully let, for £18.5 million,

achieving a total return of 55.5% over the period

of ownership compared to 30.1% from IPD.

Thames Central is an eight storey highly specified

office building of 62,500 sq ft located in Slough town

centre. It was completed in 2002 at a time when the

Slough office market was suffering from over-supply

due to over-development and a reduction in demand as

a result of the bursting of the dotcom bubble. Having

conducted detailed analysis of the market we

considered that the building offered good potential

returns given appropriate management and investment.

We purchased the property for £11.2 million (£179

per sq ft) including acquisition costs, well below the

cost of replacement. At this time the building was in

considerable need of attention following a long period

of neglect by the previous owner. Over the first 6

months of ownership, the Trust spent approximately

£1 million overhauling and re-commissioning all of

the mechanical and electrical systems. We also

rebranded the building (which had previously been

known as New Century House) and embarked on an

active marketing campaign offering high quality office

space to smaller companies on flexible terms.

Over the period of ownership we completed 14

leases to 11 tenants, increasing rents from £15.00

per sq ft to £20.00 per sq ft. On the signing of the

last lease in June 2007 the Trust marketed the

building as a fully let freehold investment generating

annual income of £1.07 million. Despite problems in

the wider credit market the Trust completed the sale

of the property on 15 November 2007, at a price of

£18.5 million. This reflected a net initial yield of 5.5%

and a capital value of £305 per sq ft.

THAMES CENTRAL, SLOUGH – CASE STUDY
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Manager’s Report continued

dividend growth to boost their reserves. For instance Land

Securities’ dividend grew by 20.8% last year, and we

forecast only a 3% increase this year. Currencies will give

us a one-off boost this year with over 40% of the gross

revenue sourced from Europe, but this currency trend

might reverse in future years. As the accounting treatment

for borrowing costs is to charge half to the capital

account, a return to net leverage at some future date

would be likely to boost revenue per share assuming the

borrowings are used to buy income producing assets. My

advice to the Board is that revenue per Ordinary share will

grow this year by 5% to 10%. 

Dividend cuts or omissions have already occurred in the

Sector and there will be more. So far as possible, I have

sold those stocks which seem to be candidates for such

future action, though doubtless I have not got rid of all the

weeds. However the high quality of the cash flows in

which the portfolio is generally invested does mean that

I am not overly concerned for our dividend income this

year or next, and I am still expecting modest dividend

growth from most of our largest investments. 

Gearing, Debt and Debentures. 

I reduced net debt from £90m to £21m in the first half of

the financial year and eliminated it altogether by the third

week of November. Since then the Ordinary share class

has held a steady net cash position of between £5m and

£10m, with attributable debt of £32m (being the Ordinary

class’s share of the two Debentures) and net cash of

between £37m and £42m. Roughly 35% of this cash is

held in Euros and all of it is currently on overnight deposit.

The larger of the two Debentures is due for repayment in

November at a cost to the Ordinary share class of some

£20m. We have retained a bank lending facility for £64m

for which we are paying a non-utilisation fee. 

The Ordinary share class’s “see-through loan to value”

(which adds the proportionate debt of all our equity

investments to our on balance sheet net debt or net cash)

has also fallen sharply as I have sought to reduce our

exposure to more highly leveraged balance sheets

amongst the property equities. The figure at the end of

March is 37% compared with 43% last year and

compared with a current benchmark level of 42%. 

Valuation Transfer Appreciation/ Valuation

2007 to Sigma Purchases Sales (Depreciation) 2008

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 %

Austria 11,443 (2,263) 4,507 (6,791) (2,942) 3,954 0.7

Belgium 9,775 (1,633) – (1,724) (199) 6,219 1.1

Denmark 1,181 – – (1,295) 114 – –

Finland 11,559 (1,652) 179 (4,488) (2,009) 3,589 0.6

France* 147,435 (33,761) 51,550 (14,459) (19,590) 131,175 23.2

Germany 23,663 (4,486) 5,282 (4,062) (8,074) 12,323 2.2

Greece 6,285 (1,168) – (491) (1,066) 3,560 0.6

Italy 22,452 (2,852) – (6,204) (7,354) 6,042 1.1

Luxembourg 8,078 (1,469) 2,496 (808) (2,905) 5,392 0.9

Netherlands* 101,265 (9,640) 1,398 (58,510) (6,546) 27,967 5.0

Norway 5,062 (1,091) – (4,215) 244 – –

Spain 4,312 – – (4,216) (96) – –

Sweden 53,406 (8,357) 1,231 (10,214) (7,958) 28,108 5.0

Switzerland 5,662 (1,029) – (166) 395 4,862 0.9

Continental Europe 411,578 (69,401) 66,643 (117,643) (57,986) 233,191 41.3

Japan 1,168 (183) – (654) (331) – –

Hong Kong 858 – – (845) (13) – –

UK 593,595 (96,225) 17,506 (93,855) (159,966) 261,055 46.2

Direct Property 75,199 – 20,105 (19,280) (5,472) 70,552 12.5

1,082,398 (165,809) 104,254 (232,277) (223,768) 564,798 100

Ordinary Share Class

Changes in Investments

*Purchases in France and sales in the Netherlands include a transfer of £40.4m from Netherlands to France in respect of the Unibail-Rodamco merger.
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Manager’s Report continued

Direct Property Portfolio

The direct property portfolio produced a total return of 

minus 1.2% for the year, comprising an income return of

4.6% and a capital return of minus 5.8%. The portfolio

comfortably outperformed the Investment Property

Databank Monthly Index total return of minus 10.7%,

which comprised an income return of 5.1% and a capital

return of minus 15.8%. 

Purchase and sale activity was largely confined to the first

half. We reported on the sale of Thames Central, Slough in

the interim statement. Further detail on this very

satisfactory investment is included in the case study on

page 19. We also reported on the purchase of two office

buildings (Field House, Harlow and Solstice House, Milton

Keynes) at the half-year point. Since then we have made

no further purchases. We made one small sale post the

year end, disposing of a retail unit adjoining our industrial

estate in Wandsworth for £540,000 at auction, a gain of

£10,000 on the September valuation.

In the absence of further transactions, we concentrated on

asset management activity, looking to increase the

security and longevity of income or pursue planning gain.

At Milton Keynes we concluded lease renewal

negotiations with the tenant, Exel Europe Ltd, increasing

the rent from £420,000 per annum to £485,000 per

annum. At Harlow we are participating in the local

authority-led consultation process to determine the future

regeneration of the town centre, which includes our site.

We are hopeful that designation of our site as a residential

and commercial expansion zone may allow for significantly

increased density if the site were to be redeveloped. 

At the half-year point, we reported that the portfolio

vacancy rate had fallen to only 1%. I am happy to say that

post the year-end the vacancy rate has been reduced to

nil. In past years we have deliberately bought vacant or

part vacant buildings on which to practice our letting skills,

but our recent policy has been to avoid such acquisitions,

so this is the first year we have achieved 100%

occupancy since I became the Fund Manager in 1995. In

2009 there are lease expiries or tenants’ options to break

over 11% of our rental income. We are taking early action

to secure renewals and now leases accounting for 40%

of this income are in solicitors’ hands. Terms have been

agreed on another 15%. We are proposing to take

possession of one 7,000 square foot suite of offices at

the Colonnades for refurbishment when the lease at

£145,000 per annum expires during 2009. 

At the year-end the direct property portfolio represented

12.5% of total investments, down from 14.8% at the

interim stage. That the reduction in the proportionate size

of the direct property portfolio was so small (in spite of

the sale of Thames Central) was primarily a function of

the defensive nature of the direct property portfolio over

the period. Our long term guidance to shareholders

continues to be that the Trust will hold direct property

representing between 10% and 30% of gross assets. We

continue to consider property opportunities, however, we

have yet to see anything of sufficient merit to convince us

to part with shareholders’ funds.

Chris Turner

Fund Manager – Ordinary share class
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Ordinary Share Class Portfolio

European
Securities 41.3%

UK Securities 46.2% 

UK Property 12.5%

as at 31 March 2008

Total
Overseas: 41.3%

Total
United Kingdom: 58.7%

Distribution of Investments

as at 31 March
2008 2008 2007 2007
£’000 % £’000 %

UK Securities – quoted 261,055 46.2 593,595 54.9

UK Investment properties 70,552 12.5 75,199 6.9

UK Total 331,607 58.7 668,794 61.8

European Securities – quoted 233,191 41.3 411,578 38.0

Asian Securities – quoted – – 2,026 0.2

Total investments 564,798 100.0 1,082,398 100.0

as at 31 March 2008
Office and Industrial and 
mixed use Retail business space Residential Total

West End of London 33.4 2.4 14.1 0.4 50.3

City of London – – – – –

Around the M25 15.8 – – – 15.8

Other South East 22.0 – – – 22.0

Remainder of UK 11.9 – – – 11.9

Total 83.1 2.4 14.1 0.4 100.0

Spread of Direct Portfolio by Capital Value (%)

Portfolio Summary
as at 31 March 2008 Gross rental income

less than 1 year (including voids) 11.9

1 to 3 years 12.5

4 to 5 years 26.1

6 to 10 years 35.4

11 to 15 years 0.9

Over 15 years 13.2

100.0%

Lease Lengths within the Direct Property Portfolio
as at 31 March

2008 2007 2006

Total investments £565m £1,082m £882m

Net assets £568m £973m £771m

UK quoted property shares 46% 55% 54%

Overseas quoted property stocks 41% 38% 39%

Direct property

(externally valued) 13% 7% 7%

Equities 
 87.5%

Investment Properties
12.5%

as at  31 March 2008

Classification of Investments

as at 31 March 2008 £’000 %

Equities 494,246 87.5

Investment properties 70,552 12.5

Total investments 564,798 100.0
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Ordinary Share Class Investment portfolio by country

Market value
£'000 %

Austria
Immoeast Immobilien Anlagen 3,502 0.6
Conwert Immobilien Invest 452 0.1

3,954 0.7 

Belgium
Cofinimmo 5,131 0.9
Retail Estates 1,088 0.2

6,219 1.1 

Finland
Citycon 2,624 0.4
Sponda 965 0.2

3,589 0.6

France
Unibail-Rodamco 68,403 12.1
Foncière des Régions 17,561 3.1
Klépierre 13,625 2.4
Gecina 8,653 1.5
Icade 8,020 1.4
Foncière Lyonnaise 4,265 0.7
Silic 4,021 0.7
Foncière des Murs 2,184 0.4
Zueblin Immobiliere 1,530 0.3
Foncière Paris France 1,521 0.3
Affine 709 0.1
Mines de la Lucette 342 0.1
Foncière Europe Logistique 341 0.1

131,175 23.2

Germany
IVG Immobilien 5,967 1.1
DIC Asset 4,112 0.7
Alstria Office 1,416 0.3
Hahn-Immobilien 828 0.1

12,323 2.2 

Greece
Babis Vovos International 3,063 0.5
Lamda Development 497 0.1

3,560 0.6

Italy
Beni Stabili 4,489 0.8
Pirelli & C Real Estates 933 0.2
Risanamento 620 0.1

6,042 1.1 

Luxembourg
Prologis European Properties 2,873 0.5
Orco Property 2,519 0.4

5,392 0.9 

Netherlands
Corio 11,283 2.0
Eurocommercial Properties 7,618 1.4
Kardan 5,137 0.9
Vastned Retail 2,900 0.5
Plaza Centres 1,029 0.2

27,967 5.0

Sweden
Castellum 15,939 2.8
Kungsleden 5,438 1.0
Fabege 2,694 0.5
Wallenstam Byggnads 2,198 0.4
Hufvudstaden 1,047 0.2
Wihlborgs Fastigheter 792 0.1

28,108 5.0

Market value
£'000 %

Switzerland
PSP Swiss Property 4,298 0.8
Zueblin Immobilien 564 0.1

4,862 0.9

United Kingdom
Land Securities 66,396 11.7
British Land 33,030 5.8
Big Yellow Group 21,738 3.8
Segro 20,320 3.6
Hammerson 17,267 3.1
St Modwen Properties 16,056 2.9
Great Portland Estates 14,217 2.5
Derwent London 13,662 2.4
Liberty International 12,682 2.2
Shaftesbury 4,620 0.8
Helical Bar 4,278 0.8
NR Nordic and Russia Properties 4,056 0.7
Rugby Estates 2,786 0.6
McKay Securities 2,671 0.5
Capital & Regional Props 2,351 0.4
Hansteen Holdings 2,318 0.4
Brixton 2,310 0.4
Orchid Developments 2,280 0.3
Rose Group International 1,961 0.3
Quintain Estates & Developments 1,938 0.3
Development Securities 1,813 0.3
CLS Holdings 1,659 0.3
Unite Group 1,640 0.3
Songbird Estates 1,365 0.2
Nanette Real Estate Group 1,105 0.2
Equest Balkan Properties 935 0.2
Unitech Corporate Parks 902 0.2
Local Shopping REIT 880 0.2
Trinity Capital 803 0.1
Terrace Hill 656 0.1
Town Centre Securities 605 0.1
Bulgarian Land Development 567 0.1
Regus 333 0.1
Real Estate Opportunities 322 0.1
Eredene Capital 292 0.1
London & Associated Properties 210 0.1
Daejan Holdings 27 –
Trustco Finance 4 –

261,055 46.2

Direct Property
Investment property portfolio 70,552 12.5
(Details on page 26)

70,552 12.5

Total Investments 564,798 100.0
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Twenty Largest Equity Investments – Ordinary Portfolio

Shareholding Value 
% of investment portfolio
% of equity owned
Share price at Comment 
31 March 2008 (2007) Note: Market caps, yields and share price returns all at end March 2008.

1 Unibail-Rodamco £68.4m (£88.7m) Now Europe’s largest quoted property company by both market cap and 
(France) 12.1% (N/A) gross assets, following the June 2007 merger with Rodamco. Its e25 billion 

(0.7%) (N/A) portfolio is located mainly in France (60%) and Netherlands (16%) but the 
(g162.65) (N/A) group has a sizeable exposure to Spain (8%), Scandinavia (9%) and Central

Europe (7%). Post merger, the portfolio is 70% shopping centres, 24%
offices and industrials and 6% exhibition/convention centres. Gearing is
around 47% and the gross yield is 4.3%. The five year share price total return
has been 316%.

2 Land Securities £66.4m (£126.3m) Now relegated to Europe’s second largest quoted property company by 
(UK) 11.7% (11.7%) market capitalisation following the merger of Unibail with Rodamco. The £15 

1.0% (1.3%) billion of assets are all in the UK and are concentrated in shopping centres 
1509p (2140p) (34%), retail warehousing (17%) and Central London offices (46%). Its

Trillium subsidiary is a market leader in property outsourcing. Gearing is
relatively low at 59%. A REIT since Jan 2007, it announced its future
intention to split into three (Central London, Retail and Trillium) subject to
cost and shareholder approval. Yield is 4.2%. The five year share price total
return has been 150%.

3 British Land £33.0m (£82.5m) The company owns a prime portfolio valued at £16 billion, dominated by City 
(UK) 5.8% (7.6%) of London offices (30%) and UK retail property (57%), including a sizeable 

0.7% (1.0%) allocation to the retail warehouse sector (22%). British Land’s largest assets 
918p (1528p) are Broadgate in the City and Meadowhall at Sheffield (the subject of an

abortive sale last year). Gearing is 81% and the yield is 3.8%. The five year
share price total return has been 150%.

4 Big Yellow Group £21.7m (£43.1m) The UK’s largest quoted self storage company, operating primarily in London 
(UK) 3.8% (4.0%) and the South East from 49 stores, and with a development pipeline of a 

4.3% (5.6%) further 25 stores. The company became a REIT in April 2007. In November 
435p (668p) 2007 the company signed a JV with real estate investment manager

Pramerica to develop a portfolio of up to 25 stores in Scotland and the North
of England. Gearing is around 47% and the yield is 2.2%. The five year share
price total return has been 574%.

5 Segro £20.3m (£47.8m) Based in Slough, the company develops and owns offices and industrial 
(UK) 3.6% (4.4%) business parks principally in the UK, but also Paris, Brussels, Germany and

0.9% (1.3%) Central Europe. Gearing is 56% and the dividend yield is 4.5% The five year 
508p (784p) share price total return has been 106%. Became at REIT in January 2007.

6 Foncière des Régions £17.6m (£33.0m) Now based in Paris the company invests in higher-yielding offices and 
(France) 3.1% (3.1%) residential in Paris and regional France. A mini conglomerate that owns 

0.6% (1.0%) significant stakes in a number of other listed property companies operating in 
g93.25 (g139.86) France, Germany and Italy. Gearing is currently around 95% and the dividend

yield is 5.7%. The five year share price total return has been 395%.

7 Hammerson £17.3m (£52.0m) Active in London and Paris, this UK-based investment and development 
(UK) 3.1% (4.8%) business holds a £7.3 billion portfolio of UK shopping centres and retail 

0.5% (1.0%) parks (49% of total assets), Central London offices (22%), Paris shopping 
1114p (1733p) centres and retail parks (23%) and Central Paris offices (5%). Gearing is

currently around 57% and the yield is 2.5% The five year share price total
return has been 186%. Became at REIT in January 2007.

8 St Modwen Properties £16.1m (£32.0m) This company is a regeneration specialist operating throughout the UK. It holds
(UK) 2.9% (3.0%) a large portfolio of sites totalling over 6,000 acres including the former Llanwern

2.7% (3.7%) Steel Works in South Wales, the former Rover car assembly site at Longbridge
490p (704p) and the Elephant and Castle Shopping Centre in Southwark. Gearing is 126%

and the net yield 2.4%. The five year share price total return has been 272%.

9 Castellum £15.9m (£31.6m) Based in Gothenburg, Castellum owns a £2.35 billion higher yielding mixed 
(Sweden) 2.8% (2.9%) commercial portfolio with some 550 properties located in Central and 

1.5% (2.5%) Southern Sweden. The business is run through a series of local offices. The 
SEK 72.25 (SEK 101.00) yield is 4.1%. The gearing at 89% is low by Swedish standards. The five year

share price total return has been 206%.

10 Great Portland £14.2m (£26.0m) A specialist Central London office investment and development company, 
Estates (UK) 2.5% (2.6%) which became a REIT in January 2007. The company operates both on it’s 

1.5% (1.9%) own account and through a number of joint ventures with institutions and 
529.5p (776p) other owners. Gearing is currently around 55% and the yield is 2.5%. The

five year share price total return has been 183%. 
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Shareholding Value 
% of investment portfolio
% of equity owned
Share price at Comment 
31 March 2008 (2007) Note: Market caps, yields and share price returns all at end March 2008.

11 Derwent London £13.7m (£21.0m) A specialist central London office investment and development REIT which 
(UK) 2.4% (1.9%) merged with London Merchant Securities at the end of 2006. The portfolio is 

0.9% (1.0%) concentrated in the West End of London office market where it owns a 
1339p (2171p) number of major long term redevelopment sites. The dividend yield is 1.5%.

Gearing is 42%. The five year share price total return has been 279%.

12 Klépierre £13.6m (£21.1m) Based in Paris and with tax free status, Klepierre owns a Pan European 
(France) 2.4% (2.0%) shopping centre portfolio located in France (64%), Spain (10%), Italy (12%), 

0.3% (0.5%) Belgium, Hungary and Greece. Many of its properties are small malls 
g38.87 (g145.20) attached to Carrefour supermarkets. Klepierre is a subsidiary of BNP Paribas,

which owns just over 50% of the equity. Gearing is 88% and the yield is
3.2%. The five year share price total return has been 242%.

13 Liberty International £12.7m (£29.3m) The UK’s largest pure retail investment company owning three major out of 
(UK) 2.2% (2.7%) town centres – Lakeside at Thurrock, Metrocentre at Gateshead, and 

0.4% (0.6%) Braehead at Glasgow. The portfolio also includes town centre schemes in 
97.5p (1247p) Watford, Bromley, Nottingham, Manchester, Norwich and Hanley and the

Piazza at Covent Garden. Gearing is 80%. Dividend yield 3.5%. The five year
share price total return has been 101%. Became at REIT in January 2007.

14 Corio £11.3m (£18.2m) This large Dutch tax transparent company has a e6.5 billion Pan European 
(Netherlands) 2.0% (1.7%) portfolio of shopping centres (83%) and offices (17%), located in the 

0.4% (0.6%) Netherlands (40%), France (31%), Italy (16%), Spain (8%) and Turkey 
g55.5 (g68.01) (5%). The yield is 4.7%. Gearing is 64%. The five year share price total

return has been 174%.

15 Gecina £8.7m (£14.2m) Gecina is a tax efficient SIIC with a e12.5 billion portfolio of mainly offices  
(France) 1.5% (1.3%) (57%) and residential property (35%). Historically centred on Paris, the 

0.2% (0.2%) company is expanding its geographic focus to include other French regions 
g94.38 (g139.14) and possibly other countries. The company also intends to diversify into

logistics, hotels and healthcare sectors. A disagreement at the parent company
level is likely to lead to the transfer of part of the office portfolio to Medea, a
company controlled by Metrovacesa. The dividend yield is 5.3% and gearing
around 65%. The five year share price total return has been 136%.

16 Icade £8.0m (£6.0m) A tax-efficient SIIC, Icade has a e6.2 billion portfolio of residential, 
(France) 1.4% (0.6%) commercial and public sector investments and developments located mostly 

0.2% (0.2%) in France. Post a restructuring of the group that involved the merger of 
g94.26 (g122.00) several quoted and non-quoted vehicles, Caisse des Depots (effectively the

French govt) owns 61.6%. The dividend yield is 3.4% and gearing is 33%.
Five year share price total return is 259%. 

17 Eurocommercial £7.6m (£14.5m) The company is based in London and listed in Amsterdam, with Dutch REIT 
Properties 1.4% (1.4%) status. It specialises in the ownership and active management of medium 
(Netherlands) 0.8% (1.4%) sized shopping centres. The portfolio split is 38% Italy, 35% France, 22% 

g35.39 (g44.01) Sweden and 5% Holland. Gearing is 67% and the gross yield is 4.7%. The
five-year share price total return has been 131%.

18 IVG Immobilien £6.0m (£10.9m) Germany’s largest property company focused on offices primarily in Germany 
(Germany) 1.1% (1.0%) (73%) but also across Western Europe. The e21bn portfolio includes an oil 

0.4% (0.4%) and gas storage business. The business encompasses office development 
g17.72 (g35.85) and third party fund management. Gearing is 262% and the yield is 4%. The

five year share price total return has been 221%. 

19 Kungsleden £5.4m (£11.6m) An investment company operating in all the commercial sectors of the 
(Sweden) 1.0% (1.1%) Swedish property market and especially in retirement home ownership, in the 

0.6% (0.9%) warehousing sector and in public buildings. Kungsleden’s 25.8 billion Krona 
SEK 73.75 (SEK 125.00) portfolio is relatively highly geared (161%). The dividend yield is also high at

10.8%, but not covered by recurring cash earnings. The five year total return
has been 445%.

20 Cofinimmo £5.1m (£7.4m) Based in Brussels, the company’s e2.8 billion portfolio is heavily weighted 
(Belgium) 0.9% (0.7%) towards Belgian offices (77%). However, the company is diversifying into the 

0.4% (0.6%) leisure and healthcare sectors through acquisitions in France and the 
g136.94 (g155.90) Netherlands. Gearing is 101% and the yield is 4.8%. Five year total

shareholder return is 74%.

Five year share price total returns are from Bloomberg using the period ended 31 March 2008, are expressed in local

currency and assume the reinvestment of net dividends.

Twenty Largest Equity Investments – Ordinary Portfolio
continued
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Ordinary Portfolio Investment Properties as at 31 March 2008

Value in excess of £10 million
Property Sector Tenure Size (sq ft) Principal tenants

Elizabeth House Offices Freehold 54,150 Gallaher
Duke Street
Woking
This 1980s office building is located in central Woking, close to the train station and the main shopping area. It is let to
Gallaher for 99 years from 1982 at approximately two thirds of rental value and sub-let to the TM Group until 2023. TM
Group do not occupy and have been upgrading the building over the last few years with a view to attracting new occupiers.

The Colonnades Mixed Freehold 44,000 NCP 
Bishops Bridge Road Use 200 space car park Pizza Express
London W2 242 residential units Bishops Stores Ltd
The property comprises a large mixed-use block in Bayswater, constructed in the mid-1970s. The site extends to
approximately 2 acres on the north east corner of the junction of Bishops Bridge Road and Porchester Road, close to
Bayswater tube station and the Whiteleys Shopping Centre.

Field House Offices Freehold 66,000 Life Assurance Holding
Station Approach Corporation Ltd
Harlow
Located next to Harlow Town railway station, the building was constructed in the late 1980s and comprises a 66,000 sq ft
office building on a site of 3.5 acres. The building is let to Life Assurance Holding Corporation Ltd until 2012.

Value in excess of £5 million
Property Sector Tenure Size (sq ft) Principal tenants

Solstice House Offices Freehold 31,550 Exel Europe Ltd
251 Midsummer Boulevard
Milton Keynes
This 31,550 sq ft office building is situated in the prime office pitch in Milton Keynes and is located between the
shopping centre and the railway station. The building is occupied by Exel Europe Ltd (trading as DHL) who have
renewed their lease until 2012.

Cambridge Science Offices Leasehold 38,500 Worldpay Ltd
Park 125 years from
Cambridge 1987
This office building occupies a prime site on Cambridge’s foremost out of town office park. It was built in 1989 and
extensively refurbished in 2000, prior to being let to Worldpay Ltd, a leading internet payment systems company wholly
owned by the Royal Bank of Scotland.

Ferrier Street Industrial Industrial Freehold 35,800 Absolute Taste
Estate, Ferrier Street Kougar Tool Hire Ltd
Wandsworth SW18 and Mossimans
adjacent plots Page Lacquer
The Ferrier Street Industrial Estate occupies a site of just over an acre, 50 metres from Wandsworth Town railway station
in an area that is predominantly residential. The estate comprises 16 small industrial units generally let to a mix of small to
medium sized private companies.
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Ordinary Share Class Income Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2008

Year ended 31 March 2008 Year ended 31 March 2007
Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total

Return Return Return Return
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Investment income 

Investment income 22,941 – 22,941 21,264 – 21,264

Other operating income 886 – 886 66 – 66

Gross rental income 4,025 – 4,025 3,201 – 3,201

Service charge income 1,943 – 1,943 1,695 – 1,695

(Losses)/gains on investments held at

fair value – (222,109) (222,109) – 236,669 236,669

Total income 29,795 (222,109) (192,314) 26,226 236,669 262,895

Expenses

Management and performance fees (3,025) (1,728) (4,753) (3,602) (9,050) (12,652)

Direct property expenses, rent payable

and service charge costs (2,450) – (2,450) (2,327) – (2,327)

Other expenses (593) – (593) (561) – (561)

Total operating expenses (6,068) (1,728) (7,796) (6,490) (9,050) (15,540)

Operating profit/(loss) 23,727 (223,837) (200,110) 19,736 227,619 247,355

Finance costs (2,174) (2,174) (4,348) (3,669) (3,669) (7,338)

Net profit/(loss) before tax 21,553 (226,011) (204,458) 16,067 223,950 240,017

Taxation (4,066) 2,750 (1,316) (2,013) (206) (2,219)

Net profit/(loss) before reorganisation costs 17,487 (223,261) (205,774) 14,054 223,744 237,798

Transfer to Sigma shares (2,203) 26,806 24,603 – – –

Net profit/(loss) 15,284 (196,455) (181,171) 14,054 223,744 237,798

Earnings/(loss) per Ordinary

share (note 9 on pages 68 and 69) 5.79p (74.41)p (68.62)p 4.09p 65.16p 69.25p

The final dividend of 2.40p in respect of the year ended 31 March 2007 was declared on 22 May 2007 and paid on 31 July 2007. This can be

found in the Group Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2008 on page 60. 
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Ordinary Share Class Balance Sheet
as at 31 March 2008

2008 2007
£’000 £’000

Non-current assets

Investments held at fair value 564,798 1,082,398

Current assets

Debtors 5,196 4,239

Cash and cash equivalents 37,329 535

42,525 4,774

Current liabilities (23,578) (70,156)

Net current assets/(liabilities) 18,947 (65,382)

Total assets less current liabilities 583,745 1,017,016

Non-current liabilities (15,846) (44,072)

Net assets 567,899 972,944

Net asset value per Ordinary share (note 20a on page 81) 219.61p 290.78p
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Financial Highlights 

Performance
Period ended

31 March
Assets and Benchmark 2008

Benchmark performance (price only) -11.5%
NAV change -11.6%

Benchmark performance (total return) -10.1%
NAV total return -10.5%

Period ended
31 March

Share price 2008

Share price 92.0p
Share price total return -12.2%

Market capitalisation £117m

Source: Thames River Capital.

Period ended
31 March

Revenue 2008

Total revenue income (£’000) 2,365
Income from operations before tax (£’000) 1,231

Revenue earnings per Sigma share 0.85p
Net dividend per share 0.85p
Net special dividend per share 1.10p

A special dividend of 1.10p per share was paid on 12 October 2007 to Sigma

Shareholders on the register at 5 October 2007. The special dividend arose as a

result of accrued earnings of 1.67p per share included in the Calculation Date NAV

for the Conversion of Ordinary shares into Sigma shares on creation of the  Sigma

Share class. The special dividend was a non-recurring payment.

At Inception
At 24 July

31 March 2007 %
Balance Sheet 2008 (Unaudited) Change

Investments held at fair value (£’000) 132,952 165,809 -19.8

Shareholders’ funds (£’000) 138,710 161,914 -14.3

Shares in issue at end of period (m) 127.7 131.8 -3.1

Gearing* 0% 3%

Net asset value per share 108.64p 122.85p -11.6
*taking into account cash held against debentures.

Sigma Shares
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Manager’s Report
Sigma Share Class

Marcus Phayre-Mudge MRICS Fund Manager
5 June 2008

portfolio has reflected market conditions; the rotation of

assets has been slower than I anticipated and the fund

has held net cash since launch. The cash position partly

reflected the process of stock repositioning (there rarely

being an opportunity for the simultaneous matching of

sales and purchases) but increasingly it became part of

my strategy given the broad negative trajectory of real

estate markets over the period. The cash holding peaked

at 5.9% (at the beginning of December) and was 3.2% of

NAV at the year end. 

My decision to eradicate gearing and hold cash was the

right one but with the benefit of hindsight I should have

sold even more stocks in the period immediately following

launch. At the time I judged that the large cap stocks had

borne the brunt of the initial market correction due to their

liquidity. I was nervous of selling what appeared to be

relatively cheap large cap stocks in order to invest in small

caps at precisely the point at which they caught up with

the wider market downturn. In part I was right – small cap

stocks did indeed catch a cold from their larger peers, but

the market as a whole had further to fall.

The benchmark is dominated by the biggest 34 stocks

(72% by market value at the year end). As I moved out of

large caps and into small caps, the portfolio has become

increasingly concentrated in a reduced number of

benchmark stocks as well as a growing number of stocks

outside the benchmark. As a result, short-term

performance against the benchmark has naturally become

Introduction

Sigma was created in July 2007. Its objective is to

maximise long term returns from a portfolio focused on

smaller sized property companies across Europe. Investors

in the Ordinary shares were given the opportunity to

convert Ordinary shares into Sigma shares at the ratio of

1 Sigma share for every 5 Ordinary shares. Take-up was

high and in the event just under 19% of the equity

elected to convert. An additional £9.96m (before costs) of

cash was also raised in a Placing. 

At inception the portfolio mirrored that of the Ordinary

share portfolio (the conversion excluded a share of the

direct property portfolio) together with a pro rata share of

the debt (both short term debt and the Debentures). The

initial portfolio therefore comprised 64% large

capitalisation stocks (defined as those with a market cap

of over £1bn) and 36% small caps. Taking account of the

additional cash raised, the effective gearing at inception

was 3.2%.

Performance

The first 8 months of the fund’s existence has been

dominated by the repositioning of the portfolio. The

process of the sale and reinvestment into smaller caps

has taken place against a backdrop of volatile and

generally negative market conditions. The Sigma share

NAV total return was minus 10.5% over the period, whilst

the FTSE EPRA/NAREIT European Property Index return

was minus 10.1%. The pace of reinvestment of the
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Manager’s Report continued

more volatile. My aim as Fund Manager is to pick

companies that can out-perform in the long term. In spite

of the short term under-performance of companies such

as Big Yellow, Great Portland and St. Modwen, I am

comfortable with our exposure. New investments which

have already performed well include Hansteen, Local

Shopping REIT, Foncière des Murs and DIC. My

judgement is that, viewed over the long term, all these

companies, and others in which we invest, will produce

superior returns over their peers.

Investment Activity

Investment activity has been greater than investors in the

Trust will have been used to. Including share buybacks, our

investment turnover (purchases plus sales divided by two)

was £47.3m, equivalent to 45% of average shareholders

funds in the period. This is more than double the rate of

turnover in the Ordinary share portfolio. Given that on the

day of conversion the portfolio was 64% large cap stocks,

investors may well have expected turnover to have been

even higher in this initial period of asset rotation. That it

wasn’t, is a reflection of the deliberate change in

investment tempo as market conditions altered over 

the year. 

There have been three clear phases of investment –

immediately post launch (July and August) when the

turnover was high but sales (£19m) outnumbered

purchases (£4.2m), a ratio of 5:1 as I quickly raised cash

(and cut the debt) in the falling market. From September

to December, sales declined as I remained reluctant to sell

those large caps which I felt had experienced the greatest

‘liquidity discount’. By December, the smaller caps had

followed the larger names downwards enabling Sigma to

start to acquire positions in stocks I had identified as

attractive but not correctly priced. The rally in the sector

from mid January to early March gave us the opportunity

to again accelerate the rotation of assets with £51m of

sales and purchases in the first quarter of 2008. By the

end of March small cap stocks accounted for 54% of the

portfolio. Given that prices have generally fallen over the

period, it would be fair to have expected the number of

stocks in our universe (all those companies with a market

capitalisation of less than £1bn) to have increased.

24 July 24 July 31 March 31 March
2007 2007 2008 2008

UK Index SIGMA Index SIGMA

City Offices 4.9% 4.4% 4.9% 2.9%
West End Offices 6.2% 8.9% 6.2% 7.2%
West End Retail 1.7% 4.4% 1.7% 4.3%
Docklands 0.1% 1.1% 0.1% 1.1%
GLC/SE Offices 1.0% 10.1% 1.0% 9.6%
Provincial Offices 0.9% 0.6% 0.9% 0.5%
In town Retail 7.9% 6.9% 7.9% 6.6%
Supermarkets 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 0.9%
Retail Warehouses 4.5% 4.1% 4.5% 2.7%
Out of Town Retail 2.5% 1.7% 2.5% 0.8%
SE Industrials 3.4% 5.6% 3.4% 4.3%
Other Industrials 1.3% 1.7% 1.3% 1.5%
Self Storage 0.3% 2.5% 0.3% 2.7%
Leisure 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.6%
Residential 2.8% 4.2% 2.8% 2.7%
Other 0.3% 1.0% 0.3% 1.0%

Total UK 39.8% 59.0% 39.8% 49.3%

Austria 3.0% 0.2% 3.0% 0.1%
Belgium Offices & Industrial 2.6% 1.0% 2.6% 0.4%
Belgium Retail 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.2%
Central Europe Offices 0.8% 0.6% 0.8% 0.9%
Central Europe Retail 1.4% 0.8% 1.4% 0.8%
Central Europe Logistics 0.5% 0.4% 0.5% 0.2%
Central Europe Residential 0.4% 0.5% 0.4% 1.0%
Central Europe Other 0.1% 0.3% 0.1% 0.6%
Denmark 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1%
Finland 1.8% 0.9% 1.8% 0.6%
French Retail 7.7% 5.3% 7.7% 7.4%
French Offices 6.9% 6.7% 6.9% 5.7%
French Logistics 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.3%
French Residential 0.9% 1.2% 0.9% 1.0%
French Other 0.9% 1.2% 0.9% 2.0%
German Offices 3.0% 1.7% 3.0% 3.3%
German Retail 1.2% 0.4% 1.2% 0.8%
German Logisitics 0.7% 0.5% 0.7% 1.1%
German Residential 3.0% 1.6% 3.0% 0.4%
German Other 0.5% 0.4% 0.5% 0.5%
Greece 0.4% 0.4% 0.4% 0.8%
Italian Offices & Industrial 2.1% 2.4% 2.1% 1.4%
Italian Retail 1.7% 1.1% 1.7% 4.8%
Italian Residential 0.5% 0.4% 0.5% 0.2%
Netherlands Offices 

& Industrial 1.3% 0.5% 1.3% 1.4%
Netherlands Retail 3.2% 2.0% 3.2% 1.2%
Norway 1.3% 0.0% 1.3% 0.0%
Russian Offices & Industrial 0.1% 0.2% 0.1% 0.5%
Russian Retail 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.3%
Russian Residential 0.0% 0.2% 0.0% 0.6%
Russian Other 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1%
Spain 2.0% 1.3% 2.0% 0.7%
Sweden Offices 3.3% 2.6% 3.3% 3.0%
Sweden Retail 1.6% 1.4% 1.6% 3.7%
Sweden Industrial 1.1% 1.4% 1.1% 2.0%
Sweden Residential 0.0% 0.4% 0.0% 0.5%
Sweden Other 0.7% 0.6% 0.7% 0.7%
Switzerland 2.7% 0.5% 2.7% 0.0%
Other Overseas 0.7% 0.4% 0.7% 0.5%

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

See-Through Portfolio by Market (%) 
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Distribution of Assets

The rotation of assets has resulted in a marked change to

the distribution of assets. The table on page 31 explains

the ‘see-through’ portfolio by country and sub-market with

a comparison between the date of conversion and the

year end. The most prominent feature has been the

reduction in exposure to UK assets and a commensurate

increase in a number of Continental European sub-

markets. Land Securities and British Land are heavily

exposed to retail and City offices (53% and 22% of their

respective assets) and I am comfortable with the reduction

in our exposure to these particular UK sub-markets at

the moment.

Our search for high quality smaller cap real estate stocks

across Europe is driven from a bottom up perspective and

we do not have national, regional or sector allocation

targets. However, the macro economic environment in

which each of our holdings operates is clearly important

and the asset distribution table does highlight particular

areas of concentration. In Western Europe our investment

activities are concentrated in France and Germany.

Earnings growth has been particularly robust in France,

where the annual indexation multiple (applied to all leases)

is tied in part to the cost of construction (it rose 5.5% in

2007). In Germany, there are surprisingly few quoted

property companies of merit given its status as Europe’s

largest economy. However, Germany’s export-led success,

coupled with the low level of home ownership, will help

that economy weather the consumer driven slowdown

which we anticipate in many other Western European

economies. In Scandinavia, our focus has been on

Sweden. We have reduced exposure to Finland, where

Helsinki has an oversupply of office space and Denmark,

where falling house prices are contributing to an

economic slowdown. 

Whilst the exposure to residential property has continued

to decrease in Western Europe, the opposite has been the

case in selected Emerging European markets where there

continues to be both tremendous demand and stable

domestic bank lending to owner occupiers (in contrast to

many Western European markets). We remain concerned

However, one of our largest ‘small’ caps at launch,

Eurocommercial Properties (currently 1.7% of the fund)

ended the year with a market capitalisation of £1.008bn

and is thus excluded from this statistic. 

Largest Equity Investments

The consequence of this intensive investment activity can

be seen in the table on page 34 which compares the top

20 holdings on the date of conversion (24 July) with the

year end. Back in July, 15 of the names were large cap

stocks; by the end of March only 7 remain in the top 20.

Although Unibail, Land Securities and British Land

(Europe’s three largest property companies) remain the

fund’s biggest individual holdings, their collective weight

has reduced from over 30% of the portfolio to less than

20% and this figure continues to fall. 

The rotation has resulted in investment in 46 companies.

As I mentioned in the interim report, acquisitions have

been split between additions to existing inherited holdings

and new companies. In the former category are

St. Modwen, Great Portland Estates, Big Yellow Group,

Kardan, Kungsleden and Castellum. The common theme is

the strength and continuity of longstanding management

where each company is focused on a geographic niche or

particular property sub-market. The second group are

companies which we had investigated, liked and where we

had made initial modest investments within the Ordinary

portfolio but had found it difficult to build significant

positions, relative to the size of the portfolio. This group

includes Local Shopping REIT, Shaftesbury and CLS,

Foncière Paris France, Zueblin Immobiliere, Foncière des

Murs, DIC, Alstria, Plaza, Wallenstam, Hansteen, NR

Nordic & Russia Properties, Nanette and Rose Group

International. All of these original positions have been

significantly added to and 7 of them are now in the top 20

holdings. The third and final group are new companies not

previously held by the Trust. Both Argan, a French family

run logistics development business, and IFM, a German

office redevelopment business are companies I

commented on at the half year and I have continued to

add to our holdings more recently. 
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that weaker planning regimes will ultimately lead to

oversupply in certain sub-markets and our focus has been

on those companies with a develop-and-sell (both

commercial and residential) rather than a develop-and-

hold strategy. Our geographic focus has primarily been

Russia, Poland, Hungary and Bulgaria. 

Revenue

Sigma paid a special dividend of 1.10p last October from

the revenue it inherited at the time of its creation. This

reflected the fact that the Trust receives approximately

40% of its income in the first quarter of the financial year.

Sigma’s objective is to maximise returns from a portfolio

focused on smaller property companies. Looking across

Europe these smaller companies are generally focused

more on total return than income and I highlighted in the

prospectus that Sigma would expect to have a lower

dividend yield than the Ordinary shares going forward. The

interim dividend, paid in December, was a modest 0.20p

reflecting the likelihood of lower income receipts from the

new portfolio and the fact that it covered the short period

since inception. In fact, the one bright spot has been the

sharp increase in our revenue per share as dividend

growth has been better than expected. In addition, one of

the side effects of the slower than expected rotation of

assets has been greater income receipts as the portfolio

still contains a number of higher yielding larger stocks.

The final dividend of 0.65p recommended by the Board is

equal to the total earnings in the period. As noted in the

Chairman’s statement, revenue per share is expected to

increase by 5% to 10%. Sigma’s revenue will be less

predictable than the Ordinary share class as I continue to

rotate the portfolio, both expanding existing holdings as

well as identifying and investing in new businesses in the

coming year.

Unquoted Investments

The Sigma share class currently holds no unquoted equity

investments.

Gearing and Debentures

The initial strategy was to have no gearing, the inherited

short term floating rate debt was quickly repaid and as

explained earlier, I raised cash not only to hold against

Sigma’s share of the Debentures (£7.59m) but also as part

of the investment strategy. The cash position (net of

Debentures) peaked at £7.9m at the beginning of

December (5.9% of NAV) and was £6.9m (5% of NAV) at

the year end. The reduction in the last quarter reflected my

view that more attractive pricing was beginning to appear

in certain small cap stocks. 

I have also attempted, in the asset rotation process, to

reduce exposure to higher leveraged companies where

the debt is not secured against strong income streams.

Although Sigma currently has no borrowings, virtually all

the companies I invest in do have debt. The ‘see-through’

loan to value which adds the proportionate debt of all our

equity holdings, was 39%, the Benchmark figure was

higher at 42%. I anticipate that this defensive position will

persist in the short term. 

Marcus Phayre-Mudge

Fund Manager – Sigma share class

UK Securities
52.8%

Total
Overseas 47.2%
Total
United Kingdom 52.8% 

as at 31 March 2008

European 
Securities 
47.2%

 

Distribution of Investments

as at 31 March 2008 £’000 %

UK Securities 70,128 52.8

European Securities:

France 29,257 22.0

Sweden 9,465 7.1

Netherlands 8,904 6.7

Germany 7,839 5.9

Other 7,359 5.5

Total investments 132,952 100.0
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Sigma Share Class

Opening Appreciation/ Valuation
Valuation Purchases Sales (Depreciation) 2008

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 %

Austria 2,263 – (1,893) (370) – –
Belgium 1,633 73 (1,413) 78 371 0.3
Denmark – 552 – (226) 326 0.3
Finland 1,652 138 (455) (122) 1,213 0.9
France 33,761 6,502 (11,931) 925 29,257 22.0
Germany 4,486 5,381 (1,448) (580) 7,839 5.9
Greece 1,168 1,068 (125) (71) 2,040 1.5
Italy 2,852 – (590) (652) 1,610 1.2
Luxembourg 1,469 935 (323) (610) 1,471 1.1
Netherlands 9,640 3,744 (4,327) (153) 8,904 6.7
Norway 1,091 – (934) 19 176 0.1
Sweden 8,357 2,002 (1,166) 272 9,465 7.1
Switzerland 1,029 – (1,090) 213 152 0.1
Continental Europe 69,401 20,395 (25,695) (1,277) 62,824 47.2
Japan 183 – (176) (7) – –
UK 96,225 20,124 (28,197) (18,024) 70,128 52.8

165,809 40,519 (54,068) (19,308) 132,952 100

Changes in Investments

% of total equity 
Security No. of shares held Holding value in £’000 portfolio value

Land Securities 1,249,842 22,160 13.36%
Unibail-Rodamco 128,158 16,216 9.78%
British Land 1,016,821 13,788 8.32%
Big Yellow Group 1,343,051 7,393 4.46%
Segro 1,186,291 6,975 4.21%
St Modwen Properties 922,553 5,987 3.61%
Hammerson 423,675 5,605 3.38%
Foncière des Regions 67,797 5,043 3.04%
Castellum 783,800 4,930 2.97%
Great Portland Estates 709,656 4,741 2.86%
Liberty International 402,491 4,504 2.72%
Derwent London 204,423 3,833 2.31%
Klepierre 42,367 3,441 2.08%
Corio 74,864 2,866 1.73%
Eurocommercial Properties 103,165 2,660 1.60%
Gecina 31,775 2,619 1.58%
Quintain Estates 270,093 2,604 1.57%
Immoeast Immobilien Anlagen 317,757 2,115 1.28%
Kardan 218,829 1,807 1.09%
IVG Immobilien AG 95,327 1,785 1.08%

The value of the largest twenty holdings at inception totalled £121m and represented 73% of the portfolio.

Top 20 Holdings at Inception

% of total equity 
Security No. of shares held Holding value in £’000 portfolio value

Land Securities 740,000 11,167 8.40%
Unibail-Rodamco 85,000 11,022 8.29%
British Land 700,000 6,423 4.83%
Big Yellow Group 1,468,751 6,385 4.80%
Great Portland Estates 1,200,000 6,354 4.78%
Castellum 857,250 5,255 3.95%
St Modwen Properties 1,025,000 5,025 3.78%
Hansteen 4,017,269 4,610 3.47%
Local Shopping REIT 3,071,000 3,255 2.45%
Kardan 557,010 3,162 2.38%
Foncière des Murs 162,639 3,089 2.32%
DIC Asset 179,963 3,020 2.27%
Foncière Paris France 29,825 2,877 2.16%
Eurocommercial Properties 83,198 2,347 1.77%
Segro 450,000 2,286 1.72%
NR Nordic & Russia Properties 3,521,000 2,260 1.70%
Shaftesbury Estates 388,108 2,241 1.69%
Gecina 29,775 2,240 1.69%
Corio 50,000 2,212 1.66%
RGI International 508,792 2,182 1.64%

The value of the largest twenty holdings at 31 March 2008 totalled £87m and represented 66% of the portfolio.

Top 20 Holdings at 31 March 2008



TR Property Investment Trust 35

S
IG

M
A

 S
H

A
R

E
S

Sigma Share Class Investment portfolio by country

Market value
£'000 %

Belgium
Retail Estates 371 0.3

371 0.3

Denmark
TK Development 326 0.3

326 0.3

Finland
Citycon 743 0.6
Sponda 470 0.3

1,213 0.9

France
Unibail-Rodamco 11,022 8.3
Foncière Des Murs 3,089 2.3
Foncière Paris France 2,877 2.2
Gecina 2,240 1.7
Foncière des Régions 1,981 1.5
Klépierre 1,703 1.3
Icade 1,230 0.9
Foncière Lyonnaise 1,138 0.9
Argan 1,136 0.8
Silic 766 0.6
Foncière 6 et 7 611 0.5
Zueblin Immobiliere 605 0.4
Foncière Europe Logistique 464 0.3
Affine 256 0.2
Mines de la Lucette 139 0.1

29,257 22.0

Germany
DIC Asset 3,020 2.3
IFM Immobilien 1,407 1.0
IVG Immobilien 1,338 1.0
Alstria Office 1,165 0.9
Hahn-Immobilien 909 0.7

7,839 5.9

Greece
Babis Vovos International 1,678 1.2
Lamda Development 362 0.3

2,040 1.5 

Italy
Beni Stabili 1,029 0.8
Pirelli & C Real Estates 435 0.3
Risanamento 146 0.1

1,610 1.2

Luxembourg 
Orco Property Group 1,471 1.1

1,471 1.1

Netherlands 
Kardan 3,162 2.4
Eurocommercial Properties 2,347 1.8
Corio 2,212 1.7
Vastned Retail 571 0.4
Plaza Centres 461 0.3
Eurocastle 151 0.1

8,904 6.7

Market value
£'000 %

Norway
Scandinavian Property 176 0.1

176 0.1

Sweden
Castellum 5,255 4.0
Kungsleden 1,627 1.2
Wallenstam Byggnads 971 0.7
Fabege 728 0.5
Ljungberggruppen 389 0.3
Hufvudstaden 282 0.2
Wihlborgs Fastigheter 213 0.2

9,465 7.1

Switzerland
Zueblin Immobilien 152 0.1

152 0.1

United Kingdom
Land Securities 11,167 8.4
British Land 6,423 4.8
Big Yellow Group 6,385 4.8
Great Portland Estates 6,354 4.8
St Modwen Properties 5,025 3.8
Hansteen Holdings 4,610 3.5
Local Shopping REIT 3,255 2.5
Segro 2,286 1.7
NR Nordic & Russia Properties 2,260 1.7
Shaftesbury 2,241 1.7
Rose Group International 2,182 1.7
Hammerson 2,005 1.5
Mirland Development 1,306 1.0
Capital & Regional Props 1,262 0.9
Helical Bar 1,241 0.9
Orchid Developments 1,165 0.9
Liberty International 1,073 0.8
Quintain Estates & Developments 857 0.6
Rugby Estates 843 0.6
Nanette Real Estate 824 0.6
Brixton 792 0.6
Derwent London 759 0.6
McKay Securities 751 0.5
Unite Group 647 0.5
Bulgarian Land Development 549 0.4
Development Securities 487 0.4
CLS Holdings 481 0.4
Trinity Capital 477 0.4
Songbird Estates 441 0.3
Pactolus Hungarian 396 0.3
Equest Balkan Properties 330 0.2
Speymill Macau Property 272 0.2
London & Associated Properties 260 0.2
Terrace Hill 221 0.2
Regus 174 0.1
Town Centre Securities 163 0.1
Real Estate Opportunities 87 0.1
Eredene Capital 77 0.1

70,128 52.8

Total investments 132,952 100.0



36 TR Property Investment Trust

S
IG

M
A

 S
H

A
R

E
S

Twenty Largest Equity Investments – Sigma Portfolio

Shareholding Value (£m)
% of investment portfolio 
% of equity owned
Share price at Comment 
31 March 2008 Note: Market caps, yields and share price returns all at end March 2008.

1 Land Securities £11.2m Now relegated to Europe’s second largest quoted property company by 
(UK) 8.4% market capitalisation following the merger of Unibail with Rodamco. The £15 

0.2% billion of assets are all in the UK and are concentrated in shopping centres 
1509p (34%), retail warehousing (17%) and Central London offices (46%). Its

Trillium subsidiary is a market leader in property outsourcing. Gearing is
relatively low at 59%. A REIT since Jan 2007, it announced its future
intention to split into three (Central London, Retail and Trillium) subject to
cost and shareholder approval. Yield is 4.2%. The five year share price total
return has been 150%.

2 Unibail-Rodamco £11.0m Now Europe’s largest quoted property company by both market cap and 
(France) 8.3% gross assets, following the June 2007 merger with Rodamco. Its e25 billion 

0.1% portfolio is located mainly in France (60%) and Netherlands (16%) but the 
g162.65 group has a sizeable exposure to Spain (8%), Scandinavia (9%) and Central

Europe (7%). Post merger, the portfolio is 70% shopping centres, 24%
offices and industrials and 6% exhibition/convention centres. Gearing is
around 47% and the gross yield is 4.3%. The five year share price total return
has been 316%.

3 British Land £6.4m The company owns a prime portfolio valued at £16 billion, dominated by City  
(UK) 4.8% of London offices (30%) and UK retail property (57%), including a sizeable 

0.1% allocation to the retail warehouse sector (22%). British Land’s largest assets 
918p are Broadgate in the City and Meadowhall at Sheffield (the subject of an

abortive sale last year). Gearing is 81% and the yield is 3.8%. The five year
share price total return has been 150%.

4 Big Yellow Group £6.4m The UK’s largest quoted self storage company, operating primarily in 
(UK) 4.8% London and the South East from 49 stores, and with a development 

1.3% pipeline of a further 25 stores. The company became a REIT in April 
435p 2007. In November 2007 the company signed a JV with real estate

investment manager Pramerica to develop a portfolio of up to 25 stores in
Scotland and the North of England. Gearing is around 47% and the yield is
2.2%. The five year share price total return has been 574%.

5 Great Portland Estates £6.4m A specialist Central London office investment and development company, 
(UK) 4.8% which became a REIT in January 2007. The company operates both on its 

0.7% own account and through a number of joint ventures with institutions and 
530p other owners. Gearing is currently around 55% and the yield is 2.5%. The

five year share price total return has been 183%. 

6 Castellum £5.3m Based in Gothenburg, Castellum owns a £2.35 billion higher yielding 
(Sweden) 4.0% mixed commercial portfolio with some 550 properties located in Central 

0.5% and Southern Sweden. The business is run through a series of local 
SEK 72.25 offices. The yield is 4.1%. The gearing at 89% is low by Swedish standards.

The five year share price total return has been 206%.

7 St Modwen Properties £5.0m This company is a regeneration specialist operating throughout the UK. It 
(UK) 3.8% holds a large portfolio of sites totalling over 6,000 acres including the 

0.9% former Llanwern Steel Works in South Wales, the former Rover car 
490p assembly site at Longbridge and the Elephant and Castle Shopping Centre in

Southwark. Gearing is 126% and the net yield 2.4%. The five year share
price total return has been 272%.

8 Hansteen Holdings £4.6m Founded and run by the ex-management of Ashtenne, which was acquired 
(UK) 3.5% by Warner Estate in 2005. Invests in industrial property in continental 

2.3% Europe, predominantly in the Netherlands, Germany, Belgium and France. 
115p The company has recently announced that it will consider investing in the UK

in the future. Gearing is 65% and the net yield is 2.8%. Total shareholder
return since IPO in November 2005 of 17.4%.

9 Local Shopping REIT £3.3m A specialist investor in neighbourhood shopping in the UK with a £250m 
(UK) 2.5% portfolio of over 600 properties located throughout the country. The company 

3.3% listed in May 2007. Net initial yield was 6.5% in September 2007 and 
106p the gearing is 65%. The company is expected to pay a dividend of 

around 8p for the current year, a yield of 7.5%. 

10 Kardan £3.2m Listed in Amsterdam, Kardan is principally involved in emerging market 
(Netherlands) 2.4% real estate, infrastructure and financial services. It operates throughout 

0.7% Central and Eastern Europe as well as China, India and Israel. Since its 
g7.12 IPO in July 2003 the share price total return has been 352%.
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Shareholding Value (£m)
% of investment portfolio 
% of equity owned
Share price at Comment 
31 March 2008 Note: Market caps, yields and share price returns all at end March 2008.

11 Foncière Des Murs £3.1m A separately traded subsidiary of Fonciere des Regions. The company 
(France) 2.3% specialises in the hotel, leisure and nursing home sectors in France. 10% 

0.3% of the portfolio is located in Belgium, Portugal and Italy. Major tenants 
g23.82 include Ibis, Mercure and Novotel. Gearing is 134% and the yield is 

5.6%. 5 year total shareholder return is 440%.

12 DIC Asset £3.0m DIC invests in retail and office property in Germany, particularly larger cities 
(Germany) 2.3% in the West. Its ?2.2 billion portfolio of 349 properties is split between “core”, 

0.6% “value-added” and “opportunistic” properties. Gearing is relatively high at 
g21.05 202% and the yield is 7.8%. Total shareholder return has been 107% since

the IPO in December 2005.

13 Foncière Paris France £2.9m Commercial property investor and developer focused on the Ile de France 
(France) 2.2% region of France. ?428m portfolio of 39 assets generating a gross yield of 

1.7% 6.9%. Gearing is 60% and the yield is 4.5%. Since IPO in March 2006 
g121 the total shareholder return has been 0.2%.

14 Eurocommercial Properties £2.3m The company is based in London and listed in Amsterdam, with Dutch REIT
(Netherlands) 1.8% status. It specialises in the ownership and active management of medium 

0.2% sized shopping centres. The portfolio split is 38% Italy, 35% France, 22% 
g35.39 Sweden and 5% Holland. Gearing is 67% and the gross yield is 4.7%. The

five-year share price total return has been 131%.

15 Segro £2.3m Based in Slough, the company develops and owns offices and industrial 
(UK) 1.7% business parks principally in the UK, but also Paris, Brussels, Germany and

0.1% Central Europe. Gearing is 56% and the dividend yield is 4.5% The five year 
508p share price total return has been 106%. Became at REIT in January 2007.

16 NR Nordic & Russia £2.3m NRP (formerly Northern European Properties) invests in Nordic and Russian
Properties (Netherlands) 1.7% commercial and hotel property. The portfolio is heavily skewed towards 

0.7% Sweden and the industrial sector although the strategy is to increase the 
g0.81 weighting to Russia over time. The company paid a 5c dividend on top of an

ordinary dividend of 3.9c in April (total yield of 10.5%). Gearing of 40%.
Total shareholder return since IPO in November 2006 is -19.7%.

17 Shaftesbury £2.2m A specialist investor in the West End of London, predominantly in three 
(UK) 1.7% “urban villages” in Carnaby, Covent Garden and Chinatown. Exposure to 

0.3% retail, offices, leisure and residential. Gearing of 57% and dividend yield 
578p of1.4%. Five year total shareholder return of 284%.

18 Gecina £2.2m Gecina is a tax efficient SIIC with a e12.5 billion portfolio of mainly offices  
(France) 1.7% (57%) and residential property (35%). Historically centred on Paris, the 

0.1% company is expanding its geographic focus to include other French regions 
g94.38 and possibly other countries. The company also intends to diversify into

logistics, hotels and healthcare sectors. A disagreement at the parent company
level is likely to lead to the transfer of part of the office portfolio to Medea, a
company controlled by Metrovacesa. The dividend yield is 5.3% and gearing
around 65%. The five year share price total return has been 136%.

19 Corio £2.2m This large Dutch tax transparent company has a ?6.5 billion Pan European 
(Netherlands) 1.7% portfolio of shopping centres (83%) and offices (17%), located in the 

0.1% Netherlands (40%), France (31%), Italy (16%), Spain (8%) and Turkey 
g55.5 (5%). The yield is 4.7%. Gearing is 64%. The five year share price total

return has been 174%.

20 RGI International £2.2m Property developer focused on high-end residential and commercial 
(UK) 1.7% property in Moscow. Current portfolio of 10 projects totalling 23 million sq ft 

0.3% with a projected end value of $7.3 billion. The company has zero net debt. 
578p Total shareholder return since IPO in December 2006 is 42%.

Five year share price total returns are from Bloomberg using the period ended 31 March 2008 and are expressed in

local currency and assume the reinvestment of net dividends.

Twenty Largest Equity Investments – Sigma Portfolio continued
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Sigma Share Class Income Statement
period from inception to 31 March 2008

Period from inception to 31 March 2008
Revenue Capital Total

Return Return
£’000 £’000 £’000

Investment income 
Investment income 1,894 – 1,894
Interest receivable and similar income 471 – 471
Losses on investments held at fair value – (18,501) (18,501)

Total income 2,365 (18,501) (16,136)

Expenses
Management and performance fees (775) (388) (1,163)
Other expenses (94) – (94)

Total operating expenses (869) (388) (1,257)

Operating profit/(loss) 1,496 (18,889) (17,393)
Finance costs (265) (265) (530)

Profit/(loss) from operations before tax 1,231 (19,154) (17,923)

Taxation (126) 60 (66)

Net profit/(loss) 1,105 (19,094) (17,989)

Earnings/(loss) per Sigma share (note 9 on pages 68 and 69) 0.85p (14.73)p (13.88)p
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Sigma Share Class Balance Sheet
as at 31 March 2008

At inception
2008 24 July 2007
£’000 £’000

Non-current assets
Investments held at fair value 132,952 165,809

Current assets
Debtors 1,987 –
Cash and cash equivalents 14,552 7,127

16,539 7,127
Current liabilities (7,932) (3,428)

Net current assets 8,607 3,699

Total assets less current liabilities 141,559 169,508

Non-current liabilities (2,849) (7,594)

Net assets 138,710 161,914

Net asset value per Sigma share (see note 20b on page 81) 108.64p 122.85p
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Caroline Burton

Peter Salsbury 

Chairman
Hugh Seaborn FRICS

Chris Turner MRICS Jo Elliott ACAMarcus Phayre-Mudge MRICS

James Wilkinson MRICSChristian Roos

George Gay MRICSAngelique Ello

Karim Pabani MRICS

Nikki Williamson 

Directors

Managers

Peter WoltonRichard Stone FCAPaul Spencer
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Caroline Burton, age 58, joined the Board of

TRPIT in June 2002. She joined Guardian

Royal Exchange plc’s Investment Department

in 1973 and remained with the group until

1999. From 1987 she was Managing Director

of Guardian Asset Management, and, from

1990 to 1999, Executive Director –

Investments of the parent company. She is a

non-executive director of Rathbone Brothers

plc and Teesland Advantage Property Income

Trust Limited. She is also a Member of the

Management Committee of Hermes Property

Unit Trust. She advises a number of pension

funds and charities.

Chris Turner, age 62, has been the Fund

Manager since 1995, first at Henderson Global

Investors then, since October 2004, at Thames

River Capital. Prior to joining Henderson, Chris

was a property share analyst. He qualified as a

Chartered Surveyor in 1970.

Jo Elliott, age 46, has been Finance Manager

since 1995, first at Henderson Global

Investors then, since January 2005, at

Thames River Capital. She qualified with Ernst

& Young as a Chartered Accountant in 1988.

Marcus Phayre-Mudge, age 40, qualified as

a Chartered Surveyor in 1992. He joined

Thames River Capital in October 2004, having

spent the previous 7 years at Henderson

Global Investors, where he also worked on the

Trust, first as the Direct Property Manager

and, since 2002, as Deputy Fund Manager.

James Wilkinson, age 35, qualified as a

Chartered Surveyor in 1998. He joined Thames

River Capital in October 2004, from Henderson

Global Investors, where he worked as the

Direct Property Manager for the Trust. Since

the end of 2006 James has focused on the

equities portfolio, assisting Chris and Marcus.

George Gay, age 27, joined Thames River

Capital in 2005 as Assistant Direct Property

Manager and qualified as a Chartered

Surveyor in 2006. George was previously at

niche City investment agent, Morgan Pepper,

and has an MA in Property Valuation and Law

from City University.

Christian Roos, age 36, joined Thames River

Capital in September 2007 from Pramerica

real estate investors where he managed

European and Asian real estate securities

since 2005. Prior to that he was a sell side

analyst and has been covering real estate

securities for 7 years. 

Angelique Ello, age 25, joined Thames River

Capital in November 2007 as an

administration assistant. She graduated from

Middlesex University in 2004 with a BA

(Hons) in Political and International Studies

with German.

Karim Pabani, age 32, qualified as a

Chartered Surveyor in 2000. He joined

Thames River Capital in October 2006 from

Quintain Estates and Development plc. Prior

to this Karim was a Senior Asset Manager at

Legal & General. He specialises in direct

property investment and asset management.

Nikki Williamson, age 31, joined Thames

River Capital in 2003. She graduated from

Manchester University in 1999 with a BSc

(Hons) in Mathematics and Philosophy. She

joined the TRPIT team in April 2005 as

Investor Relations Manager.

Peter Salsbury, age 58, retired in 2000 as

Chief Executive of Marks and Spencer plc

(“M&S”). He now has a Management

Consultancy practice specialising in Executive

Coaching and Strategy. Additionally, he serves

on the Council and Strategy Committee of

City and Guilds. He was appointed a director

of Highway Insurance Holdings plc on

28 March 2006. During his 10 years on the

Board at M&S his responsibilities included

Commercial Estates, Retail Operations, HR, as

well as Sales and Marketing. He also served

on the Board of M&S Financial Services for 5

years. From 1992 until 1995 he was a

Director of NORWEB plc. He joined the

Board of TRPIT in 1997, and succeeded as

Chairman on 26 July 2004.

Hugh Seaborn, age 46, joined the Board of

TRPIT on 24 July 2007. Mr Seaborn is a

Chartered Surveyor and has considerable

experience in the property arena; he is

currently the Chief Executive Officer of the

Portman Estate, Chairman of the Westminster

Property Owners Association and a member

of the Council and Audit Committee of the

Duchy of Lancaster. After eight years,

Mr Seaborn will be leaving his role with the

Portman Estate, later in the year, to become

the Chief Executive of the Cadogan Estate. 

Richard Stone, age 65, was Deputy Chairman

of Coopers and Lybrand (“C&L”) in 1998 and a

member of the Global Board of

PricewaterhouseCoopers until he joined the

TRPIT Board in 2000. He headed up C&L’s

Corporate Finance Practice in the UK and

Europe, and was also an Insolvency

Practitioner. He brings a broad base of

business, financial and property experience to

the TRPIT Board. He is now Chairman of

Drambuie Limited, a senior independent

director of Halma plc, a non-executive director

of Candover Investments plc and a non-

executive director of Gartmore Global Trust plc.

He is Chairman of the TRPIT Audit Committee.

Paul Spencer, age 58, joined the Board of

TRPIT on 1 August 2007. Mr Spencer is the

Chairman of National Savings & Investment (a

Government funded body), Managed Pension

Funds Ltd and Sovereign Reversions plc. He

also sits on the Boards of Nipponkoa

Insurance Company (Europe) Ltd, WPP Group

Plc (where he chairs the Audit Committee)

and Resolution plc.

Peter Wolton, age 51, joined the Board of

TRPIT in January 2005. He qualified as a

Chartered Surveyor in 1980 with Savills and

joined Schroders in 1983 to manage UK

equities for institutional clients. He ran

Schroders’ asset management activities in

Japan from 1994 to 1998 and their global

retail business from 1998 to 2001. From 2002

to 2003 he was Chief Executive of Baring

Asset Management Ltd. He is a consultant to

Oxford Investment Partners, a member of the

Council of Queen Mary, University of London

and the Charities Aid Foundation (“CAF”)

Investment Advisory Committee. He is a

director of Dunedin Income Growth Investment

Trust plc and a former director of Schroder

Japan Growth Fund plc. 

Directors continued

Managers

All directors are independent of the manager and are members of the Audit Committee.



Introduction
This report is submitted in accordance with Schedule 7A to
the Companies Act 1985 (“the Act”) in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2008. The report also meets the relevant
Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority and
describes how the Board has applied the principles relating to
directors’ remuneration. As required by the Act, a resolution to
approve the report will be proposed at the AGM. 

Consideration by the Directors of Matters relating to
Directors’ Remuneration
Directors’ remuneration is reviewed annually by the
Management Engagement Committee which was formed in
November 2006 and comprises the Chairman and all
directors of the Company. The Management Engagement
Committee last met in March 2008.

Statement of the Company’s Policy on Directors’
Remuneration
The Board consists entirely of non-executive directors, who
are appointed with the expectation that they will serve for a
period of three years. Directors’ appointments are reviewed
formally every three years thereafter by the Board as a
whole. None of the directors has a contract of service and a
director may resign by notice in writing to the Board at any
time; there are no notice periods. The Company’s policy is
for the directors to be remunerated in the form of fees,
payable quarterly in arrears, to the director personally or to a

Directors’ Remuneration Report

Amount of each Director’s emoluments (audited)
The fees payable in respect of each of the directors who served during the financial year were
as follows:

AGM 31 March 31 March
rotation 2008 2007

date £ £

C M Burton 2008 24,329 21,000
J H M Newsum(1) – 5,250 21,000
P L Salsbury annual 59,966 35,000
R A Stone 2010 29,161 25,000
P H Wolton 2008 24,329 21,000
H Seaborn(2) 2010 17,120 –
P Spencer(3) 2008 16,644 –

TOTAL 176,799 123,000

Notes:
(1) Mr Newsum retired from the Board after the 2007 AGM. Mr Newsum’s fees were paid to Grosvenor Investments

Ltd. The amount paid was £5,250 + VAT.
(2) Mr Seaborn joined the Board on 24 July 2007. Mr Seaborn’s fees are paid to Portman Settled Estate Ltd. The

amount paid was £17,120 + VAT.
(3) Mr Spencer joined the Board on 1 August 2007.

No other remuneration, compensation or expenses were paid or payable by the Company
during the year to any of the current or former directors.
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third party specified by that director. There are no long term
incentive schemes, share option schemes or pension
arrangements and the fees are not specifically related to the
directors’ performance, either individually or collectively.

The Company’s policy is that the fees payable to the
directors should reflect the time spent by the Board on the
Company’s affairs and the responsibilities borne by the
directors and should be sufficient to enable candidates of
high calibre to be recruited. The policy is for the Chairman
of the Board and the Chairman of the Audit Committee to
be paid higher fees than the other directors in recognition
of their more onerous roles. It is intended that this policy
will continue for the forthcoming year.

In 2007 a review of directors’ fees was carried out by
Stephenson and Co alongside the usual annual Board
evaluation process. Its conclusion was that the fees should
be raised to reflect the increased demands of the role of
all directors, and the roles of Chairman and Audit
Committee Chairman in particular. In addition the scale of
the Trust and external trends were taken into account. As
a result from June 2007 directors’ fees were paid at the
annual rates of Chairman: £65,000 (2007: £35,000),
Audit Committee Chairman: £30,000 (2007: £25,000)
and Directors £25,000 (2007: £21,000). The actual
amounts paid to the directors during the financial year
under review are as shown in the box below.
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TR Property Ordinary share price total return, assuming the
investment of £1,000 on 31 March 2003 and the
reinvestment of all dividends (excluding dealing expenses).
(Source: Thames River Capital.)
S&P/Citigroup European Property Index total return until March 2007
then an EPRA Europe Index Total Return (in sterling) thereafter,
assuming the notional investment of £1,000 into the Index on
31 March 2003 and the reinvestment of all income (excluding
dealing expenses). (Source: Thames River Capital.)
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

By order of the Board

For and on behalf of 
Capita Company Secretarial Services Limited
Secretary
5 June 2008
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TR Property Sigma share price total return, assuming
investment of £1,000 on launch date, 24 July 2007 and the
reinvestment of all dividends (excluding dealing expenses).
(Source: Thames River Capital.)
EPRA Europe Index Total Return (in sterling), assuming the
notional investment of £1,000 into the Index on 24 July
2007 and the reinvestment of all income (excluding
dealing expenses). (Source: Thames River Capital.)

Performance Graph (total return) for Ordinary Share Class Performance Graph (total return) for Sigma Share Class
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● Basis of Accounting and IFRS

● Environmental Policy

The results and performance of the two share classes are
reviewed separately. Full details of each portfolio and the
Manager’s views on the outlook for the coming financial
year for each share class are covered in the Manager’s
Report for the Ordinary share class on pages 16 to 21
and for the Sigma share class on pages 30 to 33.

Ordinary share class
Objective and Strategy
The objective of the Ordinary share class of TR Property
Investment Trust plc is to maximise the shareholders’ total
returns by investing in property shares and property on an
international basis.

As at 31 March 2008, 87.5% of the Ordinary share class
assets were invested in Pan-European listed property
securities with the balance in directly owned UK real estate.

The Ordinary share class portfolio is total return focused and
future growth and capital appreciation potential is generally
regarded more highly than immediate initial yield or discount
to asset value. The investment selection process seeks to
identify well managed companies of all sizes, especially those
with a focus on a particular type of real estate business.
The investment policies are described on pages 2 to 4.

The Ordinary share class is a dedicated investor in real
estate and real estate securities and will continue to adhere
to this strategy.

Revenue and Dividends
2008 2007 Change

Revenue earnings per share 5.79p 4.09p +41.6%
Dividends per share 5.60p 4.10p +36.6%

Total earnings per share, which include capital losses on
investments, amounted to minus 68.62p per share.

The capital loss of 74.41p per share reflected the
performance of the property equity market through the
period which is covered in detail in the Manager’s Report.

Revenue earnings have increased by 41.6%, partly due to
the impact of some UK property companies converting to
REIT status and increasing the distributions and dividend
growth in European securities earnings.

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend
of 3.30p per Ordinary share. Subject to approval at the
AGM, the dividend will be paid on 5 August 2008 to

Report of the Directors

The directors present the audited accounts of the Group
and their report for the year ended 31 March 2008. The
Group comprises TR Property Investment Trust plc (“the
Company”) and its subsidiaries. In July 2007 a second
share class was introduced. The Company therefore had
two share classes at 31 March 2008, the Ordinary share
class and the Sigma share class. The review of the
business of the Company, recent events and outlook are
contained within the Chairman’s Statement, on pages 7 to
10, which forms part of this Report of the Directors by
reference.

Status
The Company is an investment company, as defined in
Section 833 of the Companies Act 2006, and operates as
an investment trust in accordance with Section 842 of the
Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988. It is required to
seek HM Revenue & Customs’ approval of its status as an
investment trust under the above-mentioned Section 842
every year, and this approval will continue to be sought.
HM Revenue & Customs’ approval of the Company’s
status as an investment trust has been received in respect
of the year ended 31 March 2007. The directors are of the
opinion that the Company has subsequently conducted its
affairs in a manner which will enable it to continue to gain
such approval. The Company has no employees and the
‘close company’ provisions do not apply.

Share capital
At 31 March 2008, the Company has two classes of
share: Ordinary shares of 25 pence each and Sigma
shares of 12.5 pence each. The Ordinary shares represent
69.6% and the Sigma shares represent 30.4% of the total
authorised share capital. The shares are in registered form.

Business Review
The following review is designed to provide information
primarily about the Company’s business and results for the
year ended 31 March 2008 and covers:

● Objective and Strategy

● Revenue and Dividends

● Capital Return

● Property Valuation

● Performance Measurement (KPI)

● Share Buy-back Activity

● Financial Instruments and Management of Risk

● Management Arrangements and Fees
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shareholders on the register at 4 July 2008. The Ordinary
shares will be quoted ex-dividend from 2 July 2008.

An interim dividend of 2.30p per Ordinary share was paid
on 9 January 2008. The total dividend in respect of the
year is, therefore, 5.60p per Ordinary share. 

The dividends shown in the Group Statement of Changes in
Equity for the year are those dividends which have actually
been approved in the period, i.e. the final dividend relating to
the financial year ended 31 March 2007 (2.40p per share)
and the interim dividend for this period (2.30p per share).

Capital Return
2008 2007 Change

NAV per share 219.61p 290.78p -24.5%
Share price 188.25p 256.50p -26.6%

Falls in property equity share prices resulted in a reduction
of shareholders’ funds by 24.5%. The Benchmark
returned minus 25.4% on a price only basis.

Details of the investments are shown within the Manager’s
Report on pages 22 to 26.

Property Valuation
Valuations of all the Group’s properties as at 31 March
2008 have been carried out by external independent
valuers. These valuations have been adopted in the
accounts. Details of the values and changes in fixed
assets are shown in note 10 to the financial statements.

Performance Measurement
The directors consider performance measured against the
Benchmark to be the key performance indicator for the
share class. 

For the year to 31 March 2008 the Benchmark was the
FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Europe Index in Sterling. This index,
calculated by FTSE, is free float based and currently has
95 constituent companies.

On a total return basis the share class returned minus
22.9% against the Benchmark total return of minus 23.0%. 

The performance for the financial year just ended and the
outlook for the forthcoming financial year are covered in
detail in the Chairman’s Statement, Market Background
and Outlook and Ordinary Class Managers’ Report on
pages 7 to 28.

Share Buy-back Activity
The Board has not set a specific discount at which shares
will be repurchased. However, there has been considerable
activity in recent years and around 187 million Ordinary
shares have been repurchased since the Board first took
the decision to buy back shares in 1999. During the year
to 31 March 2008, the Company repurchased 14,116,714
Ordinary shares at an average cost of 216.90p per share.

Creation of the Sigma share class
At an EGM on 24 July 2007, the shareholders approved the
creation of a new class of shares, the Sigma share class.

Ordinary shareholders were offered the opportunity to
elect to convert part of their existing Ordinary shareholding
into the new Sigma share class which has the objective of
investing in smaller sized property companies. In addition,
institutional investors were offered the opportunity to
invest in a new issue of Sigma shares.

Elections to convert Ordinary shares into Sigma shares
were received in respect of 61,883,286 Ordinary shares in
aggregate, representing approximately 19.0% of the
Ordinary share capital in issue at that date. Under the
conversion, each Ordinary share converted into two Sigma
shares. Subscriptions for a further 8,029,175 Sigma
shares were received under the Placing, generating
proceeds of approximately £10 million.

The Net Asset Value of the total portfolio was calculated
as at the Conversion Date on the basis set out in the
prospectus dated 20 July 2007 and allocated between the
two share classes. The Net Asset Value of the Company
on this basis as at the close of business on the
Calculation Date was £808.6 million. As a result the Net
Asset Value allocated to the Ordinary Pool was £655
million and the total Net Asset Value of the Sigma Pool
was £160.7 million. The portfolios were subsequently
managed as discrete portfolios in each case by the
Manager of the particular share class, following the
investment objectives and policies of that share class and
which are set out on pages 2 to 4 of these accounts.

Sigma Share Class
Objective and Strategy
The objective of the Sigma share class is to maximise the
shareholders’ total returns by investing in the shares of
smaller property companies on an international basis.

Report of the Directors continued
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As at 31 March 2008 the portfolio was invested in Pan
European property shares. The original portfolio was
“inherited” from the Ordinary share class on creation at
24 July and 64% of this was large cap stocks. By
31 March 2008 this had reduced to 37% and the
repositioning of the portfolio is continuing as described in
more detail in the Manager’s Report on pages 29 to 39.

As with the Ordinary share class, the Sigma share class is
a dedicated investor in the real estate sector and will
continue to adhere to this strategy.

Revenue and Dividends
2008

Revenue earnings per Sigma share 0.85p
Dividends per Sigma share 0.85p
Special dividend per Sigma share 1.10p

Total earnings per Sigma share, which include capital losses
on investments amounted to minus 13.88p per share.

Revenue earnings for the period from inception to the
year end amounted to 0.85p per Sigma share.

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend
of 0.65p per Sigma share. Subject to approval at the
AGM, the dividend will be paid on 5 August 2008 to
Sigma shareholders on the register at 4 July 2008. The
shares will be quoted ex-dividend from 2 July 2008.

An interim dividend of 0.20p per Sigma share was paid on
9 January 2008 to shareholders on the register at
7 December 2007.

A special dividend of 1.10p per Sigma share was paid on
12 October 2007 to Sigma shareholders on the register
on 5 October 2007. The special dividend arose as a result
of accrued earnings included in the Calculation Date NAV
for the conversion of Ordinary shares into Sigma shares
on creation of the Sigma share class. The special dividend
was a non-recurring payment.

Capital Return
2008 Inception Change

NAV per Sigma share 108.64p 122.85p -11.6%
Sigma Share Price 92.00p 106.25p -13.4%

Falls in property equity prices resulted in a reduction in
shareholders funds of 11.6% per Sigma share. Over the
same period the price only element of the benchmark fell
by 11.5%.

Details of the investments held in the Sigma portfolio are
shown in the Manager’s Report on pages 34 to 37.

Performance Measurement
The directors consider performance measured against the
benchmark to be the key performance indicator for the
share class. The Benchmark for the share class is the
FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Europe Index in Sterling.

On a total return basis the Sigma share class returned
minus 10.5% against a Benchmark total return of minus
10.1%.

The performance for the financial year just ended and the
outlook for the forthcoming financial year are covered in
detail in the Chairman’s Statement, Market Background
and Outlook and Sigma Class Manager’s Report on pages
7 to 14 and 29 to 39.

Share Buy-back Activity
During the year to 31 March 2008, the Company
repurchased 4,115,747 Sigma shares at an average cost
of 85.6p per share.

Financial Instruments and the Management of Risk
By its nature as an investment trust, the portfolios of both
share classes are exposed to market price risk, foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk. The Company’s
policies for managing these risks are outlined in note 11
to the financial statements. Further information on the
management of risk and internal controls is contained in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 52 to 56.

Management Arrangements and Fees
Investment management services have been provided by
Thames River Capital LLP (“Thames River”), accounting
and administrative services by BNP Paribas Fund Services
UK Limited, custodial services by JPMorgan Chase and
corporate secretarial services by Capita Company
Secretarial Services Limited.

In accordance with DTR 4.2.8R (disclosure of related party
transactions and changes therein) the Company discloses
that it entered into a new Sigma Management Agreement
with Thames River on 20 June 2007 in relation to the
management of the Sigma share class, and an Amendment
and Restatement Agreement whereby the existing
Management Agreement has been amended to reflect the
creation of the Sigma share class and various consequential
changes. The full terms of the new agreement and changes
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were set out in the prospectus dated 20 June 2007 issued by
the Company for the proposed creation of the Sigma shares.

The significant terms of the fund management agreement
with Thames River are as follows:

● Notice Period
The investment management agreements (“IMAs”)
provide for termination of the agreements by either
party without compensation on the provision of not less
than 12 months’ written notice.

● Management Fees

Ordinary share class
A base management fee of 0.70% pa on the net asset
value of the Ordinary share class is payable quarterly in
advance to the Investment Manager. For the period up
to 31 March 2009 a rebate has been secured which
will reduce the management fee to 0.40% pa on that
portion of the share class net asset value which
exceeds £450 million. The fee is based on the share
class net asset value (determined in accordance with
the Association of Investment Companies (“AIC”)
method of valuation) on the last day of March, June,
September and December respectively.

Sigma share class
A base management fee of 1.10% pa on the net asset
value of the Sigma share class is payable quarterly in
advance to the Investment Manager. The fee is based on
the share class net asset value (determined in accordance
with the AIC method of valuation) on the last day of March,
June, September and December respectively.

The management fees include a number of services
such as administrative services and company secretarial
services which are provided by third parties. The
Company has a direct contractual relationship with the
parties providing these services and the fees incurred
are deducted from the gross fees due to Thames River.
This affords the Company a high degree of
transparency and control in respect of these services.

● Performance Fees
In addition to the management fees, the Board has
agreed to pay the Investment Manager performance
related fees in respect of a performance period if
certain performance objectives are achieved. 

Ordinary share class
A performance fee will become payable if the total
return of adjusted net assets attributable to Ordinary
shareholders, as defined in the IMA with Thames River,

at 31 March each year outperforms the total return of
the Company’s Benchmark plus 2% (the “hurdle rate”);
this outperformance (expressed as a perentage) will be
known as the “percentage outperformance”. Any fee
payable will be the amount equivalent to the adjusted net
assets attributable to Ordinary shareholders at 31 March
each year, multiplied by the percentage outperformance,
then multiplied by 15%.

The maximum performance fee payable in any period
will be 1% of the adjusted net assets attributable to
Ordinary shareholders. If any fee exceeds 1%, such
excess will be carried forward and applied to reduce
any percentage underperformance in future
performance periods. At 31 March 2008, an excess of
£3.1m is being carried forward.

Sigma share class
A performance fee will become payable if the total
return of adjusted net assets attributable to Sigma
shareholders, as defined in the IMA with Thames River,
at 31 March each year outperforms the total return of
the Company’s Benchmark plus 2% (the “hurdle rate”);
this outperformance (expressed as a percentage) will be
known as the “percentage outperformance”. Any fee
payable will be the amount equivalent to the adjusted
net assets attributable to Sigma shareholders at 
31 March each year, multiplied by the percentage
outperformance, then multiplied by 20%.

The maximum performance fee payable in any period will
be 5% of the adjusted net assets attributable to Sigma
shareholders unless the adjusted net assets at the end
of the period are less than at the beginning of the period
when the maximum performance fee payable will be
limited to 1% of the adjusted net assets attributable to
Sigma shareholders. If any fee exceeds the relevant cap
(5% or 1% as applicable), such excess will be carried
forward and applied to reduce any percentage
underperformance in future performance periods.

If the total return of Group equity shareholders’ funds for
any performance period is less than the hurdle rate for
the relevant performance period, such underperformance
(expressed as a percentage) will be carried forward. No
fee will be payable unless the total return on Group
equity shareholders’ funds for the particular share class
outperforms the hurdle rate, after taking into account any
accumulated percentage underperformance for previous
periods to the extent it is not offset by the
overperformance offsets described above.

Report of the Directors continued



48 TR Property Investment Trust

T
H

E
 G

R
O

U
P

/
C

O
M

P
A

N
Y

Report of the Directors continued

At 31 March 2008, 1.48% of under performance is
being carried forward.

Basis of Accounting and IFRS
On the basis of the Board’s expected long term split of
returns, in the form of capital gains and income in equal
proportions, the Group charges 50% of finance costs to
capital. One-third of the management fee is deemed to
relate to the administration of the Company and is
charged to revenue. The remainder is split on the same
basis as finance costs and 50% charged to capital. The
overall result is that two-thirds of the management fee is
charged to revenue and one-third to capital. All
performance fees are charged to capital.

Allocation of Costs between share classes
Each share class has its own management fee structure
and is invoiced directly for management fees which are
allocated between capital and revenue accounts on the
basis of accounting described above.

Administration costs incurred specifically by a single share
class are charged to that share class. 

The remaining corporate expenses are allocated to the
share class in the proportion to their relative Net Asset
Values at the end of the previous accounting period. For
the period between 24 July 2007 and 31 March 2008,
this is on the basis of the relative Net Asset Values on the
creation of the Sigma share class, 81% to the Ordinary
share class and 19% to the Sigma share class.

Environmental Policy
The Company considers that good corporate governance
extends to policies on the environment and has therefore
adopted an environmental policy in respect of its
investments in both physical property and listed property
companies. Within the context of the overall aim of the
Company to maximise shareholders’ returns, we will seek
to limit our own and our investee companies’ impact on
the environment. We will comply with all relevant
legislation relating to our operations and activities.

We review the environmental statements and behaviour of
all the companies in which we invest and take these into
account in decision-making. We recognise that good
environmental management can play a part in overall risk
management and also have a financial impact in terms of
savings through energy and water efficiency. Where
appropriate, our managers will engage with investee

companies to raise concerns about environmental matters.

So far as direct property investments in the Ordinary share
class portfolio are concerned, the Company conducts
environmental audits prior to purchase to identify possible
contamination or materials considered environmentally
harmful. We will take remedial action or enforce tenant
obligations to do so wherever appropriate. We and our
advisers assess the environmental impact of our
properties on an ongoing basis and will take all necessary
action to comply with our environmental responsibilities.

Amendments to Articles of Association
Any amendments to the Articles of the Company may be
made in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Acts by way of special resolution. A resolution will be put
to the AGM and separate Class Meetings to be held on
29 July 2008 to amend the Articles. Details of the
specific changes being proposed are set out in full in the
explanatory notes to the notice convening the AGM set
out on pages 89 to 91.

Annual General Meeting
The AGM will be held on Tuesday, 29 July 2008 at
12 noon. The Notice of Meeting is set out on pages 82
and 83, and an explanation of the business to be
conducted is given on pages 83 and 84.

Two items of Special Business are to be proposed at the
AGM. Resolution 11 and 12 will be proposed as special
resolutions.

Resolution 11 – Authority to Purchase Own Shares
The Company’s Articles permit the Company to purchase its
own shares out of capital profits. Under the Listing Rules of
the Financial Services Authority a company is permitted to
purchase up to 14.99% of its issued equity share capital
through market purchases pursuant to a general authority
granted by shareholders in general meeting.

The current authority which permits the Company to
purchase up to 14.99% of its issued Ordinary and Sigma
shares expires at the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM.
The Board believes that the Company should continue to
have authority to make market purchases of its own
Ordinary and Sigma shares for cancellation. The Board is
therefore seeking to renew its power to make market
purchases of Ordinary and Sigma shares. Accordingly, a
special resolution to authorise the Company to make
market purchases of up to 14.99% of the Company’s
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issued Ordinary and Sigma share capital at the date of the
AGM is proposed, with the shares purchased to be
cancelled. Based on the number of shares in issue at the
date of this Report, 14.99% of the Company’s issued
Ordinary share capital is equivalent to 38,599,250
Ordinary shares and 14.99% of the Company’s issued
Sigma share capital is equivalent to 19,124,242 Sigma
shares. These figures have been calculated on the basis
that there is no change in the issued share capital
between the date of this Report and the AGM to be held
on 29 July 2008.

Any purchase of shares would be made at a discount to
the prevailing Net Asset Value, thus enhancing the Net
Asset Value of the remaining shares. The terms of the
resolution will restrict the price payable to the effect that it
could not be less than 25p per share for Ordinary shares
and 12.5p per share for Sigma shares (being the nominal
values) and not more than 5% above the average of the
closing mid-market quotations for the five business days
immediately preceding the date on which the Company
agrees to buy the shares concerned.

Resolution 12 – New Articles of Association
We are asking shareholders to approve new Articles of
Association in substitution for the current Articles of
Association primarily to reflect the provisions of the Companies
Act 2006. The proposed changes are detailed in the
explanatory notes on pages 89 to 91.

Recommendation
The directors consider that the resolutions are in the
interests of the Company and shareholders taken as a
whole and recommend that all shareholders vote in favour
of the resolutions, as the directors intend to, in respect of
their own beneficial holdings of Ordinary and Sigma
shares amounting, in aggregate, to 290,834 shares.

Other Statutory Information
Directors’ Interests in Shares
The directors’ interests in the share capital of the
Company are shown in the tables above.

There were no contracts subsisting during or at the end of
the year in which a director of the Company is or was
materially interested and which is or was significant in
relation to the Company's business. No director has a
contract of service with the Company. 

Payment of Suppliers
It is the Company's payment policy for the current financial
year to obtain the best possible terms for all business. The
Company agrees with its suppliers the terms on which
business will take place and it abides by these terms. There
were no trade creditors at 31 March 2008 (2007: same).

Share Capital Changes
At 1 April 2007 the Company had 334,600,000 Ordinary
shares in issue. Up to 24 July 2007, the Company made
market purchases for cancellation of 8,800,000 Ordinary
shares of 25 pence each representing approximately
2.63% of the issued share capital as at 31 March 2007;
the aggregate consideration paid was £20,479,000. The
number of Ordinary shares in issue on 24 July 2007 was
325,800,000.

On 24 July 2007, 61,883,286 Ordinary shares were
converted to Sigma shares, representing approximately
19.0% of the Ordinary share capital in issue at that date.
Under the conversion, each Ordinary share converted into
two Sigma shares. Subscriptions for a further 8,029,175
Sigma shares were received under a placing, generating
net proceeds of £10,050,050. Following implementation
of the Conversion and Placing the company had
263,916,714 Ordinary shares and 131,795,747 Sigma
shares in issue.
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Ordinary share class 31 March 1 April
2008 2007

Ordinary Ordinary 
shares shares
of 25p of 25p

With beneficial interest:

C M Burton 18,700 22,000

P L Salsbury 32,500 55,000

R A Stone 70,000 80,000

P H Wolton 10,104 7,500

H Seaborn 5,885 –

P Spencer – –

There have been no changes in the directors’ interests between the end
of the financial year and the date of this report.

Sigma share class 31 March
2008 

Sigma
shares 

of 12.5p 

With beneficial interest:

C M Burton 6,600

P L Salsbury 65,000

R A Stone 50,000

P H Wolton 20,000

H Seaborn 12,045

P Spencer –

There have been no changes in the directors’ interests between the end
of the financial year and the date of this report.
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Between 25 July 2007 and 31 March 2008 the Company
made market purchases for cancellation of 5,316,714
Ordinary shares for an aggregate consideration of
£10,104,000 and 4,115,747 Sigma shares for an
aggregate consideration of £3,511,845. This represents a
further 1.59% of the Ordinary share capital in issue at
31 March 2007. At 31 March 2008 258,600,000 Ordinary
shares and 127,680,000 Sigma shares were in issue.

Since 1 April 2008, and up to the date of this document,
the Company has made further market purchases for
cancellation of 1,100,000 Ordinary shares of 25 pence
each for an aggregate consideration of £1,924,165 and
100,000 Sigma shares of 12.5 pence each for an
aggregate consideration of £86,000.

At the AGM in 2007 the directors were given power to buy
back 49,496,980 Ordinary shares of 25 pence each. Since
the AGM the directors have bought back 15,216,714
shares under this authority. The outstanding authority is
therefore 34,280,266 shares. This authority will expire at
the 2008 AGM. At the EGM held on 24 July 2007, the
directors were given power to buy back 19,756,182 Sigma
shares of 12.5 pence each. Since the EGM the directors
have bought back 4,215,747 Sigma shares under this
authority. The outstanding authority is therefore 15,540,435
Sigma shares. This authority will also expire at the 2008
AGM. The Company will seek to renew the power to make
market purchases of Ordinary and Sigma shares at this
year’s AGM.

Rights and obligations attaching to shares
Subject to applicable statutes and other shareholders’
rights, shares may be issued with such rights and
restrictions as the Company may by ordinary resolution
decide, or (if there is no such resolution or so far as it
does not make specific provision) as the Board may
decide. Subject to the Articles, the Companies Acts and
other shareholders’ rights, unissued shares are at the
disposal of the Board. 

Voting
At a general meeting of the Company, when voting is by a
show of hands, each holder of Ordinary shares and each
holder of Sigma shares has one vote. If a poll vote is
called for then each holder of Ordinary shares has a
weighted vote in accordance with the underlying Net
Asset Value of each Ordinary share and similarly each
Sigma shareholder has a weighted vote in accordance
with the underlying Net Asset Value of each Sigma share.

The procedure used to determine the relevant weighting of
each share is outlined in the Articles. The number of votes
given to each shareholder on a poll is determined by
multiplying the ‘Share Voting Number’ by the number of
shares held by each shareholder. For each class of share
the ‘Share Voting Number’ is a number equal to the Net
Asset Value of the assets attributable to that class, divided
by the number of shares in that class in issue on the
Voting Calculation Date (a date six weeks before the
general meeting is convened). The Net Asset Values of the
assets attributable to each class of shares is calculated
every day by the Administrator.

Restrictions on voting
Holders of Sigma shares do not have the right to vote, at
general meetings of the Company, on resolutions which
relate only to the Ordinary shares, other than where the
Board determines that such a resolution will have a
substantial adverse impact on the holders of Sigma shares
and/or where it is a requirement of the Listing Rules that
all shareholders are entitled to vote. The same restrictions
on voting apply to the holders of Ordinary shares in
relation to the Sigma shares.

No member shall be entitled to vote at any general meeting
or class meeting in respect of any shares held by them if
any call or other sum then payable by them in respect of
that share remains unpaid. Currently, all issued shares are
fully paid. In addition, no member shall be entitled to vote if
he has been served with a restriction notice (as defined in
the Articles) after failure to provide the Company with
information concerning interests in those shares required to
be provided under the Companies Acts.

Deadlines for voting rights
Votes are exercisable at the general meeting of the
Company in respect of which the business being voted
upon is being heard. Votes may be exercised in person, by
proxy, or in relation to corporate members, by corporate
representatives. 

The Articles provide a deadline for submission of proxy
forms of not less than 48 hours (or such shorter time as
the Board may determine) before the meeting (not
excluding non-working days).

Transfer of shares
Any shares in the Company may be held in uncertificated
form and, subject to the Articles, title to uncertificated
shares may be transferred by means of a relevant system.
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Subject to the Articles, any member may transfer all or any
of his certificated shares by an instrument of transfer in
any usual form or in any other form which the Board may
approve. The instrument of transfer must be executed by
or on behalf of the transferor and (in the case of a partly-
paid share) the transferee. 

The Board may, in its absolute discretion and without
giving any reason, decline to register any transfer of any
share which is not a fully paid share. The Board may also
decline to register a transfer of a certificated share unless
the instrument of transfer: (i) is duly stamped or certified
or otherwise shown to the satisfaction of the Board to be
exempt from stamp duty and is accompanied by the
relevant share certificate and such other evidence of the
right to transfer as the Board may reasonably require; (ii)
is in respect of only one class of share; and (iii) if joint
transferees, are in favour of not more than four such
transferees.

The Board may decline to register a transfer of any of the
Company’s certificated shares by a person with a 0.25%
interest (as defined in the Articles) if such a person has
been served with a restriction notice (as defined in the
Articles) after failure to provide the Company with
information concerning interests in those shares required
to be provided under the Companies Acts, unless the
transfer is shown to the Board to be pursuant to an arm’s
length sale (as defined in the Articles).

Declarations of interests in voting rights of the Company,
at 30 April 2008, are set out above.

In addition, at 30 April 2008 the following shareholders held
over 3% of the voting rights on a non-discretionary basis:

Declarations of interests in voting rights of the Company
held over 3% of the voting rights on a non-discretionary
basis:

*See page 50 for further information on the voting rights of Ordinary
and Sigma shares.

ISAs/PEPs
The Company has conducted its affairs, and will continue
to conduct its affairs, in such a way as to comply with the
Individual Savings Accounts and Personal Equity Plans
Regulations. Both Ordinary shares and Sigma shares can
be held in Individual Savings Accounts. 

Directors’ Indemnity
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance cover is in place
in respect of the directors. The Company’s Articles of
Association provide, subject to the provisions of UK
legislation, an indemnity for directors in respect of costs
which they may incur relating to the defence of any
proceedings brought against them arising out of their
positions as directors, in which they are acquitted or
judgement is given in their favour by the court.

To the extent permitted by law and by the Company’s
Articles of Association, the Company has entered into deeds
of indemnity for the benefit of each director of the Company
in respect of liabilities which may attach to them in their
capacity as directors of the Company. These provisions,
which are qualifying third party indemnity provisions as
defined by section 234 of the Companies Act 2006, were
introduced in January 2007 and currently remain in force.

Directors’ Statement as to Disclosure of Information to
Auditors
The directors who were members of the Board at the time
of approving the Report of the Directors are listed on
page 41 of these financial statements. Each of these
directors confirms that:
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% of Ordinary
share voting

Shareholder rights*

Legal & General Investment Management Limited (UK) 4.85

Significant Voting Rights – Ordinary shares

% of Ordinary
Shareholder share voting

rights*

TR Property ISA/PEP and Shareplan Schemes 7.12
Rensburg Sheppards Investment Management Limited 6.38
Brewin Dolphin Securities Limited 4.81
JPMorgan Asset Management (UK) Limited 4.49
F&C Investment Management Limited 3.55
UBS Wealth Management (UK) Limited 3.11

% of Sigma
share voting

Shareholder rights*

Legal & General Investment Management Ltd. (UK) 4.89

M&G Investment Management Ltd 4.42

Significant Voting Rights – Sigma shares

% of Sigma
Shareholder share voting

rights*

Reliance Mutual Insurance Society Ltd. 9.95

Heartwood Wealth Management Limited 9.07

JPMorgan Asset Management (UK) Limited 7.66

Insight Investment Management (Global) Limited 6.87

Merseyside Pension Fund 3.16
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Corporate Governance

● to the best of each director’s knowledge and belief,
there is no information relevant to the preparation of
their report of which the Company’s auditors are
unaware; and

● each director has taken all the steps a director might
reasonably be expected to have taken to be aware of
relevant audit information and to establish that the
Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

Shareholder Information
Further information on the Company can be found on
pages 93 to 94 and on the inside back cover.

Going Concern
The directors believe that it is appropriate to continue to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts
as the assets of the Company consist mainly of securities
which are readily realisable and, accordingly, it has
adequate financial resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future.

Registered Auditor
A resolution to re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as the
Company’s Auditor will be put to shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM.

Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance Report
The Board of Directors is accountable to shareholders for

the governance of the Company’s affairs.

Application of the AIC Code’s Principles
This statement describes how the principles of the

Combined Code on Corporate Governance (“the Code”)

issued by the Financial Reporting Council in June 2006

have been applied to the affairs of the Company. 

In applying the principles of the Code, the directors have

also taken account of the Code of Corporate Governance

published by the AIC, which established the framework of

best practice specifically for the Boards of investment trust

companies. There is some overlap in the principles laid

down by the two Codes and there are some areas where

the AIC Code is more flexible for investment trust

companies.

The directors believe that during the period under review

they have complied with the provisions of the Code,

insofar as they apply to the Company’s business, and with

the provisions of the AIC Code. 

Composition and Independence of the Board 
The Board currently consists of six directors, all of whom

are non-executive and are independent of the Investment

Manager. None of the directors have any other links to

the Investment Manager: they all have other professional

employment. 

Powers of the Directors
Subject to the Company’s Memorandum of Association, the
Articles, the Companies Acts and any directions given by
special resolution, the business of the Company is
managed by the Board who may exercise all the powers of
the Company, whether relating to the management of the
business of the Company or not. In particular, the Board
may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow
money and to mortgage or charge any of its undertaking,
property, assets and uncalled capital and to issue
debentures and other securities and to give security for any
debt, liability or obligation of the Company to any third party.

Directors
Directors’ retirement by rotation and re-election is subject to
the Articles of Association, the Combined Code published in
June 2006 and the AIC Code of Corporate Governance.

The Articles of Association require that up to one-third of
the directors must retire every year and that every director
must retire by rotation at least every three years. They
may then offer themselves for re-election. The terms of the
directors’ appointments also provide that a director shall be
subject to election at the first AGM after appointment and
to re-election at least every third year thereafter. Under the
Company’s current Articles of Association, all directors
must retire by the next AGM after they attain the age of 70.

The directors retiring by rotation at the forthcoming AGM
are Mr Wolton and Ms Burton who, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election. Mr Salsbury has served on the
Board for more than nine years. In accordance with the
Combined Code on Corporate Governance, he will stand
for annual re-election by shareholders and offers himself
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. 

The Board has considered the continued appointment of Mr

Salsbury, who has served on the Board for eleven years. He

has no other links to the Investment Manager. The Board

subscribes to the AIC Code view that length of tenure is not

in itself felt to be an issue, rather the directors’ contribution.

The Board is conscious of the need to maintain continuity

on the Board and believes that retaining directors with
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sufficient experience of both the Company and the markets

is of great benefit to shareholders. Moreover, long-serving

directors are less likely to take a short-term view. The Board

has concluded that Mr Salsbury continues to make a

valuable contribution and, notwithstanding his length of

service, believes that he remains independent in character

and judgement. Accordingly, all six directors are regarded as

being free of any conflicts of interest and no issues in

respect of independence arise. 

The Chairman is Mr Salsbury. A senior independent

director has not been identified as the Board considers

that all the directors have different qualities and areas of

expertise on which they may lead when issues arise, and

to whom concerns can be conveyed. The directors’

biographies, on page 41, demonstrate the breadth of

investment, commercial and professional experience

relevant to their positions as directors of the Company. 

Paul Spencer was appointed to the Board with effect from

1 August 2007. Mr Spencer is Chairman of National

Savings & Investment (a Government funded body),

Managed Pension Funds Ltd and Sovereign Reversions

plc. He also sits on the Boards of Nipponkoa Insurance

Company (Europe) Ltd, WPP Group Plc (where he chairs

the Audit Committee) and Resolution plc. In accordance

with the Articles of Association a resolution to elect

Mr Spencer as a director will be proposed at the

forthcoming AGM.

Board Committees
The Board has established an Audit Committee as set out

below. The Management Engagement Committee, which

also carries out the functions of a Remuneration Committee,

was formed in November 2006. Further details are set out

below. The Board does not have a Nominations Committee.

This function is carried out by the Board as part of the

agenda of regular Board meetings when required.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee (“the Committee”) comprises all the

members of the Board. The Committee Chairman is Mr Stone.

The Board has satisfied itself that at least one Committee

member has recent and relevant financial experience.

The Committee has written terms of reference, which

clearly define its responsibilities and duties. These can be

found on the website, are available on request and will

also be available for inspection at the AGM.

The Committee meets at least twice a year to review the

internal financial and non-financial controls, to consider

and recommend to the Board for approval the contents of

the draft Interim and Annual Reports to shareholders, and

to review the accounting policies and significant financial

reporting judgements. In addition, the Committee reviews

the Auditors’ independence, objectivity, effectiveness,

appointment, remuneration, the quality of the services of

the service providers to the Company, and, together with

the Investment Manager, reviews the Company’s

compliance with financial reporting and regulatory

requirements. Representatives of the Investment

Manager’s, Administrator’s and Corporate Secretary’s

internal audit and compliance departments may attend

these meetings at the Chairman’s request.

The provision of non-audit services by the Company’s

Auditors is considered and approved by the Audit

Committee on a case-by-case basis.

Representatives of Ernst & Young LLP, the Company’s

Auditors, attend the Committee meetings at which the draft

Annual Report and Accounts are reviewed, and are given

the opportunity to speak to the Committee members

without the presence of the representatives of the

Investment Manager.

The Audit Committee is satisfied that Ernst & Young LLP

is independent of the Company. 

The Board recommend the reappointment of Ernst &

Young LLP as Auditors at the forthcoming AGM.

The Chairman of the Audit Committee will be present at

the AGM to deal with questions relating to the Accounts. 

Management Engagement Committee
The Management Engagement Committee (“MEC”) was

formed in November 2006 comprising the Chairman and

all directors of the Company.

The MEC meets at least on an annual basis, towards the

end of the financial year. The MEC met in March 2008.

The MEC reviews, on an annual basis, the performance of

Thames River and its continued suitability to manage the

Company’s portfolio. It also reviews the terms of the

Investment Management Agreement, to ensure they are

competitive and fair and in the best interests of the

shareholders, and to negotiate terms where appropriate.
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At the MEC meeting in March 2008, the MEC confirmed

that Thames River should be retained as the Investment

Manager for the financial year ending 31 March 2009.

In addition to the Investment Management role, the Board

has delegated to external third parties the custodial services

(which include the safeguarding of assets), the day to day

accounting, company secretarial services, administration and

registration services. Each of these contracts was entered

into after full and proper consideration of the quality of the

services offered, including the control systems in operation

insofar as they relate to the affairs of the Company. These

contracts are reviewed annually by the MEC.

In addition to the reviews by the MEC the Board reviews

and considers performance reports from the Investment

Manager at each Board meeting. The Board also receives

regular reports from the Administrator and Corporate

Secretary and the Investment Manager also reports to the

Board on the performance of all other third party service

providers.

The MEC also reviews, on an annual basis, the directors’

fees. The results of the most recent review are set out in

the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 42 to 43.

Tenure Policy
No director has a contract of employment with the

Company. Directors’ terms and conditions for appointment

are set out in letters of appointment which are available

for inspection at the Registered Office of the Company

and will be available at the AGM.

Performance Evaluation
In order to review the effectiveness of the Board and its

Committees and of the individual directors, the Chairman

has put in place, and carried out, an appraisal process. This

was implemented by way of a questionnaire and interviews

with the Chairman. In respect of the Chairman, the interview

was conducted by the Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The process is considered by the Board to be constructive

in terms of identifying areas for improving the functioning

and performance of the Board and the Committees, the

contribution of individual directors, as well as building on and

developing individual and collective strengths. 

The Chairman confirms that, in the light of the formal

performance evaluation, the performance of each of the

directors continues to be effective and to demonstrate

commitment to his or her role, including commitment of time

for Board and Committee meetings and any other duties.

The Board believes it has a good balance of skills, experience,

ages and length of service to ensure it operates effectively.

The performance of the Company is considered in detail at

each Board meeting.

In particular, it is considered that each of the directors makes

a significant contribution to the affairs of the Company and

that directors seeking re-appointment at the Company’s

forthcoming AGM merit re-appointment by shareholders.

Directors’ Remuneration
Directors’ remuneration is considered by the MEC. The

MEC determines and approves directors’ fees following

proper consideration, having regard to the level of fees

payable to non-executive directors in the industry

generally, the role that individual directors fulfil in respect

of Board and Committee responsibilities and the time

committed to the Company’s affairs. In the recent review

external advice was also taken.

The Company’s Articles of Association limit the aggregate

fees payable to the Board to a total of £250,000 per annum.

Detailed information on the remuneration arrangements for

the directors of the Company can be found in the Directors’

Remuneration Report.

Appointment of New Directors
The directors have determined that, due to the size of the

Board and the independence of each of its members, there

is no requirement for a separate Nominations Committee. 

The Board annually reviews its size and structure, and is

responsible for succession planning. The Board has an

open mind regarding the use of external recruitment

consultants or internal process, and has, in the past,

chosen to combine both routes to ensure best practice.

Directors’ Training
When a new director is appointed, he/she is offered

training by the Investment Manager. Directors are also

provided on a regular basis with key information on the

Company’s activities, including regulatory and statutory

requirements and internal controls. Changes affecting

directors’ responsibilities are advised to the Board as they

arise. Directors ensure that they are updated on regulatory,

statutory and industry matters.
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Board Meetings
The number of meetings of the Board and Committees

held during the year under review, and the attendance of

individual directors, are shown below:

Meetings
Board Audit MEC

No. of meetings in the year 7 2 1

Peter Salsbury 7 2 1

Caroline Burton 7 2 1

Richard Stone 7 2 1

Peter Wolton 7 2 1

Hugh Seaborn 3 0 1

Paul Spencer 4 1 1

Jeremy Newsum(1) 1 1 0

(1) Mr Newsum retired from the Board on 24 July 2007.

In addition to formal Board and Committee meetings,

directors also attend a number of informal meetings to

represent the interests of the Group.

The Board
The Board is responsible for the effective stewardship of

the Company’s affairs. Certain strategic issues are

monitored by the Board at meetings against a framework

which has been agreed with the Managers. Additional

meetings may be arranged as required. The Board has a

formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for its

decision, which are categorised under various headings,

including strategy, management, structure, capital, financial

reporting, internal controls, gearing, asset allocation, share

price discount, contracts, investment policy, finance, risk,

investment restrictions, performance, corporate

governance and Board membership and appointments. 

In order to enable them to discharge their responsibilities, all

directors have full and timely access to relevant information.

At each meeting, the Board reviews the Company’s

investment performance and considers financial analyses and

other reports of an operational nature. The Board monitors

compliance with the Company’s objectives and is responsible

for setting asset allocation, investment and gearing limits

within which the Fund Manager has discretion to act and thus

supervises the management of the investment portfolio, which

is contractually delegated to the Investment Manager. 

The Board has responsibility for the approval of unquoted

investments and any investments in in-house funds

managed or advised by the Investment Manager. It has

also adopted a procedure for directors, in the furtherance

of their duties, to take independent professional advice at

the expense of the Company.

Further details of the Board’s consideration of key

operational matters is contained in the Business Review

section of the Report of the Directors on pages 44 to 48.

Internal Controls
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s

systems of internal controls and for reviewing their

effectiveness. The Investment Manager is responsible for

the day to day investment management decisions on

behalf of the Group. Accounting and company secretarial

services have both been outsourced. 

The internal controls aim to ensure that assets of the Group

are safeguarded, proper accounting records are maintained,

and the financial information used within the business and for

publication is reliable. Control of the risks identified, covering

financial, operational, compliance and risk management, is

embedded in the controls of the Group by a series of regular

investment performance and attribution statements, financial

and risk analyses, Fund Manager reports and quarterly control

reports. Key risks have been identified and controls put in

place to mitigate them, including those not directly the

responsibility of the Investment Manager.

The effectiveness of the internal controls is assessed on a

continuing basis by the Compliance and Risk departments of

the Investment Manager, the Administrator and the Corporate

Secretary. Each maintains its own system of internal controls,

and the Board and Audit Committee receive regular reports

from them. The control systems are designed to provide

reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material

misstatement or loss and to manage, rather than eliminate,

risk of failure to achieve objectives.

As the Company has no employees and its operational

functions are undertaken by third parties, the Audit Committee

does not consider it necessary for the Company to establish its

own internal audit function. Instead, the Audit Committee relies

on AAF and other internal control reports received from its

principal service providers, particularly the Investment Manager,

to satisfy itself as to the controls in place. 

The Board has established a process for identifying,

evaluating and managing any major risks faced by the

Group. The process is subject to regular review by the

Board and accords with the Internal Control Guidance for

Directors on the Combined Code published in September

1999 (“the Turnbull Guidance”).
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The Board undertakes an annual review of the Group’s

system of internal controls, and the business risks have

been analysed and recorded in a risk map that is reviewed

regularly. The Board receives each quarter a formal report

from each of the Investment Manager, the Administrator

and the Corporate Secretary detailing the steps taken to

monitor the areas of risk, including those that are not

directly their responsibility, and which report the details of

any known internal control failures. The Board also has

direct access to company secretarial advice and services

provided by Capita Company Secretarial Services Limited,

which, through its nominated representative, is responsible

for ensuring that the Board and Committee procedures are

followed and that applicable regulations are complied with. 

Voting Policy
The Board has approved a corporate governance voting

policy which, in its opinion, accords with current best practice

whilst maintaining a primary focus on financial returns.

Relations with Shareholders
Shareholder relations are given high priority by both the

Board and the Investment Manager. The prime medium by

which the Company communicates with shareholders is

through the Interim and Annual Reports which aim to provide

shareholders with a clear understanding of the Company’s

activities and their results. This information is supplemented

by the daily calculation and by the publication at the London

Stock Exchange of the Net Asset Value of the Company’s

Ordinary shares and interim management statements.

This information is also available on the Company’s website,

www.trproperty.com together with a monthly factsheet and

Manager commentary.

At each AGM a presentation is made by the Fund Managers

following the business of the meeting. Shareholders have

the opportunity to address questions to the Chairman and

the Chairman of the Audit Committee at the AGM. All

shareholders are encouraged to attend the AGM.

It is the intention of the Board that the Annual Report and

Accounts and Notice of the AGM be issued to shareholders

so as to provide at least twenty working days’ notice of the

AGM. Shareholders wishing to lodge questions in advance

of the AGM, or to contact the Board at any other time, are

invited to do so by writing to the Company Secretary at the

registered address given on page 92.

General presentations are given to both shareholders and

analysts following the publication of the annual results. All

meetings between the Fund Manager and shareholders

are reported to the Board.

Socially Responsible Investment
Good corporate governance extends to a company’s policies

on the environment, employment, human rights and community

relationships. Corporations are playing an increasingly

important role in global economic activity and the adoption

of good corporate governance enhances a company’s

economic prospects by reducing the risk of government

and regulatory intervention and any ensuing damage to its

business or reputation. 

Policies relating to physical property either held directly or

by the companies in which the Trust invests, is described in

the Directors’ Report under Environmental Policy on page 48.

The Company’s objective remains the long-term

maximisation of shareholders’ total return.

Compliance Statement
The directors acknowledge that the Company did not

comply with the following provisions of the Combined Code

in the year ended 31 March 2008.

A.2.1 Due to the nature and structure of the Company

and the Board the directors do not feel it is

necessary to appoint a chief executive.

A.3.3 A senior independent director has not been

identified as the Board considers that all the

directors have different qualities and areas of

expertise on which they may lead when issues arise

and to whom concerns can be conveyed.

A.4.1 The Board does not have a separate Nominations

Committee. This function is carried out by the Board

as part of the agenda of regular Board meetings

when required.

B.2.1 The Board does not have a separate Remuneration

Committee. The functions of a Remuneration

Committee are carried out by the MEC.

By order of the Board

For and on behalf of
Capita Company Secretarial Services Limited
Secretary 5 June 2008
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Directors’ Responsibilities Statement 

The directors are responsible for preparing in respect of

each financial year, the Report of the Directors, a

Remuneration Report and the Company and Group

financial statements in accordance with applicable UK law

and IFRS as adopted by the European Union.

The Report of the Directors (including the Chairman’s

Statement on pages 7 to 10 and the Directors’

Remuneration Report) have been drawn up and prepared

in accordance with and in reliance upon English company

law and the liabilities of the directors in connection with

these reports shall be subject to the limitations and

restrictions provided by such law.

In particular, directors would be liable to the Company (but

not to any third party) if the Directors’ Report contains

errors as a result of recklessness or knowing

misstatement or dishonest concealment of a material fact,

but would not otherwise be liable.

The directors are required to prepare Company and Group

financial statements for each financial year which present

fairly the financial position of the Company and of the

Group for that period. In preparing those financial

statements, the directors are required to:

● select suitable accounting policies in accordance with

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting

Estimates and Errors and then apply them consistently;

● present information, including accounting policies, in a

manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and

understandable information;

● provide additional disclosures when compliance with the

specific requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable

users to understand the impact of particular transactions,

other events and conditions on the Group’s financial

position and financial performance; 

● state that the Group has complied with IFRS, subject to

any material departures disclosed and explained in the

financial statements; and

● ensure the Directors’ Report includes a fair review of

the development and performance of the business and

the position of the issuer, together with a description of

the principal risks and uncertainties they face.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting

records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time

the financial position of the Company and of the Group and

enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply

with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS

Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the

assets of the Company and of the Group and hence for

taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of

fraud and other irregularities.

By order of the Board

Peter Salsbury

Chairman

5 June 2008
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to the members of TR Property Investment Trust plc

We have audited the Group and Parent Company financial
statements (the “financial statements”) of TR Property Investment
Trust plc for the year ended 31 March 2008 which comprise the
Group Income Statement, the Group Statement of Changes in
Equity, the Group and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the
Group and Parent Company Cash Flow Statements, and the
related notes 1 to 22. These financial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have
also audited the information in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a
body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act
1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might
state to the Company’s members those matters we are required
to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and
the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report,
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted
by the European Union, are set out in the Statement of Directors’
Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group financial
information, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to
you whether in our opinion the information given in the
Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all
the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration
and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement
reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of
the 2006 Combined Code specified for our review by the
Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if
it does not. We are not required to consider whether the Board’s
statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or
form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate
governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and
consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial
statements. The other information comprises only the Statement
of Investment Objective and Policy, Financial Highlights and

Performance, Historical Performance for years ended 31 March,
the Chairman’s Statement, the Managers’ Report – Market
Background and Outlook, the Financial Highlights and
Performance for each share class, each share class Manager’s
Report, each share class Portfolio information, each share class
Investment Portfolio by country, each share class Twenty Largest
Equity Investments, the Investment Properties, each share class
Income Statement, each share class Balance Sheet, the unaudited
sections of the directors remuneration report and the Directors’
Responsibilities Statement. We consider the implications for our
report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or
material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our
responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of
evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to
be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation
of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies
are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the
overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

• the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of
the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 March 2008 and of
its loss for the year then ended;

• the financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation;

• the Parent Company financial statements give a true and fair
view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union, of the state of the Parent Company’s affairs as at
31 March 2008;

• the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent
with the financial statements.

Ernst & Young LLP
Registered Auditor
London
5 June 2008
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Group Income Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2008

Year ended 31 March 2008 Year ended 31 March 2007

Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total

Return Return Return Return

Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Investment income 

2 Investment income 24,835 – 24,835 21,264 – 21,264

4 Other operating income 1,357 – 1,357 66 – 66

3 Gross rental income 4,025 – 4,025 3,201 – 3,201

3 Service charge income 1,943 – 1,943 1,695 – 1,695

10 (Losses)/gains on investments held

at fair value – (240,610) (240,610) – 236,669 236,669

Total income 32,160 (240,610) (208,450) 26,226 236,669 262,895

Expenses

5 Management and performance fees (3,800) (2,116) (5,916) (3,602) (9,050) (12,652)

3 Direct property expenses, rent payable

and service charge costs (2,450) – (2,450) (2,327) – (2,327)

6 Other expenses (687) – (687) (561) – (561)

Total operating expenses (6,937) (2,116) (9,053) (6,490) (9,050) (15,540)

Operating profit/(loss) 25,223 (242,726) (217,503) 19,736 227,619 247,355

7 Finance costs (2,439) (2,439) (4,878) (3,669) (3,669) (7,338)

Profit/(loss) from operations before tax 22,784 (245,165) (222,381) 16,067 223,950 240,017

8 Taxation (4,192) 2,810 (1,382) (2,013) (206) (2,219)

Net profit/(loss) 18,592 (242,355) (223,763) 14,054 223,744 237,798

9a Earnings/(loss) per Ordinary share 5.79p (74.41)p (68.62)p 4.09p 65.16p 69.25p

9b Earnings/(loss) per Sigma share 0.85p (14.73)p (13.88)p N/A N/A N/A

The Total column of this statement represents the Group’s Income Statement, prepared in accordance with IFRS. The Revenue Return and Capital

Return columns are supplementary to this and are prepared under guidance published by the Association of Investment Companies. All items in the

above statement derive from continuing operations. 

All income is attributable to the shareholders of the parent company. There are no minority interests. 

The notes on pages 63 to 81 form part of these accounts.
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Group and Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Share Capital 
Share Capital Premium Redemption Retained Earnings  

Ordinary Sigma Account Reserve Ordinary Sigma Total
for the year ended 31 March 2008 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 March 2007 83,650 – 37,063 38,655 813,576 – 972,944

Net loss for the period – – – – (205,774) (17,989) (223,763)

Ordinary shares repurchased (3,530) – – 3,530 (30,583) – (30,583)

Sigma shares repurchased – (514) – 514 – (3,507) (3,507)

Ordinary shares converted to
Sigma shares (15,470) 15,470 – – (132,302) 132,302 –

Sigma shares issued (net of costs) – 1,004 6,099 – – – 7,103

Ordinary and special dividends paid – – – – (13,877) (1,708) (15,585)

At 31 March 2008 64,650 15,960 43,162 42,699 431,040 109,098 706,609

Ordinary Share Capital 
Share Premium Redemption Retained 

for the year ended 31 March 2007 Capital Account Reserve Earnings Total 
(Ordinary shares only) £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 March 2006 85,962 37,063 36,343 611,225 770,593 

Net profit for the year – – – 237,798 237,798 

Ordinary shares repurchased (2,312) – 2,312 (23,069) (23,069)

Ordinary dividends paid – – – (12,378) (12,378)

At 31 March 2007 83,650 37,063 38,655 813,576 972,944 

The notes on pages 63 to 81 form part of these accounts.
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The notes on pages 63 to 81 form part of these accounts.

Group and Company Balance Sheets
as at 31 March 2008

Group Company Group Company
2008 2008 2007 2007

Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Non-current assets
10 Investments held at fair value 697,750 677,250 1,082,398 1,061,648

Investments in subsidiaries – 55,872 – 54,545

Current assets 697,750 733,122 1,082,398 1,116,193

12 Debtors 7,183 6,415 4,239 3,871
Cash and cash equivalents 51,881 51,767 535 267

59,064 58,182 4,774 4,138

14 Current liabilities (31,510) (84,695) (70,156) (147,387)

Net current assets/(liabilities) 27,554 (26,513) (65,382) (143,249)

Total assets less current liabilities 725,304 706,609 1,017,016 972,944

14 Non-current liabilities (18,695) – (44,072) –

Net assets 706,609 706,609 972,944 972,944

Capital and reserves
15 Called up share capital 80,610 80,610 83,650 83,650
16 Share premium account 43,162 43,162 37,063 37,063
16 Capital redemption reserve 42,699 42,699 38,655 38,655
17 Retained earnings 540,138 540,138 813,576 813,576

Equity shareholders’ funds 706,609 706,609 972,944 972,944

Net asset value per:
20a Ordinary share 219.61p 219.61p 290.78p 290.78p
20b Sigma share 108.64p 108.64p N/A N/A

These accounts were approved by the directors and authorised for issue on 5 June 2008.

P Salsbury – Director.
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The notes on pages 63 to 81 form part of these accounts.

Group Company Group Company
2008 2008 2007 2007
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Reconciliation of operating revenue to net cash
inflow from operating activities

Net (loss)/profit before tax (222,381) (222,189) 240,017 239,483

Financing activities 4,878 6,557 7,330 8,309

Losses/(gains) on investments held at fair value
through profit or loss 240,610 239,526 (236,669) (236,097)

Increase in accrued income (1,576) (1,960) (1,782) (1,786)

(Increase)/decrease in other debtors (363) 64 (248) 492

Decrease in creditors (7,246) (5,754) (7,086) (6,344)

Net sales of investments 141,653 141,161 36,021 34,307

Increase in sales settlement debtor (1,548) (1,548) (579) (579)

(Decrease)/increase in purchase settlement creditor (5,072) (5,072) (5,925) (5,925)

Net cash inflow from operating activities
before interest and taxation 148,955 150,785 42,929 43,710

Interest paid (4,881) (6,557) (7,330) (8,309)

Taxation on investment income (1,571) (1,571) (1,104) (1,104)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 142,503 142,657 34,495 34,297

Financing activities

Equity dividends paid (15,585) (15,585) (12,378) (12,378)

Issue of Sigma shares 7,196 7,196 – –

Purchase of Ordinary and Sigma shares (34,090) (34,090) (17,350) (17,350)

Repayment of loans (50,860) (50,860) (6,966) (6,966)

Net cash used in financing (93,339) (93,339) (36,694) (36,694)

Increase/(decrease) in cash 49,164 49,318 (2,199) (2,397)

Cash and cash equivalents at start of the year 535 267 2,712 2,642

Exchange movements 2,182 2,182 22 22

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 51,881 51,767 535 267

Group and Company Cash Flow Statements
as at 31 March 2008
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 Accounting policies
The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008 have been prepared in accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), which comprise standards and interpretations approved by the International

Accounting Standards Board (IASB), together with interpretations of the International Accounting Standards and

Standing Interpretations Committee approved by the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) that remain

in effect, to the extent that they have been adopted by the European Union. 

The Group and Company financial statements are expressed in Sterling, which is their functional and presentational

currency. Sterling is the functional currency because it is the currency of the primary economic environment in which

the Group operates. Values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£’000) except where otherwise indicated.

a Basis of consolidation

The Group accounts consolidate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries to 31 March 2008.

Companies, other than subsidiaries, in which the Group has an investment representing 20% or more of the voting rights

and over which it exerts significant influence, are treated as associates. The Group accounts include the appropriate

share of the results and reserves of these companies based on the latest available accounts. Other companies, in which

the Group has an investment representing 20% or more of the voting rights but where the directors consider that the

Group does not exert significant influence, are not treated as associates and are accounted for as investments. 

b Income 

Dividends receivable on equity shares are treated as revenue for the year on an ex-dividend basis. Where no ex-

dividend date is available, dividends receivable on or before the year end are treated as revenue for the year. Provision

is made for any dividends not expected to be received. The fixed returns on debt securities are recognised on a time

apportionment basis so as to reflect the effective yield on each such security. Interest receivable from cash and short

term deposits is accrued to the end of the year. 

Rental income and direct property costs are recognised on an accruals basis.

c Expenses

All expenses and finance costs are accounted for on an accruals basis. An analysis of retained earnings broken down

into revenue and capital items is given in note 17. In arriving at this breakdown, expenses have been presented as

revenue items except as follows: 

– expenses which are incidental to the acquisition or disposal of an investment;

– expenses are presented as capital where a connection with the maintenance or enhancement of the value of the

investments can be demonstrated. In this respect, the investment management fees are allocated 50% to revenue return

and 50% to capital return to reflect the Board’s expectations of long term investment returns. One third of the

management fees is deemed to relate to the administration of the Trust and charged to revenue. The remainder is split

on the same basis as finance costs (see below) and 50% charged to capital return. The overall result is that two thirds of

management fees are charged to revenue and one third to capital. All performance fees are charged to capital return.

Expenses are allocated between the share classes as follows:

– management fees are charged separately to each share class

– administration costs incurred specifically by a single share class are charged to that class

– other corporate expenses are allocated to the share class in proportion to the share classes’ relative net asset values

at the end of the previous accounting period.

d Finance costs 

The finance cost in respect of capital instruments other than equity shares is calculated so as to give a constant rate of

return on the outstanding balance. One half of the finance costs is charged to capital return. 

Finance costs are allocated to the share class utilising the capital instrument.
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1 Accounting policies continued

e Taxation 

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Income tax is charged or credited directly to equity if it relates to items that are credited or charged to equity. Otherwise
income tax is recognised in the Group Income Statement. 

The tax effect of different items of expenditure is allocated between capital and revenue for the Ordinary shares and
the Sigma shares using the Group’s effective rate of tax for the year. The charge for taxation is based on the profit for
the year and takes into account taxation deferred because of timing differences between the treatment of certain items
for taxation and accounting purposes.

Deferred taxation is provided using the liability method on all timing differences, calculated at the rate at which it is anticipated
the timing differences will reverse. Deferred tax assets are recognised only when, on the basis of available evidence, it is more
likely than not that there will be taxable profits in the future against which the deferred tax asset can be offset. 

The brought forward tax losses held within TR Property Investment Trust plc prior to the introduction of the new Sigma
share class have been split between the Ordinary shares and the Sigma shares based on the proportion of ordinary
shares converted to Sigma shares on 24 July 2007 (18.9943%). Tax losses will in the future only be transferred from
one share class to another to the extent that there are insufficient current year losses available to the share class
claiming the losses to cover the taxable income arising.

The Company is an investment trust under s.842 Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 and, as such, is not liable for
tax on capital gains. Capital gains arising in subsidiary companies are subject to capital gains tax.

f Properties

The purchase and sale of properties is recognised to be effected on the date unconditional contracts are exchanged.

g Investments 

When a purchase or sale is made under contract, the terms of which require delivery within the timeframe of the
relevant market, the investments concerned are recognised or derecognised on the trade date. 

All the Group’s investments are defined under IFRS as investments designated as fair value through profit or loss but
are also described in these financial statements as investments held at fair value. 

All investments are designated upon initial recognition as held at fair value, and are measured at subsequent reporting
dates at fair value, which, for quoted investments, is either the bid price or the last traded price, depending on the
convention of the exchange on which the investment is quoted. Unquoted investments or investments for which there is
only an inactive market are held at fair value which is based on valuations made by the directors in accordance with
IPEVCA guidelines and using current market prices, trading conditions and the general economic climate.

Investment properties are revalued six-monthly by independent valuers. The purchase and sale of properties is
recognised to be effected on the date unconditional contracts are exchanged.

In its financial statements the Company recognises its investments in subsidiaries at fair value, being their respective
net asset values.

h Movements in fair value 

Changes in the fair value of all investments held at fair value are recognised in the Group Income Statement. On
disposal, realised gains and losses are also recognised in the Group Income Statement. 

i Non-current liabilities 

All loans and debentures are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received, less issue
costs where applicable. After initial recognition, all interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on settlement. The costs
of arranging any interest-bearing loans are capitalised and amortised over the life of the loan.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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1 Accounting policies continued

j Foreign currency translation 

Transactions involving foreign currencies are converted at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. 

Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated into Sterling at the rate ruling on the balance sheet date.

Foreign exchange differences are recognised in the Group Income Statement. 

k Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash in hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are

readily convertible to known amounts of cash and that are subject to insignificant risks of changes in value. 

2 Investment income
2008 2007
£’000 £’000

Dividends from UK listed investments 8,294 9,677

Dividends from overseas listed investments 12,035 11,559

Interest from listed investments 8 28

Property income distributions 4,498 –

16,541 11,587

24,835 21,264

3 Net rental income
2008 2007
£’000 £’000

Gross rental income 4,025 3,201

Service charge income 1,943 1,695

Direct property expenses, rent payable and service charge costs (2,450) (2,327)

3,518 2,569

4 Other operating income
2008 2007
£’000 £’000

Interest receivable 1,168 66
Other income 189 –

1,357 66

5 Management and performance fees
2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007

Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total
Return Return Return Return
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Management fee 3,503 1,751 5,254 3,083 1,541 4,624

Performance fee – 184 184 – 6,188 6,188

Irrecoverable VAT thereon 297 181 478 519 1,321 1,840

3,800 2,116 5,916 3,602 9,050 12,652

The performance fee was paid on the Ordinary shares converting to Sigma shares in respect of outperformance on the

Ordinary share class at the date of conversion. The fee was deducted as part of the conversion costs.

A summary of the terms of the management agreement is given in the Report of the Directors on pages 46 to 48.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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6 Other administrative expenses
(including irrecoverable VAT) 2008 2007

£’000 £’000

Directors’ fees (Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 42 to 43) 177 127

Auditors’ remuneration:

– for audit of the financial statements 54 64

– for audit of the financial statements of subsidiaries 31 25

– for other services 2 2

Other expenses 423 343

687 561

In addition to the above, the auditors received £23,500 for work carried out in respect of the Sigma transfer. This

amount has been charged to the share premium account.

7 Finance costs
2008 2007
£’000 £’000

Bank loans and overdrafts repayable within 1 year 1,072 3,501

Debentures repayable within 1 year 2,047 2,042

Debentures repayable after more than 5 years 1,759 1,795

4,878 7,338

Amount allocated to capital return (2,439) (3,669)

Total allocated to revenue return 2,439 3,669

8 Taxation
a Analysis of charge in the year

2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007
Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total

Return Return Return Return
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

UK corporation tax at 30% 4,105 (2,411) 1,694 2,216 (894) 1,322

Overseas taxation 87 – 87 10 – 10

4,192 (2,411) 1,781 2,226 (894) 1,332

Overprovision in respect of 

prior years (3) – (3) (45) – (45)

Current tax charge for the year 4,189 (2,411) 1,778 2,181 (894) 1,287

Deferred taxation 3 (399) (396) (168) 1,100 932

4,192 (2,810) 1,382 2,013 206 2,219
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8 Taxation continued

b Factors affecting current tax charge for the year
The tax assessed for the period is lower than the standard rate of corporate tax in the UK for a large company (30%).

The difference is explained below:
2008 2007
£’000 £’000

Net (loss)/profit (222,381) 240,017

Corporation tax (credit)/charge at 30% (66,714) 72,005

Effects of:

Non-taxable gains/(losses) on investments 72,183 (71,001)

Tax relief on expenses charged to capital (1,045) 2,921

Non-taxable UK dividends (2,488) (2,903)

Overseas withholding taxes 87 10

Overprovision in respect of prior years (3) (45)

Disallowable expenses (23) 28

Other short term timing differences (219) 272

Current tax charge for the year 1,778 1,287

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of £5,197,000 (2007: £8,168,000) arising as a result of excess

management expenses and excess non-trade debits. These expenses will only be utilised if the Group has profits

chargeable to corporation tax in future accounting periods. It is considered too uncertain that the Group will generate

such profits and, on this basis, the deferred tax asset in respect of these expenses has not been recognised. 

Due to the Company’s status as an Investment Trust, and the intention to continue meeting the conditions required to

obtain approval in the foreseeable future, the Company has not provided deferred tax on any capital gains and losses

arising on the revaluation or disposal of investments. In respect of properties held in subsidiaries, provision for capital

gains tax has been made for revaluation surpluses not sheltered by brought forward capital losses or non trade debits.

c Provision for deferred taxation

The amounts of deferred taxation provided at 28% (2007: 30%) comprise:
2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007

Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total
Return Return Return Return
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Accelerated capital allowances – – – – – – 

Capital gains – 3,695 3,695 – 4,094 4,094

– 3,695 3,695 – 4,094 4,094

Shown as:

Deferred tax liability – 3,695 3,695 – 4,094 4,094

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

8 Taxation continued

The movement in provision in the year is as follows:
2008 2008 2008

Revenue Capital Total
Return Return
£’000 £’000 £’000

Provision at the start of the year – 4,094 4,094
Deferred tax credit – (399) (399)

Provision at the end of the year – 3,695 3,695

9 Earnings/(loss) per share
a Earnings/(loss) per Ordinary share 
The earnings/(loss) per Ordinary share can be analysed between revenue and capital, as below. 

Year Year
ended ended

31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£’000 £’000 

Net revenue profit 15,284 14,054

Net capital (loss)/profit (196,455) 223,744

Net total (loss)/profit (181,171) 237,798

Weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue during the year 264,026,681 343,385,123

pence pence 

Revenue earnings per Ordinary share 5.79 4.09 

Capital (loss)/earnings per Ordinary share (74.41) 65.16 

(Loss)/earnings per Ordinary share (68.62) 69.25 

b Earnings/(loss) per Sigma share 
The earnings/(loss) per Sigma share can be analysed between revenue and capital, as below. 

Period from inception to
31 March

2008
£’000

Net revenue profit 1,105
Net capital loss (19,094)

Net total loss (17,989)

Weighted average number of Sigma shares in issue during the period 129,568,877

pence

Revenue earnings per Sigma share 0.85
Capital loss per Sigma share (14.73)

Loss per Sigma share (13.88)
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

9 Earnings/(loss) per share continued

c Reconciliation of Group and Share Class Earnings
2008 2008 2008

Revenue Capital Total
Return Return 
£'000 £'000 £'000

Net profit/(loss) per Group Income Statement 18,592 (242,355) (223,763)

Net profit/(loss) per Ordinary Share Class Income Statement 15,284 (196,455) (181,171)
Net profit/(loss) per Sigma Share Class Income Statement 1,105 (19,094) (17,989)
Transfer earnings/(loss)* 2,203 (26,806) (24,603)

18,592 (242,355) (223,763)

Weighted number of Ordinary shares in issue during the year 264,026,681 264,026,681 264,026,681
Weighted number of Sigma shares in issue during the period 129,568,877 129,568,877 129,568,877
Sigma shares in issue at inception* 131,795,747 131,795,747 131,795,747

Net earnings/(loss) per Ordinary share  5.79p (74.41)p (68.62)p
Net earnings/(loss) per Sigma share  0.85p (14.73)p (13.88)p
Transfer earnings/(loss) per Sigma share* 1.67p (20.34)p (18.67)p

*Transfer earnings/(losses) per Sigma share are the earnings/(losses) included in the Calculation Date NAV for the

Ordinary shares converted into Sigma shares on creation of the Sigma share class. These earnings/(losses) form part of

the opening reserves in the Sigma Balance Sheet at inception.

10 Investments held at fair value 

(i) Analysis of investments 
Group Company Group Company 

2008 2008 2007 2007
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Listed in the United Kingdom 331,183 331,183 593,595 593,595
Listed overseas 296,015 296,015 413,604 413,604
Investment properties 70,552 50,052 75,199 54,449

Investments held at fair value 697,750 677,250 1,082,398 1,061,648 
Investments in subsidiaries at fair value – 55,872 – 54,545

697,750 733,122 1,082,398 1,116,193 

(ii) Gains on investments held at fair value 
31 March 31 March 

2008 2007
£’000 £’000 

Realised gains on sale of investments 102,382 97,942
Movement in unrealised appreciation (345,174) 138,705
Net movement on foreign exchange 2,182 22

(240,610) 236,669
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10 Investments held at fair value continued

(iii) Business segment reporting
Gross

Valuation Net Valuation revenue
31 March (disposals)/ Net 31 March 31 March

2007 additions depreciation 2008 2008
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Listed investments 1,007,199 (142,681) (237,320) 627,198 24,835
Direct property 75,199 825 (5,472) 70,552 5,968

1,082,398 (141,856) (242,792) 697,750 30,803

(iv) Geographical segment reporting
Gross

Valuation Net Valuation revenue
31 March (disposals)/ Net 31 March 31 March

2007 additions depreciation 2008 2008
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

UK listed equities and convertibles 593,595 (84,422) (177,990) 331,183 12,800
UK direct property 75,199 825 (5,472) 70,552 5,968
Continental European listed equities 411,578 (56,585) (58,978) 296,015 11,982
Other listed equities 2,026 (1,674) (352) – 53

1,082,398 (141,856) (242,792) 697,750 30,803

Included in the above figures are purchase costs of £284,000 (2007: £273,000) and sales costs of £322,000 (2007:

£235,000). These comprise mainly stamp duty and commission.

(v) Substantial share interests

The Group held interests in 3% or more of any class of capital in seven investee companies. None of these investments

is considered significant in the context of these financial statements. See note 22 on page 81 for further details of

subsidiary investments.

11 Financial Instruments
Risk management policies and procedures

The Group invests in equities and other investments for the long term in pursuit of the Investment Objectives set out

for each share class on pages 2-4. The Group is exposed to a variety of risks that could result in either a reduction or

an increase in the profits available for distribution by way of dividends.

The principal risks the Group faces in its portfolio management activities are:

• Market risk (comprising price risk, currency risk and interest rate risk)

• Liquidity risk

• Credit risk

The Investment Manager’s policies and processes for managing these risks are summarised below and have been

applied throughout the year.

11.1 Market Price Risk
By the very nature of its activities, the Group’s investments are exposed to market price fluctuations.

Management of the risk

The Manager runs diversified portfolios for each share class and reports to the Board on the portfolio activity and

performance at each board meeting. The Board monitors the investment activity and strategy to ensure it is

compatible with the stated objectives for each share class.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

11.1 Market Price Risk continued

The Group’s exposure to changes in market prices on its quoted equity investments and investment property portfolio,

was as follows:
2008 2007
£’000 £’000 

Investments held at fair value 697,750 1,082,398

Concentration of exposure to price risks

As set out in the Investment Policies for each share class on pages 2 to 4, there are limitations on the amount of

exposure to a single company, geographical regions or direct property. These limitations ensure an appropriate spread

of exposure to individual or sector price risks. As an investment company dedicated to investment in the property sector,

the Group is exposed to price movements across the property asset class as a whole.

Price risk sensitivity

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the profit after taxation for the year and the value of shareholders’ funds

to an increase or decrease of 15% in the fair values of the Group’s equity and direct property investments. This level of

change is considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of market conditions and historic trends. The

sensitivity analysis is based on the Group’s equities and direct property exposure at each balance sheet date, with all

other variables held constant.

2008 2008 2007 2007
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

in fair value in fair value in fair value in fair value
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income statement – profit after tax

Revenue return (663) 663 (995) 995

Capital return 104,663 (104,663) 162,360 (162,360)

Change to the profit after tax for the year 104,000 (104,000) 161,365 (161,365)

Change to the shareholders' funds 104,000 (104,000) 161,365 (161,365)

Change to total earnings/(loss):

per Ordinary share 32.57p (32.57)p 46.99p (46.99)p

per Sigma share# 15.48p (15.48)p – –

#Sigma share class created in July 2007.

11.2 Currency Risk
A proportion of the Group’s portfolio is invested in overseas securities and their Sterling value can be significantly

affected by movements in foreign exchange rates. 

Management of the risk

The Board receives a report at each board meeting on the proportion of the investment portfolio held in Sterling, Euros

or other currencies. The Group sometimes hedges foreign currency movements outside the Eurozone by funding

investments in overseas securities with unsecured loans denominated in the same currency.

Income denominated in foreign currencies is converted into Sterling upon receipt.

Cash deposits are held in Sterling and/or Euro denominated accounts.
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11.2 Currency Risk continued

Foreign currency exposure

At the reporting date the Group had the following exposure:

Currency 2008 2007

Sterling 53.1% 56.5%

Euro 40.2% 36.6%

Swedish Krone 5.3% 5.5%

Other 1.4% 1.4%

The following table sets out the Group’s total exposure to foreign currency risk and the net exposure to foreign

currencies of the monetary assets and liabilities:

Swedish
Sterling Euro Krone Other

2008 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Receivables (due from brokers, dividends and other 
income receivable) 6,719 464 – –

Cash at bank and on deposit 24,864 26,997 – 20
Payables (due to brokers, accruals and other creditors) (30,306) (1,204) – –

Total foreign currency exposure on net monetary items 1,277 26,257 – 20
Investments at fair value 392,494 257,751 37,573 9,932
Non current liabilities (18,695) – – –

Total net currency exposure 375,076 284,008 37,573 9,952

Swedish
Sterling Euro Krone Other

2007 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Receivables (due from brokers, dividends and other 
income receivable) 3,589 650 – –

Cash at bank and on deposit – – – 535
Bank loans and overdrafts (48,726) – – (2,134)
Payables (due to brokers, accruals and other creditors) (17,965) – – (1,331)

Total foreign currency exposure on net monetary items (63,102) 650 – (2,930)
Investments at fair value 656,997 354,980 53,406 17,015
Non current liabilities (44,072) – – –

Total net currency exposure 549,823 355,630 53,406 14,085

The amounts above are not representative of the exposure to risk during the year as levels of monetary foreign
currency exposure change throughout the year. The maximum and minimum net currency exposures for each currency
based on month end figures were as follows:

Swedish
Sterling Euro Krone Other

2008 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Maximum 536,605 328,850 51,191 16,915
Minimum 394,295 232,262 31,022 8,006

Swedish
Sterling Euro Krone Other

2007 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Maximum 540,106 334,090 50,659 45,485
Minimum 392,137 266,366 37,793 5,688
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11.2 Currency Risk continued

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the profit after tax for the year of the Group’s equity in regard to the
exchange rates for £/Euro and £/Swedish Krone.

It assumes the following changes in exchange rates:
Sterling/Euro +/- 15% (2007: 15%)
Sterling/Swedish Krone +/- 15% (2007: 15%)

These percentages have been determined by taking the highest rate of change seen in each of the last five financial years.

If Sterling had strengthened against the currencies shown, this would have had the following effect:

2008 2007
Swedish Swedish

Euro Krone Other Euro Krone Other
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Income statement – profit after tax

Revenue return (1,009) (109) (20) (118) (144) 8

Capital return (37,141) (4,901) (1,298) (46,406) (6,966) (2,011)

Change to the profit after tax

for the year (38,150) (5,010) (1,318) (46,524) (7,110) (2,003)

Change to the shareholders' funds (38,150) (5,010) (1,318) (46,524) (7,110) (2,003)

2008 2007

Change to total:

per Ordinary share (13.19)p (16.39)p

per Sigma share# (8.13)p –

#Sigma share class created in July 2007.

If Sterling had weakened against the currencies shown, this would have had the following effect:

2008 2007
Swedish Swedish

Euro Krone Other Euro Krone Other
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Income statement – profit after tax

Revenue return 1,332 147 27 1,054 195 (10)

Capital return 60,962 6,630 1,757 62,502 9,425 2,603 

Change to the profit after tax

for the year 62,294 6,777 1,784 63,556 9,620 2,593

Change to the shareholders' funds 62,294 6,777 1,784 63,556 9,620 2,593

2008 2007

Change to total earnings:

per Ordinary share 19.44p 22.07p

per Sigma share# 14.94p –

#Sigma share class created in July 2007.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

11.3 Interest rate risk
Interest rate movements may affect:

• the fair value of any investments in fixed interest securities

• the fair value of the debenture loans

• the level of income receivable from cash at bank and on deposit

• the level of interest expense on any variable rate bank loans

• the prices of the underlying securities held in the portfolios

Management of the risk

The possible effects on fair value and cash flows that could arise as a result of changes in interest rates are taken into

account when making investment decisions. Property companies usually have borrowings themselves and the level of

gearing and structure of its debt portfolio is a key factor when assessing the investment in a property company. 

The Group has fixed and variable rate borrowings. The interest rates on the debenture loans are fixed, details are set out in

note 14. In addition to the debentures the Group has an unsecured, multi-currency revolving loan facility which carries a

variable rate of interest based on the currency drawn, plus a margin. This facility totals £80,000,000 (2007: £130,000,000).

The Manager considers both the level of debt on the balance sheet of the Group (i.e. the debentures and any bank

loans drawn) and the “see-through” gearing, taking into account the assets and liabilities of the underlying investments,

when considering the investment portfolio. These gearing levels are reported regularly to the Board.

The Group did not hold any fixed interest securities throughout the year.

At the year end the Group was holding significant cash balances; part of these cash balances were held to offset the

long term borrowings it has in place.

Interest rate risk exposure

The exposure at 31 March of financial assets and financial liabilities to interest rate risk is shown by reference to:

– floating interest rates: when the interest rate is due to be re-set

– fixed interest rates: when the financial instrument is due to be repaid.

The Group’s exposure to floating interest rates on assets is £51,881,000 (2007: £535,000).

The Group’s exposure to fixed interest rates on liabilities is £39,994,000 (2007: £39,978,000).

Interest receivable, and finance costs are at the following rates:

– Interest received on cash balances, or paid on bank overdrafts, is at margin over LIBOR or its foreign currency

equivalent (2007: same)

– Interest paid on borrowings under the multi-currency loan facility is at a margin over LIBOR or its foreign currency

equivalent for the type of loan

– The finance charge on the debenture stocks is at a weighted average interest rate of 9.625% (2007: same).

The year end amounts are not representative of the exposure to interest rates during the year as the level of exposure

changes as investments are made in fixed interest securities, borrowings are drawn down and repaid, and the mix of

borrowings between floating and fixed interest rate changes. The minimum and maximum amounts subject to interest

rate exposures are shown below.

2008 2007
Within More than Total Within More than Total

one year one year one year one year
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Assets: 
Maximum interest rate exposure 62,973 – 62,973 12,961 – 12,961

Minimum interest rate exposure 6,830 – 6,830 300 – 300

69,803 – 69,803 13,261 – 13,261
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11.3 Interest rate risk continued
2008 2007

Within More than Total Within More than Total
one year one year one year one year

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Liabilities: 
Maximum interest rate exposure 91,306 21,101 112,407 79,036 47,146 126,182

Minimum interest rate exposure 26,212 21,051 47,263 38,539 47,743 86,282

117,518 42,152 159,670 117,575 94,889 212,464

Interest rate sensitivity

A change of 2% on interest rates at the reporting date would have had the following direct impact:

2008 2008 2007 2007
2% 2% 2% 2%

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Change to shareholders’ funds 1,038 (1,038) 11 (11)

Change to total earnings/(loss):

per Ordinary share 0.29p (0.29)p 0.00p (0.00)p

per Sigma share# 0.23p (0.23)p – –

#Sigma share class created in July 2007.

This level of change is not representative of the year as a whole, since the exposure changes throughout the period. This

assessment does not take into account the impact of interest rate changes on the market value of the investments the

Group holds.

11.4 Liquidity risk
Unquoted investments in the portfolio are subject to liquidity risk. The Group did not hold any unquoted investments

throughout the financial year. 

In certain market conditions, the liquidity of direct property investments may be reduced.

Management of the risk

The Manager sets limits for the maximum exposure of the portfolio to unquoted and direct property investments. These

are set out in the Investment Policies on pages 2 to 4. All unquoted investments and direct property investments with a

value over £1 million must be approved by the Board for purchase.

11.5 Credit risk
The failure of a counterparty to a transaction to discharge its obligations under that transaction could result in the Group

suffering a loss.

Management of the risk

The risk is not considered to be significant. Investment transactions are carried out with a number of brokers, whose

credit standing is reviewed periodically by the investment managers, and limits are set on the amount that may be due

from any one broker. Cash at bank is only held with reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings.
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11.5 Credit risk continued

Exposure to credit risk

The year end exposure and maximum exposure throughout the year are set out below:

2008 2007
As at Maximum As at Maximum

31 March exposure 31 March exposure
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current assets:

Other receivables (amounts due from brokers,

dividends and interest receivable) 7,183 9,156 4,239 4,485

Cash at bank and on deposit 51,881 51,881 535 1,642

59,064 61,037 4,774 6,127

11.6 Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
Except for the debenture loans which are measured at amortised cost, the fair values of the financial assets and

financial liabilities are either carried in the balance sheet at their fair value (investments) or the balance sheet amount is

a reasonable approximation of fair value (debtors, creditors, cash at bank and bank overdrafts, accruals and

prepayments).

The fair values of the listed investments are derived from the bid price or last traded price at which the securities are

quoted on the London Stock Exchange and other recognised exchanges.

The fair values of the properties are derived from an open market (Red Book) valuation of the properties on the

Balance Sheet date by an independent firm of valuers (Drivers Jonas).

There were no unquoted investments at the Balance Sheet date.

The amounts of change in fair value for such investments recognised in the profit or loss for the year was a loss of

£240,610,000 (2007: profit of £236,669,000).

12 Debtors
Group Company Group Company

2008 2008 2007 2007
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Amounts falling due within one year:

Securities and properties sold for future settlement 2,127 2,127 579 579

Tax recoverable 37 37 165 165

Prepayments and accrued income 3,278 3,115 2,712 2,655

Other debtors 1,741 1,136 783 472

7,183 6,415 4,239 3,871

Notes to the Financial Statements continued



TR Property Investment Trust 77

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

13 Contingent asset re VAT
In 2004 JPMorgan Claverhouse Investment Trust plc and the AIC launched a joint appeal for the payment of

investment trust management fees to be exempt from VAT. The JPMorgan Claverhouse & The Association of

Investment Companies v HM Revenue & Customs case has concluded with HM Revenue & Customs (“HMRC”)

announcing that it has decided not to appeal the decision issued by the European Court of Justice (“ECJ”). On 28 June

2007, the ECJ concluded that the management of investment trusts, like authorised unit trusts and OEICs, should be

an exempt service for the purposes of VAT.

As a result, management services supplied to investment trusts were exempt from UK VAT with immediate effect and

the Company is entitled to seek reimbursement of VAT paid in the past.

The Company’s previous Manager, Henderson Global Investors, has filed protective claims for the period between

1 February 2001 and 30 September 2004 and the Company’s current Manager has filed a claim for the period from

1 October 2004, and as a result, an amount in excess of £6 million is potentially recoverable for this period.

Furthermore a decision in the Court of Appeal has opened the possibility for additional VAT recovery from HMRC for

the period from 1 January 1990 to 4 December 1996. There is no potential claim for the intervening period from

5 December 1996 to 31 January 2001.

In the absence of a definitive agreement with the Manager or specific guidance from HMRC as to how the reclaims will

be effected, there is not yet certainty as to the amount or timing of any recovery. Accordingly no asset has been

recognised in the accounts at 31 March 2008.

Any amounts recovered will be allocated 81% to the Ordinary share class and 19% to the Sigma share class (i.e. on

the basis of the conversion of Ordinary shares into Sigma shares on creation of the Sigma share class).

14 Current and non-current liabilities
Group Company Group Company

2008 2008 2007 2007
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Amounts falling due within one year:

Debenture loan (b) below 24,994 – – –

Bank loans and overdrafts – – 50,860 50,860

24,994 – 50,860 50,860

Securities and properties purchased for future settlement 2,050 2,050 7,122 7,122

Amounts due to subsidiaries – 79,282 – 77,997

Managers’ performance fees payable – – 7,249 7,249

Accruals and deferred income 2,301 1,265 1,699 569

Other creditors 2,165 2,098 3,226 3,590

6,516 84,695 19,296 96,527

Total current liabilities 31,510 84,695 70,156 147,387

Non-current liabilities:

Debenture loans (a) and (b) below 15,000 – 39,978 –

Deferred taxation 3,695 – 4,094 –

18,695 – 44,072 –

The total amount of secured creditors is £40,000,000 (2007: £40,000,000).
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

14 Current and non-current liabilities continued

Debenture Loans

(a) £15,000,000 (2007: £15,000,000) participation by TR Property Finance Limited, a subsidiary, in 11.5% 2016

several debenture stock issued by Trustco Finance plc, which is guaranteed by the Company by a floating charge

over its assets. The fair value of this debenture at 31 March 2008 was £20,922,000 (2007: £21,183,000).

(b) £25,000,000 (2007: £25,000,000) 8.125% 2008 debenture stock in the name of Trust Union Finance (1991)

PLC, a subsidiary, which is guaranteed by the Company by a floating charge over its assets. The fair value of this

debenture at 31 March 2008 was £25,373,000 (2007: £25,867,000). The final redemption date for this debenture

stock is 30 November 2008. 

The Company and Group have complied with the terms of the debenture agreements throughout the year.

Multi-currency revolving loan facilities
The Group also has unsecured, multi-currency, revolving loan facilities totalling £80,000,000 (2007: £130,000,000).

At the year end these facilities were undrawn. £64,000,000 of this loan may be drawn by the Ordinary share class and

£16,000,000 by the Sigma share class.

15 Called up share capital
a Ordinary share capital
The  balance classified as Ordinary share capital includes the nominal value proceeds on issue of the Ordinary equity

share capital comprising Ordinary shares of 25p. 

Authorised Issued, allotted and fully paid
Number £’000 Number £’000

Ordinary shares of 25p

At 1 April 2007 779,170,350 194,793 334,600,000 83,650

Shares repurchased – – (14,116,714) (3,530)

Shares converted to Sigma shares (236,883,286) (59,221) (61,883,286) (15,470)

At 31 March 2008 542,287,064 135,572 258,600,000 64,650

During the year, the Company made market purchases for cancellation of 14,116,714 Ordinary shares of 25p each,

representing 4.2% of the number of shares in issue at 31 March 2007. The aggregate consideration paid by the

Company for the shares was £30,583,000. Shares are repurchased in order to enhance shareholder value.

On 24 July 2007, 61,883,286 Ordinary shares were converted into Sigma shares representing approximately 19.0% of the

Ordinary share capital in issue at that date, and 18.5% of the share capital in issue at 31 March 2007.

Since 31 March 2008, a further 1,100,000 Ordinary shares have been purchased for cancellation for an aggregate

consideration of £1,924,000. 
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15 Called up share capital continued

b Sigma share capital
The balance classified as Sigma share capital includes the nominal value proceeds on issue of the Sigma equity share

capital comprising Sigma shares of 12.5p. 
Authorised Issued, allotted and fully paid

Number £’000 Number £’000

Sigma shares of 12.5p

At 1 April 2007 – – – –

At 24 July 2007

New shares issued 473,766,572 59,221 8,029,175 1,004

Shares converted from 

Ordinary shares – – 123,766,572 15,470

Shares repurchased – – (4,115,747) (514)

At 31 March 2008 473,766,572 59,221 127,680,000 15,960

On 24 July 2007, 61,883,286 Ordinary shares were converted into 123,766,572 Sigma shares. Subscriptions for a

further 8,029,175 Sigma Shares were received under the Placing, generating net proceeds of approximately £7 million.

During the year, the Company made market purchases for cancellation of 4,115,747 Sigma shares of 12.5p each,

representing 3.1% of the number of shares in issue at 24 July 2007. The aggregate consideration paid by the Company

for the shares was £3,507,000. Shares are repurchased in order to enhance shareholder value.

Since 31 March 2008, a further 100,000 Sigma shares have been purchased for cancellation for an aggregate

consideration of £86,000.

16 Share premium account and capital redemption reserve
Share premium account
The balance classified as share premium includes the premium above nominal value from the proceeds on issue of the

equity share capital, comprising Ordinary shares of 25p and Sigma shares of 12.5p.

Capital redemption reserve
The capital redemption reserve is used to record the amount equivalent to the value of purchases of the Company’s own

shares in order to maintain the Company’s capital.

17 Retained earnings
Group Company Group Company

2008 2008 2007 2007
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Unrealised capital reserves 268,408 276,815 612,914 619,674

Realised capital reserves 242,394 241,954 174,333 175,491

510,802 518,769 787,247 795,165

Revenue reserve 29,336 21,369 26,329 18,411

540,138 540,138 813,576 813,576

Group unrealised appreciation at 31 March 2008 includes £nil (2007: £nil) relating to unlisted investments and

£17,435,000 (2007: £29,043,000) relating to investment properties.

Company unrealised appreciation at 31 March 2008 includes £26,039,000 (2007: £24,712,000) relating to unlisted

investments and £3,472,000 (2007: £14,761,000) relating to investment properties.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

18 Dividends
Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£’000 £’000 

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year:

Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2007 of 2.40p (2006: 1.90p)

per Ordinary share 7,887 6,533

Interim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of 2.30p (2007: 1.70p)

per Ordinary share 5,990 5,845

Interim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of 0.20p (2007: nil)

per Sigma share 258 –

Special dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of 1.10p (2007: nil)

per Sigma share 1,450 –

15,585 12,378

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of 3.30p 

(2007: 2.40p) per Ordinary share 8,498 7,925

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of 0.65p 

(2007: N/A) per Sigma share 829 –

The proposed final dividend has not been included as a liability in these financial statements.

Set out below is the total dividend to be paid in respect of the year. This is the basis on which the requirements of

Section 842 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 are considered. 
Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£’000 £’000 

Interim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of 2.30p (2007: 1.50p)

per Ordinary share 5,990 5,845

Interim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of 0.20p (2007: N/A)

per Sigma share 258 –

Special dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of 1.10p (2007: N/A)

per Sigma share 1,450 –

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of 3.30p 

(2007: 2.40p) per Ordinary share 8,498 7,925

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of 0.65p 

(2007: nil) per Sigma share 829 –

14,125 13,770
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19 Company revenue account
As permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company has not presented its own revenue account.

The net revenue after taxation of the Company dealt with in the accounts of the Group was £18,541,000 

(2007: £14,355,000).

20 Net asset value per share
a Net asset value per Ordinary share
Net asset value per Ordinary share is based on net assets attributable to Ordinary shares of £567,899,000

(2007: £972,944,000) and on 258,600,000 (2007: 334,600,000) Ordinary shares in issue at the year end. 

b Net asset value per Sigma share
Net asset value per Sigma share is based on net assets attributable to Sigma shares of £138,710,000

(2007: nil) and on 127,680,000 (2007: nil) Sigma shares in issue at the year end. 

21 Commitments and contingent liabilities
At 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007 the Group had no capital commitments or contingent liabilities. 

The Company has guaranteed a £15,000,000 (2007: £15,000,000) participation in 11.5% 2016 secured debenture

stock and a £25,000,000 (2007: £25,000,000) 8.125% 2008 debenture stock (see note 14).

22 Subsidiaries
The Group has the following principal subsidiaries, all of which are registered and operating in England and Wales:

Name of Company Principal Activities
Trust Union Properties Ltd Property investment and dealing

TR Property Finance Ltd Investment holding and finance

Trust Union Properties (Bayswater) Ltd Property investment

* The Colonnades Ltd Property investment

* Trust Union Finance (1991) PLC Debenture issuing vehicle

Trustco Finance plc Debenture issuing vehicle

All the subsidiaries are wholly owned and all the holdings are ordinary shares. The Group also has other subsidiaries

which are either not trading or not significant.

* Indirectly held
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(b) the maximum number of Sigma shares hereby
authorised to be purchased shall be 14.99% of
the Company’s Sigma shares in issue at the date
of the Annual General Meeting (equivalent to
19,124,242 Sigma shares of 12.5 pence each at
5 June 2008, the date of this Notice of Annual
General Meeting);

(c) the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which
may be paid for any such share shall not be more
than the higher of:
(i) 105% of the average of the middle market

quotations for an Ordinary share (if an
Ordinary share is being purchased) or of a
Sigma share (if a Sigma share is being
purchased) as taken from the London Stock
Exchange Daily Official List for the five
business days immediately preceding the
date on which the Company agrees to buy
shares concerned: and

(ii) the higher of the price of the last
independent trade and the highest current
independent bid for an Ordinary share or
Sigma share in the Company on the trading
venue where the purchase is carried out. 

(d) the minimum price (exclusive of expenses) which
may be paid for an Ordinary share shall be
25 pence, being the nominal value per Ordinary
share and for Sigma shares the minimum price
shall be 12.5 pence, being the nominal value per
Sigma share;

(e) the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the
Company in 2009 or at any other general
meeting prior to such time. 

12 That the Articles of Association produced to the
meeting and initialled by the Chairman of the meeting
for the purpose of identification be approved and
adopted as the new Articles of Association (“New
Articles”) of the Company in substitution for, and to
the exclusion of, the existing Articles of Association
(“Current Articles”), with effect from the conclusion of
the 2008 Annual General Meeting. 

* In accordance with the Articles of Association
holders of Sigma shares do not have the right to vote
on a declaration of a dividend in respect of the
Ordinary shares.

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of
TR Property Investment Trust plc will be held at 12 noon
on Tuesday 29 July 2008 at the Royal Automobile Club,
89/91 Pall Mall, London SW1Y 5HS for the purpose of
transacting the following business: 

Ordinary Business
1 To receive the Report of the Directors and the Audited

Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2008.

2 To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the
year ended 31 March 2008.

3* To declare a final dividend of 3.30 pence per Ordinary
share. 

4** To declare a final dividend of 0.65 pence per Sigma
share.

5 To elect Mr P Spencer as a Director.

6 To re-elect Ms C Burton as a Director.

7 To re-elect Mr P Wolton as a Director.

8 To re-elect Mr P Salsbury as a Director.

9 To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as auditors of the
Company. 

10 To authorise the directors to determine the
remuneration of the auditors.

Special Business
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following
resolutions as special resolutions:

11***THAT the Company be and is hereby generally and
unconditionally authorised in accordance with
section 166 of the Companies Act 1985 (“the Act”)
to make market purchases (within the meaning of
section 163 of the Act) of Ordinary shares of
25 pence each and Sigma shares of 12.5 pence
each in the capital of the Company on such terms
and in such manner as the Directors may from time
to time determine provided that:

(a) the maximum number of Ordinary shares hereby
authorised to be purchased shall be 14.99% of
the Company’s Ordinary shares in issue at the
date of the Annual General Meeting (equivalent
to 38,599,250 Ordinary shares of 25 pence each
at 5 June 2008, the date of this Notice of
Annual General Meeting);

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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** In accordance with the Articles of Association
holders of Ordinary shares do not have the right to
vote on a declaration of a dividend in respect of the
Sigma shares. 

*** Holders of Ordinary shares will vote on resolution
11 only in respect of market purchases of Ordinary
shares and holders of Sigma shares will vote on
resolution 11 only in respect of market purchases of
Sigma shares.

Registered Office: Registered in England No: 84492
51 Berkeley Square
London
W1J 5BB

By Order of the Board
Capita Company Secretarial Services Limited
Secretary
5 June 2008

Notes to the Notice of Annual General Meeting

1 A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual
General Meeting (“AGM”) may appoint one or more
proxies (who need not be a member of the Company)
to attend and, on a poll, to vote on his or her behalf. In
order to be valid an appointment of proxy must be
returned in hard copy form by post, by courier or by
hand to the Company’s Registrars, Computershare
Investor Services PLC, The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road,
Bristol BS13 8FB not less than 48 hours before the
time of the AGM. Appointment of a proxy does not
preclude a shareholder from attending the AGM and
voting in person.

2 Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated
Securities Regulations 2001, in order to be able to
attend and vote at the AGM or any adjourned meeting,
(and also for the purpose of calculating how many
votes a person may cast) a person must have his/her
name entered on the Register of Members of the
Company by 12 noon on 27 July 2008 (or 6.00 pm on
the date 2 days before any adjourned meeting).
Changes to entries on the Register of Members after
this time shall be disregarded in determining the rights
of any person to attend or vote at the meeting.

3 Shareholders should note that it is possible that,
pursuant to requests made by shareholders of the
Company under section 527 of the Companies Act
2006, the Company may be required to publish on a
website a statement setting out any matter relating to:
(i) the audit of the Company’s accounts (including the
auditor’s report and the conduct of the audit) that are
to be laid before the AGM; or (ii) any circumstance
connected with an auditor of the Company ceasing to
hold office since the previous meeting at which annual
accounts and reports were laid in accordance with
section 437 of the Companies Act 2006. The
Company may not require the shareholders requesting
any such website publication to pay its expenses in
complying with sections 527 or 528 of the Companies
Act 2006. Where the Company is required to place a
statement on a website under section 527 of the
Companies Act 2006, it must forward the statement to
the Company’s auditor not later than the time when it
makes the statement available on the website. The
business which may be dealt with at the AGM includes
any statement that the Company has been required
under section 527 of the Companies Act 2006 to
publish on a website.

4 In order to facilitate voting by corporate
representatives at the meeting, arrangements will be
put in place at the meeting so that (i) if a corporate
shareholder has appointed the Chairman of the
meeting as its corporate representative with
instructions to vote on a poll in accordance with the
directions of all of the other corporate representatives
for that shareholder at the meeting, then on a poll
those corporate representatives will give voting
directions to the Chairman and the Chairman will vote
(or withhold a vote) as corporate representative in
accordance with those directions; and (ii) if more than
one corporate representative for the same corporate
shareholder attends the meeting but the corporate
shareholder has not appointed the Chairman of the
meeting as its corporate representative, a designated
corporate representative will be nominated, from those
corporate representatives who attend, who will vote on
a poll and the other corporate representatives will give
voting directions to that designated corporate
representative. Corporate shareholders are referred to
the guidance issued by the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators on proxies and
corporate representatives – www.icsa.org.uk – for
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Notice of Annual General Meeting continued

further details of this procedure. The guidance includes
a sample form of representation letter if the Chairman
is being appointed as described in (i) above.

5 The right to appoint a proxy does not apply to persons
whose shares are held on their behalf by another
person and who have been nominated to receive
communication from the Company in accordance with
section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 (“nominated
persons”). Nominated persons may have a right under
an agreement with the registered shareholder who
holds shares on their behalf to be appointed (or to
have someone else appointed) as a proxy. Alternatively,
if nominated persons do not have such a right, or do
not wish to exercise it, they may have a right under
such an agreement to given instructions to the person
holding the shares as to the exercise of voting rights. 

6 Biographical details of the Directors are shown on
page 41 of the Annual Report & Accounts.

7 The issued share capital of the Company is
257,500,000 Ordinary shares of 25p each and
127,580,000 Sigma shares of 12.5p each. The total
number of voting rights in the Company is
385,080,000. Shareholders are reminded that on a
poll vote, the total number of votes cast is calculated
according to the NAV per Ordinary share and the NAV
per Sigma share. 

8 The following documents are available for inspection at
the registered offices of TR Property Investment Trust
plc during normal business hours on any weekday 
and will be available at the place of the AGM from
15 minutes before the meeting until it ends:

• Register of Directors’ interests in the share capital
of the Company.

• Copies of the current and proposed Articles of
Association of the Company.

9 The notice is sent for information only to holders of
debentures issued by Trust Union Finance (1991)
PLC.
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Notice of Separate Class Meeting of Ordinary Shareholders 

2 Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated
Securities Regulations 2001, in order to be able to
attend and vote at the meeting or any adjourned
meeting, (and also for the purpose of calculating how
many votes a person may cast) a person must have
his/her name entered on the register of members of
the Company by 12 Noon on 27 July 2008 (or
6.00 pm on the date 2 days before any adjourned
meeting). Changes to entries on the register of
members after this time shall be disregarded in
determining the rights of any person to attend or vote
at the meeting.

Notes 4 to 6 of the notice convening the Annual
General Meeting of the Company to be held on
29 July 2008 are incorporated into this notice by
reference.

Notice is hereby given that a separate class meeting of

the holders of Ordinary shares of TR Property Investment

Trust plc will be held at 12.10 pm (or so soon thereafter

as the Annual General Meeting of the Company shall have

concluded) on Tuesday 29 July 2008 at the Royal

Automobile Club, 89/91 Pall Mall, London SW1Y 5HS to

consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution

as a special resolution:

Resolution 1
That the holders of Ordinary shares in the Company

hereby sanction and consent to the passing and carrying

into effect of Resolution 12 contained in the notice

convening the Annual General Meeting of the Company to

be held on 29 July 2008. 

Registered Office: Registered in England No: 84492
51 Berkeley Square
London
W1J 5BB

By Order of the Board
Capita Company Secretarial Services Limited
Secretary
5 June 2008

Notes to the Notice of Separate Class Meeting of
Ordinary Shareholders

1 Only holders of Ordinary shares in the Company are
entitled to attend and vote on the resolution to be
proposed at the above meeting.

A member entitled to attend and vote may appoint one
or more proxies (who need not be a member of the
Company) to attend and, on a poll, to vote on his or
her behalf. In order to be valid an appointment of proxy
must be returned in hard copy form by post, by courier
or by hand to the Company’s Registrars,
Computershare Investor Services PLC, The Pavilions,
Bridgwater Road, Bristol BS13 8FB not less than
48 hours before the time of the meeting. Appointment
of a proxy does not preclude a shareholder from
attending the meeting and voting in person.
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Notice of Separate Class Meeting of Sigma Shareholders 

Notice is hereby given that a separate class meeting of

the holders of Sigma shares of TR Property Investment

Trust plc will be held at 12.10 pm (or so soon thereafter

as the separate class meeting of holders of Ordinary

Shares of the Company shall have concluded) on Tuesday

29 July 2008 at the Royal Automobile Club, 89/91 Pall

Mall, London SW1Y 5HS to consider and, if thought fit, to

pass the following resolution as a special resolution:

Resolution 1
That the holders of Sigma shares in the Company hereby

sanction and consent to the passing and carrying into

effect of Resolution 12 contained in the notice convening

the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held

on 29 July 2008. 

Registered Office: Registered in England No: 84492
51 Berkeley Square
London
W1J 5BB

By Order of the Board
Capita Company Secretarial Services Limited
Secretary
5 June 2008

Notes to the Notice of Separate Class Meeting of
Sigma Shareholders

1 Only holders of Sigma shares in the Company are
entitled to attend and vote on the resolution to be
proposed at the above meeting.

A member entitled to attend and vote may appoint one
or more proxies (who need not be a member of the
Company) to attend and, on a poll, to vote on his or
her behalf. In order to be valid an appointment of proxy
must be returned in hard copy form by post, by courier
or by hand to the Company’s Registrars,
Computershare Investor Services PLC, The Pavilions,
Bridgwater Road, Bristol BS13 8FB not less than
48 hours before the time of the meeting. Appointment
of a proxy does not preclude a shareholder from
attending the meeting and voting in person.

2 Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated
Securities Regulations 2001, in order to be able to
attend and vote at the meeting or any adjourned
meeting, (and also for the purpose of calculating how
many votes a person may cast) a person must have
his/her name entered on the register of members of
the Company by 12 Noon on 27 July 2008 (or
6.00 pm on the date 2 days before any adjourned
meeting). Changes to entries on the register of
members after this time shall be disregarded in
determining the rights of any person to attend or vote
at the meeting.

Notes 4 to 6 of the notice convening the Annual
General Meeting of the Company to be held on
29 July 2008 are incorporated into this notice by
reference.
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Explanation of Notice of Annual General Meeting

Resolutions 1, 2, 3 and 4: Accounts, Directors’
Remuneration Report & Dividends
These are the resolutions which deal with the presentation
of the audited accounts, the approval of the directors’
remuneration report and the declaration of the final
dividends. The vote to approve the remuneration report is
advisory only and will not require the Company to alter any
arrangements detailed in the report should the resolution
not be passed.

Resolution 5: Election of Director
Resolution 5 deals with the election of Mr P Spencer as a
director. Under the Articles of Association, Mr Spencer is
required to submit himself for election at the first AGM
after his appointment; he hereby offers himself for election. 

Resolution 6: Re-election of Director
Resolution 6 deals with the re-election of Ms C Burton as
director. Under the Articles of Association, Ms Burton is
required to retire by rotation at the AGM; she has confirmed
she will offer herself for re-election. 

Resolution 7: Re-election of Director
Resolution 7 deals with the re-election of Mr P Wolton as
director. Under the Articles of Association, Mr Wolton is
required to retire by rotation at the AGM; he has confirmed
he will offer himself for re-election.

Resolution 8: Re-election of Director
Resolution 8 is for the re-election of Mr P Salsbury, who
has served on the Board for more than nine years. In
accordance with the Combined Code on Corporate
Governance, which requires directors who have served
for more than nine years to seek annual re-election,
Mr Salsbury will retire at the forthcoming AGM and he has
confirmed he will offer himself for 
re-election.

Resolutions 9 and 10: Auditors
These deal with the re-appointment of the auditors, Ernst &
Young LLP, and the authorisation for the directors to
determine their remuneration.

Resolution 11: Authority to make Market Purchases of
the Company’s Ordinary and Sigma shares
At the AGM held on 24 July 2007, a special resolution was
proposed and passed, giving the directors authority, until the
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting in 2008, to make
market purchases of the Company’s own issued Ordinary

shares up to a maximum of 51,543,115 (representing
approximately 14.99% of the issued share capital as at
7 June 2007, the date of the Notice of the AGM) for
cancellation. This authority will expire at this year’s AGM.

Your Board is proposing that they should be given renewed
authority to purchase Ordinary shares in the market. Your
Board believes that to make such purchases in the market
at appropriate times and prices is a suitable method of
enhancing shareholder value. The Company would, within
guidelines set from time to time by the Board, make either a
single purchase or a series of purchases, when market
conditions are suitable, with the aim of maximising the
benefits to shareholders.

Where purchases are made at prices below the prevailing
Net Asset Value per share, this will enhance the Net Asset
Value for the remaining shareholders. It is therefore
intended that purchases would only be made at prices
below Net Asset Value. Your Board considers that it will be
most advantageous to shareholders for the Company to be
able to make such purchases as and when it considers the
timing to be favourable and therefore does not propose to
set a timetable for making any such purchases.

The Companies (Acquisition of Own Shares) (Treasury
Shares) Regulations 2003 (the “Regulations”) came into
force on 1 December 2003. The Regulations enable
companies in the United Kingdom to hold in treasury any 
of their own shares they have purchased with a view
to possible resale at a future date, rather than cancelling
them. If the Company does re-purchase any of its shares,
the directors do not currently intend to hold any of the
shares re-purchased in treasury. The shares so re-
purchased will continue to be cancelled.

The Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority limit the
maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid
for any such share. It shall not be more than the higher of:

(i) 105% of the average of the middle market
quotations for an Ordinary share (if an Ordinary
share is being purchased) or of a Sigma share (if a
Sigma share is being purchased) as taken from the
London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the
five business days immediately preceding the date
on which the Company agrees to buy shares
concerned: and
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Explanation of Notice of Annual General Meeting continued

The Company proposes to adopt new Articles of
Association. These incorporate amendments to the current
Articles of Association to reflect the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006 (“the 2006 Act”) which came, or will
come, into effect in 2007 and 2008. As the 2006 Act will
not be fully in force until October 2009, and so it is not
yet possible to fully reflect the 2006 Act changes, it is
anticipated that shareholders will be asked to approve
further changes to the Articles of Association at the
2009 AGM.

The principal changes in the new Articles of Association
proposed to be adopted at the 2008 AGM are explained in
the explanatory notes on pages 89 to 91 to this document.
Other changes, which are of a minor, technical or clarifying
nature and also some minor changes which merely reflect
changes made by the 2006 Act have not been noted. The
new Articles of Association showing all the changes to the
current Articles of Association are available for inspection at
the Company’s registered office at 51 Berkeley Square,
London W1J 5BB and at The Royal Automobile Club for at
least 15 minutes prior to and during the AGM and each
separate class meeting.

(ii) the higher of the price of the last independent trade
and the highest current independent bid for an
Ordinary share or Sigma share in the Company on
the trading venue where the purchase is carried out. 

The minimum price to be paid will be 25p per Ordinary
share and 12.5p per Sigma share (being the nominal
values). The Listing Rules also limit a listed company to
purchases of shares representing up to 15% of its issued
share capital through the market pursuant to a general
authority such as this. For this reason, the Company is
limiting its authority to make such purchases to 4.99% of
the Company’s Ordinary and Sigma shares in issue at the
date of the AGM; this is equivalent to 38,599,250
Ordinary shares of 25p each (nominal value £9,649,812)
and 19,124,242 Sigma shares of 12.5p each (nominal
value £2,390,530) at 5 June 2008, the date of the
Notice of the AGM. The authority will last until the AGM
of the Company to be held in 2009 or, if earlier, 18
months from the passing of the resolution.

A special resolution is one that requires a majority of at
least 75% of those present and voting to be passed.

Resolution 12: Adoption of new Articles of Association

share, divide the Net Asset Value by the number of

Ordinary shares in issue. To calculate the Net Asset

Value per Sigma share, divide the Net Asset Value by the

number of Sigma shares in issue.

Ordinary shares

Confer certain rights to the holder as laid down in the

Articles of Association. 

Premium

The amount by which the market price per share of an

Investment Trust Company exceeds the Net Asset Value

per share. The premium is normally expressed as a

percentage of the Net Asset Value per share.

Sigma shares

Confer certain rights to the holder as laid down in the

Articles of Association. 

Glossary of Terms

Discount

The amount by which the market price per share of an

Investment Trust Company is lower than the Net Asset

Value per share. The discount is normally expressed as a

percentage of the Net Asset Value per share.

Dividend Yield

The annual dividend expressed as a percentage of the

share price.

Gearing

Total debt comprising debentures, loan stock, bank loans

and overdrafts less cash at bank and short term deposits

divided by shareholders’ funds.

Net Asset Value

The value of the total assets less the liabilities. Liabilities

for this purpose include both current and long-term

liabilities. To calculate the Net Asset Value per Ordinary
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Explanatory Notes of Principal Changes to the Company’s
Articles of Association
1. Articles which duplicate statutory provisions
Provisions in the Current Articles which replicate provisions
contained in the Companies Act 2006 are in the main to be
removed in the New Articles. This is in line with the
approach advocated by the Government that statutory
provisions should not be duplicated in a company’s
constitution. Certain examples of such provisions include
provisions as to the form of resolutions, the requirement to
keep accounting records and provisions regarding the
period of notice required to convene general meetings. 
The main changes made to reflect this approach are
detailed below.

2. Form of resolution
The Current Articles contain a provision that, where for any
purpose an ordinary resolution is required, a special or
extraordinary resolution is also effective and that, where an
extraordinary resolution is required, a special resolution is
also effective. This provision is being removed as the
concept of extraordinary resolutions has not been retained
under the Companies Act 2006. Further, the remainder of
the provision is reflected in full in the Companies Act 2006.

The Current Articles enable members to act by written
resolution. Under the Companies Act 2006 public
companies can no longer pass written resolutions. 
These provisions have therefore been removed in the 
New Articles.

3. Share certificates sent at holder’s risk
The New Articles contain a provision which means that a
share certificate is sent at the risk of the holder and that
the Company is not responsible for a share certificate which
is lost or delayed in the course of delivery.

4. Convening extraordinary and annual general
meetings

The provisions in the Current Articles dealing with the
convening of general meetings and the length of notice
required to convene general meetings are being removed in
the New Articles because the relevant matters are provided
for in the Companies Act 2006. In particular an
extraordinary general meeting to consider a special
resolution can be convened on 14 days’ notice whereas
previously 21 days’ notice was required. 

5. Votes of members
Under the Companies Act 2006 proxies are entitled to vote
on a show of hands whereas under the Current Articles
proxies are only entitled to vote on a poll. The time limits for
the appointment or termination of a proxy appointment have
been altered by the Companies Act 2006 so that the
articles cannot provide that they should be received more
than 48 hours before the meeting or in the case of a poll
taken more than 48 hours after the meeting, more than 
24 hours before the time for the taking of a poll, with
weekends and bank holidays being permitted to be
excluded for this purpose. The New Articles give the
directors discretion, when calculating the time limits, to
exclude weekend and bank holidays. Multiple proxies may
be appointed provided that each proxy is appointed to
exercise the rights attached to a different share held by the
shareholder. The New Articles reflect all of these new
provisions. 

6. Age of directors on appointment
The Current Articles contain a provision requiring a
director’s age to be disclosed if he has attained the age of
70 years or more in the notice convening a meeting at
which the director is proposed to be elected or re-elected.
Such provision could now fall foul of the Employment
Equality (Age) Regulations 2006 and so has been removed
from the New Articles. 

7. Retirement of directors by rotation
In the Current Articles, there are three articles which relate
to retirement by rotation. In the New Articles these have
been combined and redrafted. The concept of one third of
the directors retiring from office at each general meeting
has been removed in the New Articles because it is no
longer appropriate in view of the Combined Code
requirement for directors to offer themselves for re-election
every 3 years.
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Explanatory Notes of Principal Changes to the Company’s
Articles of Association continued

8. Conflicts of interest
The Companies Act 2006 sets out directors’ general duties
which largely codify the existing law but with some changes.
Under the Companies Act, from 1 October 2008 a director
must avoid a situation where he has, or can have, a direct or
indirect interest that conflicts, or possibly may conflict with
the company’s interests. The requirement is very broad and
could apply, for example, if a director becomes a director of
another company or a trustee of another organisation. The
Companies Act 2006 allows directors of public companies
to authorise conflicts and potential conflicts, where
appropriate, where the articles of association contain a
provision to this effect. The Companies Act 2006 also
allows the articles of association to contain other provisions
for dealing with directors’ conflicts of interest to avoid a
breach of duty. The New Articles give the directors authority
to approve such situations and to include other provisions to
allow conflicts of interest to be dealt with in a similar way to
the current position.

There are safeguards which will apply when directors
decide whether to authorise a conflict or potential conflict.
First, only directors who have no interest in the matter being
considered will be able to take the relevant decision, and
secondly, in taking the decision the directors must act in a
way they consider, in good faith, will be most likely to
promote the company’s success. The directors will be able
to impose limits or conditions when giving authorisation if
they think this is appropriate. 

It is also proposed that the New Articles should contain
provisions relating to confidential information, attendance at
board meetings and availability of board papers to protect a
director being in breach of duty if a conflict of interest or
potential conflict of interest arises. These provisions will only
apply where the position giving rise to the potential conflict
has previously been authorised by the directors. It is the
Board’s intention to report annually on the Company’s
procedures for ensuring that the Board’s powers of
authorisation of conflicts are operated effectively and that
the procedures have been followed.

9. Notice of board meetings
Under the Current Articles, when a director is abroad he
can request that notice of directors’ meetings are sent to
him at a specified address and if he does not do so he is
not entitled to receive notice while he is away. This provision
has been removed, as modern communications mean that
there may be no particular obstacle to giving notice to a
director who is abroad. 

10. Records to be kept
The provision in the Current Articles requiring the Board to
keep accounting records has been removed as this
requirement is contained in the Companies Act 2006.

11. Distribution of assets otherwise than in cash
The Current Articles contain provisions dealing with the
distribution of assets in kind in the event of the Company
going into liquidation. These provisions have been removed
in the New Articles on the grounds that a provision about
the powers of liquidators is a matter for insolvency law
rather than the articles and that the Insolvency Act 1986
confers powers on the liquidator which would enable it to
do what is envisaged by the Current Articles. 

12. Electronic and web communications
Provisions of the Companies Act 2006 which came into
force in January 2007 enable companies to communicate
with members by electronic and/or website
communications. The New Articles continue to allow
communications to members in electronic form and, in
addition, they also permit the Company to take advantage
of the new provisions relating to website communications.
Before the Company can communicate with a member by
means of website communication, the relevant member
must be asked individually by the Company to agree that
the Company may send or supply documents or information
to him by means of a website, and the Company must
either have received a positive response or have received
no response within the period of 28 days beginning with
the date on which the request was sent. The Company will
notify the member (either in writing, or by other permitted
means) when a relevant document or information is placed
on the website and a member can always request a hard
copy version of the document or information.
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13. Directors’ indemnities and loans to fund expenditure
The Current Articles permit the Company to indemnify
directors, other officers or auditors against any liability and
to purchase and maintain insurance against any liability for
such persons. It is proposed that the New Articles are
amended to reflect the relevant sections in the Companies
Act 2006: all references to officers have been removed
because the statutory provisions do not extend to liabilities
of officers other than directors and, similarly, the provision
no longer refer to auditors to reflect institutional investor
guidelines that liability insurance should not extend to
auditors. It is also proposed that the wording in the New
Articles is amended to clarify that directors are not
accountable for any benefit provided by virtue of the
insurance taken out and that the receipt of such benefit
does not disqualify any person from being or becoming a
director of the Company.

14. General
Generally the opportunity has been taken to bring clearer
language into the New Articles. 

Explanatory Notes of Principal Changes to the Company’s
Articles of Association continued
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Secretary

Capita Company Secretarial Services Limited

17-19 Rochester Row

London SW1P 1QT

Registrar

Computershare Investor Services PLC

PO Box 82

The Pavilions

Bridgwater Road

Bristol BS99 7NH

Telephone: 0870 707 1363

Registered Auditor

Ernst & Young LLP

1 More London Place

London SE1 2AF

Stockbrokers

Cenkos Securities plc

6, 7, 8 Tokenhouse Yard

London EC2R 7AS

Solicitors

Slaughter and May

One Bunhill Row

London EC1Y 8YY

Share Plan, ISAs and PEPs

BNP Paribas Fund Services UK Limited

Block C, Western House

Lynch Wood Business Park

Peterborough PE2 6BP

Fund Administrator

BNP Paribas Fund Services UK Limited

55 Moorgate

London 

EC2R 6PA

Directors

P L Salsbury (Chairman)

C M Burton

P Spencer

H Seaborn

R A Stone

P H Wolton

Registered Office

51 Berkeley Square

London W1J 5BB

Registered Number

Registered as an investment company in England and

Wales No. 84492

Investment Manager

Thames River Capital LLP, authorised and regulated by

the Financial Services Authority

51 Berkeley Square

London W1J 5BB

Telephone: 020 7360 1200

Facsimile: 020 7360 1300

Fund Manager: Ordinary Share Class

C M Turner MRICS 

Fund Manager: Sigma Share Class

M A Phayre-Mudge MRICS

Finance Manager:

J L Elliott ACA

Assistant Fund Manager:

J F K Wilkinson MRICS

Direct Property Manager:

K Pabani MRICS

Assistant Direct Property Manager:

G P Gay MRICS

Investor Relations Manager:

N G Williamson

Administratration Assistant:

A M Ello

Directors and other Information
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General Shareholder Information

Release of Results
The half year results are announced in late November. The full year results are announced in early June. 

Annual General Meeting
The AGM is held in London in July.

Dividend Payment Dates
Dividends are paid on the Ordinary and Sigma shares as follows:

Interim : early January
Final : August

Dividend Payments
Dividends can be paid to Ordinary and Sigma shareholders by means of BACS (Bankers’ Automated Clearing Services);
mandate forms for this purpose are available from the Registrar. Alternatively, shareholders can write to the Registrar (the
address is given on page 92 of this report) to give their instructions; these must include the bank account number, the
bank account title and the sort code of the bank to which payments are to be made.

Share Price Listings
The market prices of the Company’s Ordinary and Sigma shares are published daily in The Financial Times. Some of the
information is published in other leading newspapers. The Financial Times also shows figures for the estimated Net Asset
Values and the discounts applicable.

Share Price Information
Ordinary Shares Sigma Shares

ISIN GB0009064097 GB00B1YW2J11
SEDOL 0906409 B1YW2J1
Bloomberg TRY.LN TRYS.LN
Reuters TRY.L TRYx.L
Datastream TRY TRYS

Internet
Details of the market price and Net Asset Value of the Ordinary and Sigma shares can be found at
www.trproperty.co.uk on the Company’s website. 

Shareholders who hold their shares in certificated form can check their holdings with the Registrar, Computershare Investor
Services PLC, via www.computershare.com. Please note that to gain access to your details on the Computershare site you
will need the holder reference number stated on the top left hand corner of your share certificate.

Disability Act
Copies of this Report and Accounts and other documents issued by the Company are available from the Company Secretary.
If needed, copies can be made available in a variety of formats, including Braille, audio tape or larger type as appropriate.

You can contact the Registrar, Computershare Investor Services PLC, which has installed textphones to allow speech and
hearing impaired people who have their own textphone to contact them directly, without the need for an intermediate
operator, by dialling 0870 702 0005. Specially trained operators are available during normal business hours to answer
queries via this service.

Alternatively, if you prefer to go through a ‘typetalk’ operator (provided by the Royal National Institute for Deaf People)
you should dial 18001 followed by the number you wish to dial.

For investors through the TR Property Share Plan, ISA or PEP, a textphone telephone service is available on
01733 285714. This service is available during normal business hours.
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General Shareholder Information continued

Nominee Share Code
Where notification has been provided in advance, the Company will arrange for copies of shareholder communications to
be provided to the operators of nominee accounts. Nominee investors may attend general meetings and speak at
meetings when invited to do so by the Chairman.

Investors in the TR Property Share Plan, ISA or PEP receive all shareholder communications. A voting instruction form is
provided to facilitate voting at general meetings of the Company.

CGT Base Cost
Taxation of capital gains for shareholders who converted Ordinary shares to Sigma shares
Upon a disposal of all or part of a shareholder’s holding of Ordinary shares or (as the case may be) Sigma shares, the
shareholder’s original capital gains tax base cost in his existing holding of Ordinary shares will have to be apportioned
between that shareholder's Ordinary shares and Sigma shares. 

We have now agreed with HM Revenue & Customs (“HMRC”) to base this apportionment of the original capital gains
tax base cost on the proportion of existing Ordinary shares that were converted by a shareholder into Sigma shares on
25 July 2007. 

Therefore, if an Ordinary shareholder converted 20% of their existing Ordinary shares into Sigma shares on 25 July
2007, the capital gains tax base cost of the new Sigma shares acquired would be equal to 20% of the original capital
gains tax base cost of the Ordinary shares that they held pre-conversion. The base cost of their remaining holding of
Ordinary shares would then be 80% of the original capital gains tax base cost of their Ordinary shares held 
pre-conversion. 

If in doubt as to the consequences of this agreement with HMRC, shareholders should consult with their own
professional advisors. 
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Investing in TR Property Investment Trust plc

Market Purchases
The shares of TR Property Investment Trust plc are listed and traded on the London Stock Exchange. Investors may purchase
shares through their stockbroker, bank or other financial intermediary. 

Saving Scheme and ISA
BNP Paribas Fund Services UK Limited (BNP Paribas) operates and administers both a share savings scheme and an
ISA scheme (the Schemes) dedicated to the shares of the Company. BNP Paribas made these Schemes available at the
request of the Company and they have operated since 2005. Both the share savings scheme and the ISA are subject to
the Key Features document, which should be read before entering into the investment. These Schemes are subject to
commission, stamp duty and administration charges, which are detailed in the Key Features document. Contact details
are given on the facing page.

Alternatively, UK residents can invest through the Alliance Trust. Alliance Trust provide and administer a range of self-
select investment plans, including tax-advantaged PEPs, ISAs and SIPPs (Self-Invested Pension Plans) and also
Investment Plans and First Steps, an Investment Plan for Children. For more information Alliance Trust can be contacted
on 08000 326 323, or visit www.alliancetrust.co.uk

Please remember that the value of your investments and any income from them may go down as well as up. Past
performance is not a guide to future performance. You may not get back the amount that you invest. If you are in any
doubt as to the suitability of a plan or any investment available within a plan, please take professional advice.
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TR Property Share Plan
BNP Paribas Fund Services UK Limited offers a Share Plan providing a simple and flexible way

of investing in TR Property Investment Trust plc. The Share Plan offers the following:

• Regular savings from £50 per month/quarter, or lump sum investments from £500

• An income reinvestment facility. Alternatively, you can have dividends paid to your

bank or building society account

• All paperwork and documentation is simplified and reduced to a minimum

• Half yearly valuations with consolidated tax certificate

TR Property ISA
You can invest directly in TR Property Investment Trust plc through the TR Property ISA. The

ISA offers the following:

• Tax free income and tax free growth

• Regular savings from £100 per month or an initial lump sum investment from £2,000,

and further lump sums of £500

• An income reinvestment facility. Alternatively, you can have dividends paid to your

bank or building society account

• Half yearly valuations and reports

• Both Mini and Maxi ISAs available for investment by lump sum or regular savings

Under the TR Property PEP and ISA, you are permitted to transfer your existing PEP or ISA

funds into the Trust. Investments retain their tax-efficient status during and after transfer.

Please remember that the value of your investment can fall as well as rise and you may not

get back the amount originally invested. Tax assumptions may change if the law changes and

the value of tax relief will depend upon your individual circumstances.

Further Information
Please consult our website www.trproperty.co.uk or write to:

BNP Paribas Fund Services UK Limited 
(TR Property Investment Trust plc Share Plan/ISA/PEP)
Block C, Western House
Lynch Wood Business Park
Peterborough
PE2 6BP 

Alternatively, please contact your professional adviser for further information or call our Investor
Services Department on 0845 358 1113.

BNP Paribas Fund Services UK Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services
Authority. We may record telephone calls for our mutual protection and to improve customer
service.
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